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PURPOSE, PEOPLE, PROFIT – A TRADITION OF SUCCESS
Universal Technical Institute, Inc. 2004 Annual Report

Company Highlights

Leadership and Alliances

2004: A YEAR OF REMARKABLE SUCCESS
Glendale Heights, Illinois campus to accommodate a growing
student population and a new Toyota elective. These expansion
efforts will allow us to accommodate an additional 4,300 students.

Robert D. Hartman
Chairman of the Board

Kimberly J. McWaters
President & CEO

Dear Fellow Shareholders:
The year 2004 was a momentous year for Universal Technical
Institute, Inc. (UTI). With nearly 40 years as a private company, this
year was our first as a publicly-traded organization. It was a year of
solid execution and growth that produced record results in addition
to building the foundation for even greater success in the future.
At the heart of UTI’s success are three guiding principles:
Purpose, People and Profit. They are more than words at UTI.
They are the priorities that drive our strategy development, business operations and daily decisions, ensuring that we stay true to
all stakeholder commitments.
PURPOSE
UTI is focused on creating the greatest total value for all of our
stakeholders. We are passionate about our students. We not only
deliver them a valuable education, but open a door to a new future
of growth and opportunity in an ever-changing economy. For our
customers, the nation’s automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle, and marine industries, we supply the highest quality and
quantity of trained professionals possible. For our employees, we
provide them a great place to work where they can trust the leadership of the company and take genuine pride in their accomplishments. For our shareholders, we offer an opportunity to invest in a
company with a great purpose while providing a meaningful return
on their investment.
This past year, we continued to expand our national presence with
the addition of our Exton, Pennsylvania campus. Two additional
campuses in Phoenix, Arizona and Rancho Cucamonga, California
were relocated to brand new facilities. We added the UTI automotive
program to the Orlando, Florida campus and expanded the
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This expansion creates greater convenience for both our students
and industry customers. The additional capacity helped support a
23.7% increase in our average student population. Our average
student population for 2004 was 13,076 compared to 10,568 for
2003. The increase in average student capacity was driven by 190
education representatives enrolling thousands of recent high school
graduates as well as adult learners. Their efforts have clearly been
enhanced by UTI’s new marketing campaign that illustrates the
changing image of the professional technician and shows
students how they can achieve their dreams.
Our passion for our students and their educational experience
has produced an exciting way to deliver technical education. In the
past year, we implemented “Excellerated Learning” throughout our
curriculum. It is an innovative learning methodology that helps
students identify their preferred learning style, and how to best
master new skills. It creates a dynamic, interactive learning environment that fully engages the student in the classroom. Student
feedback has been positive and our instructors have begun to
report that students are displaying greater retention of information
as well as achieving higher test scores.
UTI also pioneered FlexTech, an online/in-lab blended automotive
curriculum combining sophisticated digital graphics with multimedia
technology. The FlexTech pilot program, launched in the fourth
quarter, gives students the flexibility of completing nearly half of
their coursework online. We believe we are the only automotive
training school currently offering an electronic alternative to
traditional automotive training.
We continue to build on the strength of our strategic industry
relationships with leading manufacturers, large dealer groups and
related aftermarket suppliers. This past year we renewed several
key agreements with Audi of America, BMW of North America,
LLC, Jaguar Cars, Inc. and Volkswagen of America, Inc. In addition,
we announced the expansion of our Ford FACT elective at both our
new Exton, Pennsylvania, campus and our upcoming Norwood,
Massachusetts campus. We also introduced a new Toyota elective
at our Glendale Heights, Illinois campus. Our business-to-business
sales team remains focused on building relationships with industry.
We believe our industry-centric strategy creates significant differentiation for UTI and more importantly provides students with greater
access to quality employment.
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PURPOSE, PEOPLE AND PROFIT…

Drives our passion to excel.

PEOPLE
At UTI, we recognize that our people are our greatest asset and believe
that their individual success is critical to our company’s success. As
UTI grows, we believe it is important to develop and train our people to
become future leaders in the company. In addition, with a large population of new employees it is important to help them feel part of the
UTI family. Our Leadership Development Institute was designed to
meet this challenge.
UTI’s culture is powerful. We recognize that everyone at UTI is
important and makes a unique contribution to our overall success.
And, we encourage and reward them to make a difference, to challenge the status quo and to drive continuous improvement and
breakthrough change. UTI’s culture is based upon integrity and trust.
We are committed to holding each other accountable and operating
with the highest level of legal, ethical and moral standards. We
believe our record of compliance with state and federal regulatory
bodies speaks to our commitment to doing what is right.
PROFIT
At UTI, we understand that making a profit is not the reason we exist,
it is the means to our existence. This very fact fuels our passion. It
allows us to invest in our purpose and our people, while providing a
meaningful return on investment to our shareholders. When annual
earnings targets are achieved, our employees participate in a profit
sharing bonus plan. This ensures that our interests are aligned with
our shareholders and that we are able to fund our future growth.
Net revenues for 2004 increased 29.9% to $255.1 million. Operating
income grew faster at 38.6% to $50.1 million, yielding a margin
improvement of 120 basis points. These results were driven primarily
by a 23.7% increase in average undergraduate enrollments and
improved operating efficiencies across the company.

Our balance sheet has also improved significantly. We repaid substantially all of our debt with proceeds from our initial public offering.
The money previously spent on servicing debt is now being deployed
to build our infrastructure and support our growth initiatives. In
addition, with equity building from strong operational results, we
are able to renegotiate contracts and obtain better terms from our
service providers. Our cash flow generated from operations will
support our growth initiatives without the need to borrow in the
near term. Our strong balance sheet and consistent operating
results position us favorably in a highly regulated industry.
As another chapter in UTI’s history comes to a close, we are proud
of our progress. Looking ahead to our upcoming year, we are excited
about the opportunities to meet the increasing demands of our industry
customers and to strengthen relationships with key industry suppliers.
This allows us to remain at the forefront of industry advancements
and to develop innovative programs designed to change the face of
post-secondary technical education and training.
Purpose, People and Profit remain our guiding principles for 2005.
We will continue to provide the quality and quantity of professional
technicians when and where our customers need them. With the
support of our industry customers we will further enhance our students’
educational experience and their opportunities for employment. We
remain committed to becoming one of the nation’s best places to
work so that we can attract and retain the finest people. Lastly, we
will make every effort to earn your continued support and trust.
Sincerely,

Robert D. Hartman
Chairman of the Board

Kimberly J. McWaters
President & CEO

Universal Technical Institute, Inc. is a provider of technical education training for students seeking
careers as professional automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians. The
company offers undergraduate programs at eight campuses across the United States, and Manufacturer
Specific Advanced Training programs at 22 dedicated training centers. Through its campus-based school
system, the company offers specialized technical education programs under the banner of several wellknown brands, including Universal Technical Institute (UTI), Motorcycle Mechanics Institute and Marine
Mechanics Institute (MMI) and NASCAR Technical Institute (NTI).
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PURPOSE

Our mission is to be the industry’s choice for providing professional

leading OEM’s, dealers and aftermarket employers and suppliers.

technicians for our customers in the automotive, diesel, collision

Typically, this means adding additional courses to our existing curricula

repair, motorcycle and marine industries. We are committed to setting

or training for other non-technical jobs in the industry. We are also

the standard in professional and technical education, lifelong learning

working to gain new business from others in the industry who are not

and employment services. The industries we serve have embraced and

currently working with UTI. Recently, we announced a new automo-

supported our mission. As a result, we are able to fulfill our purpose of

tive service program with Toyota. This nine-week elective is now

providing a life-changing educational experience for our students.

available at our Glendale Heights, Illinois campus and offers training
on alternative fuel vehicles and other popular Toyota models.

To provide the quantity and quality of technicians to meet industry
needs, UTI continues to execute on its key growth initiatives. The first
is Geographic Expansion. UTI has increased its capacity at all of its
mature campuses over the past few years to accommodate additional
course offerings and manufacturer electives. In fact, UTI has
doubled its footprint over the past four years and intends
to increase capacity by more than 25% in the next

Our fourth growth initiative is to Add New Courses to an Existing
Program or Location. Industry drives our curricula development and
recently, at their request, we have lengthened the automotive programs by adding a service writer and an additional
electronic course. We also lengthened the collision
repair program by including a custom paint course.

two years with the opening of additional branch

In addition, we added our automotive technology

automotive campuses and the expansion of pro-

program to our Orlando, Florida campus and

gram offerings at several locations.

announced our intent to bring our diesel program to Exton, Pennsylvania.

The second growth initiative at UTI is National
Recruitment. As UTI expands its national footprint,

We believe that our industry-oriented business model

our student recruitment efforts intensify to fill new

is unique and offers significant value to our customers,

capacity and to specifically meet the geographic needs of
our customers. We are striving to recruit the quantity of technicians needed, trained to the quality specifications of our customers and to
place them when and where our customers need them most. As a result,
UTI grew its high school education representatives to 150 and will grow

students, employees and shareholders. The depth and
breadth of our industry relationships is unmatched. It is true that
we are known by the company we keep. The commitment of these
outstanding organizations to UTI is a proud measure of our success. The
benefit of these relationships to our students is a better educational

its campus-based representatives to 95 over this year.

experience, better employment opportunities, access to scholarships and
The third growth initiative is to Develop New and Strengthen Existing

tuition reimbursement as well as the opportunity for continued learning.

Industry Relationships. The more we get to know and understand our

The benefits to our company are differentiation in the marketplace,

customers’ needs, the more value we can add to their businesses. We

improved student outcomes and lower capital expenditure requirements.

will continue to develop new curricula to meet the changing needs of

“ IF WE DID NOT HAVE A SCHOOL LIKE MMI THAT CAN TURN OUT THE CALIBER

OF TOP TECHNICIANS THAT IT DOES, OUR ENTIRE INDUSTRY WOULD START
TO SHRINK. WE CAN PLACE EVERY GRADUATE THAT MMI TRAINS.”
JIM KIRKLAND // American Suzuki Motor Corporation // Associate Director of Technical Service

PEOPLE

At the heart of our company is our people and the culture we have

UTI is committed to being an employer of choice and becoming one

created together. Our greatest asset is the unsurpassed dedication of

of the best companies to work for. We have already started on this

our employees to make UTI the best company it can possibly be.

journey and have made good progress to date. We believe this will

Together, we strive to make a positive difference in the lives of the

benefit our employees, students, customers, shareholders, and the

people we touch—students, customers, employees, shareholders and

communities in which we work. This past year, our “Great Place to

the communities in which we live and work. Our operating norms

Work” initiative has helped us build on our cultural strengths to

are based on the values we share. Our core values are:

ensure we have the talent we need to operate at peak performance and
to grow at the rate required to meet our future goals. Our own

WISDOM—We make decisions based on the organization’s purpose, the

Leadership Development Institute has trained more than 250 leaders

legitimate needs of our people and the necessity of profit.

this past year through more than 1,500 hours of training and

FUN—We create a playful place to work that demonstrates an enthusi-

produced more than 50 “Change Leaders,” who on a daily basis act as

asm for life, ideas and satisfying work.
CARING—We value open and honest communication in an

environment that unleashes the potential of the people
we interact with—students, industry customers,
employees, shareholders and the community.

catalysts for meaningful improvement throughout the company.
Our employees are passionate about what we do and are
committed to making a difference in the lives of those
they touch. Their willingness to do more is
an indicator of a culture committed to excel,

INNOVATION—We are committed to continuous

improve and innovate. Our faculty and staff

improvement and breakthrough achievements by

believe students deserve a meaningful return on

collaborating to create value for all stakeholders.

their education investment. To that end, their

COURAGE—We take bold, wise risks and empow-

er others to do the same.
TRUSTWORTHINESS—We demonstrate integrity in all

dedication and commitment results in 70% of our
students graduating and 87% finding employment
within one year, in the field for which they trained.

interactions while earning the trust and respect of others.

“ THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY IS IN NEED OF WELL TRAINED, HIGHLY MOTIVATED, PROFESSIONAL TECHNICIANS. UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE
HAS BEEN PROVIDING OUR INDUSTRY WITH TECHNICIANS OF THIS CALIBER
FOR NEARLY 40 YEARS.”
ROGER PENSKE // Chairman of the Board and CEO, Penske Corporation

Success S
tories

EMPOWER
ING THE RI
GHT PEOPL
E

BISBEE,
AZ—When
UTI’s edu
high schoo
cational re
l, he liked
presentativ
w
hat he hea
e came to
his twin b
rd and en
Jeff Weller’
rother Jaso
rolled afte
s
n
.
Today, as
r graduatio
Advanced
UTI gradu
n along w
Training (M
at
es
ith
w
ith
S
AT) on Por
Manufactu
passion fo
sche, Jeff
rer Specifi
r automob
an
c
d
ile
Ja
s
so
into succes
n have turn
in-depth tr
sful career
ed their
aining. Th
s. “AT UT
e instructor
I, we got a
progress an
s
were grea
lot of
d learn as
t, as well.
much as yo
They wan
u can. Th
t
to
se
e you
ey’re defin
itely there
for you.”

PROFITING
FROM EDU
CATION

Success S
tories

RENO, N
V—From
early on, Je
did he kn
ff Wieland
ow how fa
knew he w
r
that desire
anted to w
place for
would take
ork on ca
him. “I wa
him. Jeff d
rs. Little
n
ted to get
ecided that
clincher w
out there
UTI was th
as the BM
and start
e
W
making m
STEP pro
ship,” he
gram. “I a
oney,” he
said, “and
lw
sa
a
id
ys
.
U
The
wanted to
TI offered
programs
work at a
the Manu
that could
facturer S
dealerget me th
pecific Ad
ere.”
vanced Tr
aining

PROFIT

UTI’s outstanding growth in net revenue and operating income

stock, as well as invest in our strategic growth initiatives. In addition,

fuels our success. Fiscal 2004 marks the fifth consecutive year of

our shareholders’ equity for fiscal 2004 benefited by approximately

double-digit revenue growth that has generated a 29.0% compounded

$48.5 million from the conversion of our preferred stock. Positive share-

annual growth rate over the last five years. During the same five year

holders’ equity allows us to negotiate better contractual terms with our

period income from operations grew at a compounded annual growth

current vendors and landlords, and establish new relationships with

rate of 50.9%.

favorable terms.

At the close of our 2004 fiscal year we had cash and cash equivalents

Our strong financial results are the product of experienced leadership

of $42.6 million as compared to $8.9 million a year ago. Our
cash increase was primarily a result of our strong operational results. In addition, our 2004 fiscal year ended

and prudent growth strategies. We are focused on building our
infrastructure, as well as investing in new initiatives that
create long-term shareholder value and future growth

with shareholders’ equity of $55.0 million as com-

opportunities. Strategically, we are growing organi-

pared to a shareholders’ deficit of $83.2 million in

cally rather than through acquisition which

the prior year.

provides consistency to our proven business
processes and lessens regulatory risk. The advan-

In December 2003, the company completed its
initial public offering of common stock, raising net
proceeds of approximately $59.0 million. These
proceeds were used to retire substantially all of our out-

tages of having one centralized operating system,
unrivaled industry expertise and a results-driven
culture continue to form a solid foundation that
serves us well.

standing debt, pay accrued dividends and redeem preferred

“ UTI IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF PROVIDING HIGH QUALITY, ENTRY-LEVEL
TECHNICIANS TO OUR NATIONWIDE DEALER NETWORK. WE ARE COMMITTED
TO WORKING ALONGSIDE UTI AS THEY CONTINUE TO OPEN NEW CAMPUSES.”
DAVE MCCLAIN // Technical Training Operations Manager // Ford Motor Company

Financial Highlights

Year Ended September 30,

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Net revenues
Operating expenses:
Educational services and facilities
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Other expense (income)
Income (loss) before taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from operations, net of taxes
Loss on sale, net of taxes
Net income (loss)
Preferred stock dividends
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares (in thousands):
Basic
Diluted
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization (1)
Number of campuses
Average undergraduate enrollments
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
Working capital (deficit) (2)
Total assets
Total long-term debt
Total debt (3)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)

$

92,079

$ 109,493

$ 144,372

59,554
38,332
97,886
11,607
10,674
–
933
820
113

70,813
51,541
122,354
22,018
6,254
847
14,917
5,228
9,689

48,523
33,893
82,416
9,663
11,877
–
(2,214)
(431)
(1,783)
(34,437)
–
(36,220)
(1,166)
$ (37,386)

(8,536)
(1,316)
(9,739)
(1,166)
$ (10,905)

$

$
$

$
$

$
$

(0.22)
(0.22)
13,432
13,432

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

3,887
6
5,866
3,326
21,051
(12,987)
68,845
104,122
109,294
18,296
(92,071)

(0.08)
(0.08)
13,402
13,402

$

4,532
6
6,710

$
3,353
$ 16,477
$ (29,187)
$ 63,086
$ 97,336
$ 104,578
$ 19,414
$(102,976)

–
–
9,689
(2,872)
6,817
0.51
0.44

$ 196,495
92,443
67,896
160,339
36,156
3,658
(234)
32,732
12,353
20,379

$
$
$

13,402
20,244
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

4,948
7
8,277
13,554
29,278
(14,577)
76,886
57,886
60,902
64,395
(96,159)

$ 255,149

–
–
20,379
(6,413)
13,966
1.03
0.79

116,730
88,297
205,027
50,122
1,031
1,134
47,957
19,137
28,820

$
$
$

13,543
25,051
$

6,382
7
10,568

$
8,925
$ 31,819
$ (29,240)
$ 84,099
$ 53,476
$ 57,336
$ 47,161
$ (83,152)

–
–
28,820
(776)
28,044
1.14
1.04
24,659
27,585

$

8,812
8
13,076

$ 42,602
$ 77,128
$
6,612
$ 136,316
$
6
$
43
$
–
$ 55,025

(1) Depreciation and amortization includes amortization of deferred financing fees previously capitalized in connection with obtaining financing and goodwill acquired in connection with the acquisition of a business.
Amortization of deferred financing fees was $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $1.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.2 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Amortization
of goodwill was $0.6 million in each of the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 2001. We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” effective
October 1, 2001. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized and instead is tested for impairment on an annual basis.
(2) Working capital (deficit) is defined as current assets less current liabilities.
(3) We adopted SFAS 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,” effective July 1, 2003. Accordingly, we reclassified as a liability the mandatory redeemable
series A, series B and series C preferred stock totaling $25.5 million at September 30, 2003. On December 22, 2003, in connection with our completed initial public offering, we either redeemed series A, series B and
series C preferred stock or exchanged our preferred stock for shares of common stock.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview
We are a leading provider of post-secondary education for students seeking careers as professional
automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians, as measured by total undergraduate
enrollment and number of graduates. We oÅer undergraduate degree, diploma and certiÑcate programs at
eight campuses across the United States, and manufacturer-sponsored advanced programs at 22 dedicated
training centers. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2004, our average undergraduate enrollments
were 13,076 full-time students. We have provided technical education for nearly 40 years.
We believe that the market for qualiÑed service technicians is large and growing. In 2002, the
U.S. Department of Labor estimated that there were approximately 818,000 working automotive technicians
in the United States, and that this number was expected to increase by 12% from 2002 to 2012. Other 2002
estimates provided by the U.S. Department of Labor indicate that, from 2002 to 2012, the number of
technicians in the other industries we serve, including diesel repair, collision repair, motorcycle repair and
marine repair are expected to increase by 14%, 13%, 19% and 18%, respectively. This increasing need for
technicians is due to a variety of factors, including technological advancement in the industries our graduates
enter, a continued increase in the number of automobiles, trucks, motorcycles and boats in service, as well as
an aging and retiring workforce that generally requires retraining to keep up with technological advancements
and maintain its technical competency. As a result of these factors, there will be an annual average of
approximately 50,800 new job openings for new entrants from 2002 to 2012 in the Ñelds we serve, according to
data collected by the U.S. Department of Labor. In addition to the increase in demand for newly qualiÑed
technicians, manufacturers are increasingly outsourcing their training functions, seeking preferred education
partners that can oÅer high quality curricula and that have a national presence to meet the employment and
advanced retraining needs of their national dealer networks.
We work closely with leading original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in the automotive, diesel,
motorcycle and marine industries to understand their needs for qualiÑed service professionals. By staying
current on the equipment and technology employed by OEMs, we are able to continuously reÑne and expand
our programs and curricula. We believe that our industry-oriented educational philosophy and national
presence have enabled us to develop valuable industry relationships that provide us with a signiÑcant
competitive strength and support our market leadership. We are a primary, and often the sole, provider of
manufacturer-based training programs pursuant to written agreements with various OEMs whereby we
provide technician training programs using their vehicles, equipment, specialty tools and curricula. These
OEMs include: Audi of America; American Honda Motor Co., Inc. (for marine applications); BMW of
North America, LLC; Ford Motor Co.; International Truck and Engine Corp.; Jaguar Cars, Inc.; MercedesBenz USA, LLC; Mercury Marine; Porsche Cars of North America, Inc.; Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc.;
Volkswagen of America, Inc.; and Volvo Cars of North America, Inc. In addition, we provide technician
training programs pursuant to oral agreements with the following OEMs: American Honda Motor Co., Inc.
(for motorcycle applications); American Suzuki Motor Corp.; Harley-Davidson Motor Co.; Kawasaki Motors
Corp. U.S.A.; Volvo Penta of the Americas, Inc.; and Yamaha Motor Corp., USA.
Through our campus-based undergraduate programs, we oÅer specialized technical education under the
banner of several well-known brands, including Universal Technical Institute (UTI), Motorcycle Mechanics
Institute and Marine Mechanics Institute (collectively, MMI) and NASCAR Technical Institute (NTI).
The majority of our undergraduate programs are designed to be completed in 12 to 18 months and culminate
in an occupational associate's degree, diploma or certiÑcate, depending on the program and campus. Tuition
ranges from approximately $18,000 to $34,000 per program, primarily depending on the nature and length of
the program. Upon completion of one of our automotive or diesel undergraduate programs, qualifying students
have the opportunity to enroll in one of the manufacturer-sponsored advanced training programs that we oÅer.
These training programs are manufacturer-speciÑc and are oÅered in a facility in which the OEM supplies the
vehicles, equipment, specialty tools and curricula. Tuition for these advanced training programs is paid by
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each participating OEM or dealer in return for a commitment by the student to work for a dealer of that OEM
upon graduation. We also provide continuing education and retraining to experienced technicians at our
customers' sites or in our training facilities.
Available Information
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports Ñled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 are available on our website (www.uticorp.com under the ""Company Info Ì Investor Relations Ì SEC Filings'' captions) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically Ñle such material
with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Reports of our executive oÇcers,
directors and any other persons required to Ñle securities ownership reports under Section 16(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are also available through our website. Information contained on our website
is not a part of this Report.
In Part II (Item 5) and Part III of this Form 10-K, we ""incorporate by reference'' certain information
from parts of other documents Ñled with the SEC, speciÑcally our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. The SEC allows us to disclose important information by referring to it in that
manner. Please refer to such information. We anticipate that on or before January 14, 2005, our proxy
statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be available on our website (www.uticorp.com)
under the ""Company Info Ì Investor Relations Ì SEC Filings'' captions.
Information relating to corporate governance at UTI, including our Code of Conduct for all of our
employees and our Supplemental Code of Ethics for Chief Executive OÇcer and Senior Financial OÇcers,
and information concerning Board Committees, including Committee charters, is available on our website at
www.uticorp.com under the ""Company Info Ì Investor Relations Ì Corporate Governance'' captions. We
will provide any of the foregoing information without charge upon written request to Universal Technical
Institute, Inc., 20410 North 19th Avenue, Suite 200, Phoenix, Arizona 85027.
Business Strategy
Our goal is to maintain and strengthen our role as a leading provider of technical education services. We
intend to pursue the following strategies to attain this goal:
‚ Open New Campuses. We continue to identify new markets that we believe will complement our
established campus network and support further growth. We believe that there are a number of local
markets, in regions where we do not currently have a campus, with both pools of interested prospective
students and career opportunities for graduates. By establishing campuses in these locations, we believe
that we will be able to supply skilled technicians to local employers, as well as provide educational
opportunities for students otherwise unwilling to relocate to acquire a post-secondary education.
Additional locations will also provide us with an opportunity to expand our relationships with OEMs by
providing a graduate population with greater geographic reach. We opened our Exton, Pennsylvania
campus in July 2004 where we are initially oÅering programs in automotive technology. In addition, we
have entered into a real estate purchase agreement and an agreement to retroÑt the existing building
for a campus to be located near Boston, Massachusetts. We have also entered into a long-term, real
property lease agreement for an additional campus that we intend to open in Sacramento, California.
These new campus locations are expected to open for operations in the next 9 to 15 months.
‚ Increase Recruitment and Marketing. Since our founding in 1965, we have grown our business and
expanded our campus platform to establish a national presence. Through the UTI, MMI and NTI
brands, our undergraduate campuses and advanced training centers currently provide us with local
representation covering several geographic regions across the United States. Supporting our campuses,
we maintain a national recruiting network of approximately 235 education representatives who are able
to identify, advise and enroll students from all 50 states. We plan to hire additional education
representatives to enhance our recruitment coverage in territories where we are currently active in
recruiting students and to expand into new regions and cities. We believe that additional education
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representatives, combined with increased marketing spending, will increase our national presence and
enable us to better target the prospective student pool from which we recruit. We support our
education representatives' recruiting eÅorts with a national multimedia marketing strategy that
includes television, enthusiast magazines, direct mail and the internet.
‚ Seek Additional Industry Relationships. We work closely with OEMs to develop brand-speciÑc
education programs. Participating manufacturers typically assist us in developing course content and
curricula, and provide us with equipment, specialty tools and parts at no charge. In addition, the
manufacturer or dealer pays the full tuition of each student enrolled in our advanced training programs.
Our collaboration with OEMs enables us to provide highly specialized education to our students,
resulting in improved employment opportunities and the potential for higher wages for graduates. We
actively seek to develop new relationships with leading OEMs, dealership networks and other industry
participants. Securing such relationships will enable us to further drive undergraduate enrollment
growth, diversify funding sources and expand the scope and increase the number of the programs we
oÅer. We believe that these relationships are also valuable to our industry partners since our programs
provide them with a steady supply of highly trained service technicians and are a cost-eÅective
alternative to in-house training. Therefore, we believe that these relationships will also provide us
additional incremental revenue opportunities from retraining OEMs' existing employees.
In addition to our curriculum-based relationships with OEMs, we develop and maintain a variety of
complementary relationships with parts and tools suppliers, enthusiast organizations and other
participants in the industries we serve. These relationships provide us with a variety of strategic and
Ñnancial beneÑts, including equipment sponsorship, new product support, licensing and branding
opportunities, and selected Ñnancial sponsorship for our campuses and students. We believe that these
relationships improve the quality of our educational programs, reduce our investment cost of equipping
classrooms, enable us to expand the scope of our programs, strengthen our graduate placements and
enhance our overall image within the industry.
‚ Expand Program OÅerings. As the industries we serve become more technologically advanced, the
requisite training for qualiÑed technicians continues to increase. We continually work with our industry
customers to expand and adapt our course oÅerings to meet their needs for skilled technicians. We also
intend to increase the number of specialized or manufacturer-speciÑc electives we oÅer in our
undergraduate programs, such as our Hot Rod U high performance series and our Ford-certiÑed
elective. During our 2004 Ñscal year, we successfully added the Toyota Professional Automotive
Training (TPAT) program as a manufacturer-speciÑc elective for our undergraduate students at our
Glendale Heights, Illinois campus. In September 2004, we began providing a pilot online automotive
training program under the brand FlexTech. FlexTech is a blended online and onsite program oÅered
at our Avondale, Arizona campus, which provides Öexibility for our students and increases campus
capacity. Additionally, we expanded the program oÅerings at our Orlando, Florida campus, which
previously only provided motorcycle and marine technician training, to include an automotive
technology program.
‚ Consider Strategic Acquisitions. We selectively consider acquisition opportunities that, among other
factors, would complement our program oÅerings, beneÑt from our expertise and scale in marketing
and administration and could be integrated into our existing operations.
Schools and Programs
Through our campus-based school system, we oÅer specialized technical education programs under the
banner of several well-known brands, including Universal Technical Institute (UTI), Motorcycle Mechanics
Institute and Marine Mechanics Institute (collectively, MMI) and NASCAR Technical Institute (NTI).
The majority of our undergraduate programs are designed to be completed in 12 to 18 months and culminate
in an occupational associate's degree, diploma or certiÑcate, depending on the program and campus. Tuition
ranges from approximately $18,000 to $34,000 per program, primarily depending on the nature and length of
the program. Undergraduate programs at seven of our campuses are accredited and eligible for federal
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Title IV Ñnancial aid funding. The undergraduate programs oÅered at our Exton, Pennsylvania campus, which
opened in July 2004, are not yet eligible to participate in Title IV Ñnancial aid funding. We completed our
application with the Department of Education for Title IV funding for our Exton, Pennsylvania campus in
October 2004 and are awaiting approval. Upon completion of one of our automotive or diesel undergraduate
programs, qualifying students have the opportunity to enroll in one of our advanced, manufacturer-speciÑc
training programs. These programs are oÅered in facilities in which OEMs supply the vehicles, equipment,
specialty tools and curricula. Tuition for the advanced training programs is paid by each participating OEM or
dealer in return for a commitment by the student to work for a dealer of that OEM upon graduation. We also
provide continuing education and retraining to experienced technicians.
Our undergraduate schools and programs are summarized in the following table:
Location

Date
Training
Commenced

UTI

Avondale, Arizona ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1965

UTI

Houston, Texas ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1983

UTI

Glendale Heights, Illinois ÏÏÏÏ

1988

UTI
UTI
MMI
MMI
NTI

Rancho Cucamonga, California
Exton, Pennsylvania ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Phoenix, ArizonaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Orlando, Florida ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mooresville, North Carolina ÏÏ

1998
2004
1973
1986
2002

School

Principal Programs

Automotive; Diesel & Industrial;
Automotive/Diesel; Automotive/Diesel &
Industrial; FlexTech
Automotive; Diesel & Industrial;
Automotive/Diesel; Automotive/Diesel &
Industrial; Collision Repair and ReÑnishing
Automotive; Diesel & Industrial;
Automotive/Diesel; Automotive/Diesel &
Industrial
Automotive
Automotive
Motorcycle
Automotive; Motorcycle; Marine
Automotive with NASCAR

In addition, we have announced plans for a new automotive technician training campus in the Boston,
Massachusetts suburb of Norwood, which we anticipate will open in the fourth quarter of our 2005 Ñscal year,
and a new automotive technician training campus in Sacramento, California, which we anticipate will open in
the Ñrst half of our 2006 Ñscal year.
Universal Technical Institute (UTI)
UTI oÅers automotive, diesel & industrial, and collision repair and reÑnishing programs that are master
certiÑed by the National Automotive Technicians Education Foundation (NATEF), a division of the
Institute for Automotive Service Excellence (ASE). Currently, our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus and our
FlexTech program are not NATEF certiÑed. All UTI programs are accredited and culminate in an
occupational associate's degree or diploma, depending on the program and campus. Students also have the
option to enhance their core program through the Ford Accelerated Credential Training (FACT) elective at
each of our UTI campuses. In addition, we oÅer the Toyota Professional Automotive Technician
(TPAT) elective at our Glendale Heights, Illinois campus and the Toyota Professional Collision Training
(TPCT) elective at our Houston, Texas campus.
‚ Automotive Technology. Established in 1965, the Automotive Technology program is designed to
teach students how to diagnose, service and repair automobiles. The program ranges from 51 to
68 weeks in duration, and tuition ranges from $19,500 to $29,950. Graduates of this program are
qualiÑed to work as entry-level service technicians in automotive repair facilities or automotive dealer
service departments.
‚ Diesel & Industrial Technology. Established in 1968, the Diesel & Industrial Technology program is
designed to teach students how to diagnose, service and repair diesel systems and industrial equipment.
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The program is 45 weeks in duration and tuition ranges from $19,600 to $20,200. Graduates of this
program are qualiÑed to work as entry-level service technicians in medium and heavy truck facilities,
truck dealerships, or in service and repair facilities for marine diesel engines and equipment utilized in
various industrial applications, including materials handling, construction, transport refrigeration or
farming.
‚ Automotive/Diesel Technology. Established in 1970, the Automotive/Diesel Technology program is
designed to teach students how to diagnose, service and repair automobiles and diesel systems. The
program ranges from 69 to 84 weeks in duration and tuition ranges from approximately $25,800 to
$32,350. Graduates of this program typically can work as entry-level service technicians in automotive
repair facilities, automotive dealer service departments, diesel engine repair facilities, medium and
heavy truck facilities or truck dealerships.
‚ Automotive/Diesel & Industrial Technology. Established in 1970, the Automotive/Diesel & Industrial Technology program is designed to teach students how to diagnose, service and repair automobiles, diesel systems and industrial equipment. The program ranges from 75 to 90 weeks in duration
and tuition ranges from $26,850 to $33,500. Graduates of this program are qualiÑed to work as entrylevel service technicians in automotive repair facilities, automotive dealer service departments, diesel
engine repair facilities, medium and heavy truck facilities, truck dealerships, or in service and repair
facilities for marine diesel engines and equipment utilized in various industrial applications, including
material handling, construction, transport refrigeration or farming.
‚ Collision Repair and ReÑnishing Technology (CRRT). Established in 1999, the CRRT program
teaches students how to repair non-structural and structural automobile damage as well as how to
prepare cost estimates on all phases of repair and reÑnishing. The program is from 54 to 57 weeks in
duration and tuition ranges from $22,700 to $23,800. Graduates of this program are qualiÑed to work as
entry-level technicians at OEM dealerships and independent repair facilities.
Motorcycle Mechanics Institute and Marine Mechanics Institute (collectively, MMI)
‚ Motorcycle. Established in 1973, this MMI program is designed to teach students how to diagnose,
service and repair motorcycles and all-terrain vehicles. The program ranges from 57 to 81 weeks in
duration and tuition ranges from $18,200 to $24,900. Graduates of this program are qualiÑed to work as
entry-level service technicians in motorcycle dealerships and independent repair facilities. MMI is
supported by all Ñve major motorcycle manufacturers. We have oral understandings with American
Honda Motor Co., Inc., American Suzuki Motor Corp., Harley-Davidson Motor Co., Kawasaki
Motors Corp., U.S.A. and Yamaha Motor Corp., USA. These motorcycle manufacturers support us
through their endorsement of our curricula content, assisting our course development, equipment and
product donation, and instructor training. Our oral understandings with these manufacturers may be
terminated without cause by either party at any time.
‚ Marine. Established in 1991, this MMI program is designed to teach students how to diagnose,
service and repair boats and personal watercraft. The program is 60 weeks in duration and tuition is
approximately $21,200. Graduates of this program are qualiÑed to work as entry-level service
technicians for marine dealerships and independent repair shops, as well as for marinas, boat yards and
yacht clubs. MMI is supported by several marine manufacturers. We have oral agreements for
manufacturer-speciÑc training oÅered to our students as required courses with American Honda Motor
Co., Inc., Mercury Marine, American Suzuki Motor Corp. and Yamaha Motor Corp., USA. We have
written agreements for dealer training with American Honda Motor Co. Inc. that expires on March 31,
2005 and Mercury Marine that expires on August 30, 2006. In addition we are continuing to provide
dealer training under an agreement with Volvo Penta of the Americas, Inc. that expired on October 31,
2004. These marine manufacturers support us through their endorsement of our curricula content,
assisting our course development, equipment and product donation, and instructor training. Our oral
understanding with these manufacturers may be terminated without cause by either party at any time.
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‚ Automotive. In July 2004, we expanded the UTI Automotive Technology program to our Orlando,
Florida MMI campus. The program is 51 weeks in duration and the tuition is $21,650. Graduates of
this program are qualiÑed to work as entry-level service technicians in automotive repair facilities or
automotive dealer service departments.
NASCAR Technical Institute (NTI)
Established in 2002, NTI oÅers the same type of automotive training as UTI does, but with additional
NASCAR-speciÑc courses. In addition to the training received in our Automotive Technology program,
students are able to learn Ñrst-hand on NASCAR engines and equipment and to learn speciÑc skills required
for entry-level positions in NASCAR-related career opportunities. The program ranges from 48 to 78 weeks in
duration and tuition ranges from $23,000 to $33,700. Similar to graduates of the Automotive Technology
program, NTI graduates are qualiÑed to work as entry-level service technicians in automotive repair facilities
or automotive dealer service departments. A small percentage of these graduates may have the opportunity to
work as technicians on NASCAR teams.
Manufacturer-Sponsored Programs
‚ Advanced Training Programs. Pursuant to written agreements, we oÅer manufacturer-speciÑc advanced training programs for the following companies: Audi of America; BMW of North America,
LLC; International Truck and Engine Corp.; Jaguar Cars, Inc.; Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC; Porsche
Cars of North America, Inc.; Volkswagen of America, Inc.; and Volvo Cars of North America, Inc.
‚ Audi and Volkswagen. We have a written agreement with Audi of America and Volkswagen of
America, Inc. whereby we provide Audi Academy training programs at our Avondale, Arizona,
Glendale Heights, Illinois and Allentown, Pennsylvania training facilities using tools, equipment and
vehicles provided by Audi. In addition, we provide Volkswagen Academy Technician Recruitment
Program (VATRP) training at our Rancho Cucamonga, California, Glendale Heights, Illinois and
Allentown, Pennsylvania training facilities using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by Volkswagen. This agreement expires on December 31, 2006 and may be terminated for cause by either
party.
‚ BMW. We have a written agreement with BMW of North America, LLC whereby we provide
BMW's Service Technician Education Program (STEP) at our Avondale, Arizona, Orlando,
Florida, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey and our Houston, Texas training facilities and at BMW's
Ontario, California training facility, using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by BMW. This
agreement expires on December 31, 2004, and may be terminated for cause by either party. This
agreement is not exclusive, though, for the duration of its term, BMW may not enter into a similar
agreement with any other institution that would conduct such program within 100 miles of an
existing UTI program; and we may not provide manufacturer-speciÑc training for any other
automotive manufacturer at our BMW training facilities.
‚ International Truck. We have a written agreement with International Truck and Engine Corp.
whereby we provide the International Technician Education Program (ITEP) training program at
our training facility in Carol Stream, Illinois, using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by
International Truck. This agreement expires on December 31, 2005 and may be terminated without
cause by either party upon 180 days written notice.
‚ Jaguar. We have a written agreement with Jaguar Cars, Inc. whereby we provide the Professional
Automotive Career Education (PACE) training program at our training facility in Orlando, Florida
using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by Jaguar. This agreement expires on May 31, 2006
and may be terminated for cause by either party. This agreement is not exclusive, though Jaguar
may not enter into a similar agreement with any other institution that would conduct a program
within 100 miles of an existing UTI program.
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‚ Mercedes-Benz. We have a written agreement with Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC whereby we
provide the Mercedes-Benz ELITE training program at our Rancho Cucamonga, California,
Houston, Texas, Orlando, Florida and Glendale Heights, Illinois training facilities as well as our
training center in Allentown, Pennsylvania using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by
Mercedes-Benz. We also provide the Mercedes-Benz ELITE Collision Repair Training
(CRT) program at our Houston, Texas facility. The agreement expires on May 31, 2006 for the
Houston, Texas location and September 30, 2005 for all other locations. The agreement is not
exclusive and may be terminated at any time upon 60 days written notice.
‚ Porsche. We have a written agreement with Porsche Cars of North America, Inc. whereby we
provide the Porsche Technician Apprenticeship Program (PTAP) at a Porsche Training Center in
Atlanta, Georgia, using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by Porsche. This agreement expires
on August 31, 2005, is exclusive of all other institutions and may be terminated without cause by
Porsche upon 30 days written notice.
‚ Volvo. We have a written agreement with Volvo Cars of North America, Inc. whereby we conduct
Volvo's Service Automotive Factory Education (SAFE) program training at our training centers in
Glendale Heights, Illinois and Avondale, Arizona using training and course materials approved by
Volvo and training vehicles and tools provided by Volvo. This agreement expires on October 31,
2006 and may be terminated by Volvo prior to the expiration date, provided that Volvo would
compensate us for all ongoing SAFE classes at the time of such early termination.
These programs are intended to oÅer in-depth instruction on speciÑc manufacturers' products, qualifying a
graduate for employment with a dealer seeking highly specialized, entry-level technicians with brand-speciÑc
skills. The programs range from 12 to 27 weeks in duration, and tuition is paid by the manufacturer or dealer.
The manufacturer also supplies equipment for the courses.
‚ Retraining. Technicians in all of the industries we serve are in regular need of retraining or
certiÑcation on new technologies. Increasingly, manufacturers such as American Honda Motor Co.,
Inc.; BMW of North America, LLC; Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC; Mercury Marine; Volkswagen of
America, Inc. and Volvo Penta of the Americas, Inc. are outsourcing a portion of this training to
education providers such as our company.
Industry Relationships
We have a network of industry relationships that provide a wide range of strategic and Ñnancial beneÑts,
including product/Ñnancial support, licensing and manufacturer training.
‚ Product/Financial Support. Product/Ñnancial support is an integral component of our business
strategy and is present throughout our schools. In these relationships, sponsors provide their products,
including equipment and supplies, at reduced or no cost to us in return for our use of those products in
the classroom. In addition, they may provide Ñnancial sponsorship to either us or our students.
Product/Ñnancial support is an attractive marketing channel for sponsors because our classrooms
provide them with early access to the future end-users of their products. As students become familiar
with a manufacturer's products during training, they may be more likely to continue to use the same
products upon graduation. Our product support relationships allow us to minimize the equipment and
supply costs in each of our classrooms and signiÑcantly reduces the capital outlay necessary for
operating and equipping our campuses.
An example of a product/Ñnancial support relationship is:
‚ Snap-on Tools. At various stages in our undergraduate programs, students receive a Snap-on Tools
entry-level tool set having an approximate retail value of $1,000. We purchase these tool sets from
Snap-on Tools at a discount from their list price pursuant to a written agreement. This agreement
expires in January 2009. In the context of this relationship, we have granted Snap-on Tools exclusive
access to our campuses and display advertising and we have agreed to use Snap-on tools to train our
students. We receive credits from Snap-on Tools for student tool kits purchased by UTI and any
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additional purchases made by our students. We can then redeem those credits to purchase Snap-on
Tools equipment and tools for our campuses at the full retail list price.
‚ Licensing. Licensing encompasses our aÇliation with key industry brands. We pay a licensing fee
and, in return, receive the right to use a particular industry participant's name or logo in our
promotional materials and on our campuses. We believe that our current and potential students
generally identify favorably with the recognized brand names licensed to us, enhancing our reputation
and the eÅectiveness of our marketing eÅorts.
An example of a licensing arrangement is:
‚ NASCAR. In July 1999, we entered into a licensing arrangement with NASCAR and became its
exclusive education provider for automotive technicians. This written agreement expires on June 30,
2007 and may be terminated for cause by either party at any time prior to its expiration. In July
2002, the NASCAR Technical Institute opened in Mooresville, North Carolina. More than 1,500
students currently attend this campus. This relationship provides us with access to the network of
NASCAR sponsors, presenting us with the opportunity to enhance our product support relationships. The popular NASCAR brand name combined with the opportunity to learn on highperformance cars is a powerful recruiting and retention tool for a broad group of potential students.
‚ Manufacturer Training. Manufacturer training relationships provide beneÑts to us that impact each
of our education programs. These relationships support entry-level training tailored to the needs of a
speciÑc manufacturer, as well as continuing education and retraining of experienced technicians. In our
entry-level programs, students receive training and certiÑcation on a given manufacturer's products. In
return, the manufacturer supplies equipment, specialty tools and parts, and assistance in developing
curricula. Students who receive this training are often certiÑed to work on that manufacturer's products
when they complete the program. The certiÑcation typically leads to both improved employment
opportunities and the potential for higher wages. Manufacturer training relationships lower the capital
investment necessary to equip our classrooms and provide us with a signiÑcant marketing advantage. In
addition, through these relationships, manufacturers are able to increase the pool of skilled resources
available to service and repair their products.
We actively seek to extend our relationship with a given manufacturer by providing the manufacturer's
retraining. Like the advanced training, these programs are built on a training relationship under which
the manufacturer not only provides the equipment and curricula but also pays for the students' tuition.
These retraining courses often take place within our existing facilities, allowing the manufacturer to
avoid the costs associated with establishing its own dedicated facility.
Examples of manufacturer training relationships include:
‚ American Honda Motor Co., Inc. We provide continuing marine and motorcycle training for
experienced American Honda technicians utilizing training materials and curricula provided by
American Honda. Pursuant to a written agreement, our instructors provide marine training at
American Honda-authorized training centers across the United States. The marine training
agreement expires on March 31, 2005. This agreement may be terminated for cause by American
Honda at any time prior to its expiration. Pursuant to an oral agreement, we oversee the
administration of the motorcycle training program, including technician enrollment. Our instructors
provide the motorcycle training at American Honda-authorized training centers across the United
States. The motorcycle training agreement expired upon completion of the Ñnal class taught in
September 2004 and the program is operating under the terms and conditions of the expired
agreement. We are currently in negotiation for the renewal of the contract. Pursuant to two oral
agreements, American Honda Motor Co., Inc. supports our campus training program called
HonTech» by donating equipment and providing curricula.
‚ Ford Motor Company. Pursuant to a written agreement, we oÅer the Ford Accelerated Credential
Training (FACT) elective to all of the students in our Automotive, Automotive/Diesel and
Automotive/Diesel & Industrial programs. The FACT elective is a 15-week course in Ford-speciÑc
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training, during which students are able to earn Ford certiÑcations. Ford Motor Company provides
the curriculum, vehicles, specialty equipment and other training aids required in this elective. This
agreement has an indeÑnite term and may be terminated without cause by either party upon six
months written notice.
‚ Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC. Pursuant to a written agreement, we oÅer the Mercedes-Benz ELITE
training program. This 16-week advanced training program enables students to earn Mercedes-Benz
training credits in service maintenance, diagnosis and repair of most Mercedes-Benz vehicle systems.
Highly ranked graduates of UTI's Automotive and Automotive/Diesel programs may apply for
acceptance into the Mercedes-Benz ELITE training program. Tuition for the program is paid by the
manufacturer. All curricula, vehicles, specialty tools and training aids are provided by MercedesBenz. This agreement expires on September 30, 2005 and may be terminated without cause by
Mercedes-Benz upon 60 days written notice. Pursuant to an addendum to our agreement with
Mercedes-Benz that expires on May 31, 2006, we renewed the Mercedes-Benz ELITE training
program for graduates of the CRRT program. In addition, we provide training for Mercedes-Benz
factory technicians on a regular basis at our Houston, Texas facility.
‚ Toyota. We have a written agreement with Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. to oÅer the Toyota
Professional Automotive Technician (TPAT) program, a Toyota and Lexus brand-speciÑc training
program. The program uses training and course materials as well as training vehicles and equipment
provided by Toyota. This agreement expires on March 31, 2008 and may be terminated without
cause by either party upon 30 days written notice, provided that TPAT training courses for enrolled
students will continue to completion.
Student Recruitment Model
We strive to increase our school enrollment and proÑtability through a dual pronged sales and marketing
eÅort designed to maximize market penetration. Our strategy is to recruit a geographically dispersed and
demographically diverse student body, including both recent high school graduates and adults. Due to the
diverse backgrounds and locations of students who attend our schools, we utilize a variety of marketing
techniques to recruit applicants to our programs, including:
‚ Field-Based Representatives. Our Ñeld-based education representatives recruit prospective students
from high schools across the country. Over the last three Ñscal years, approximately 60% of our student
population has been recruited directly out of high school. Currently, we have approximately 150 Ñeldbased education representatives with assigned territories covering the United States and
U.S. territories. Our Ñeld-based education representatives recruit students by making career presentations at high schools and direct presentations at the homes of prospective students.
Our reputation in local, regional and national business communities, endorsements from high school
guidance counselors and the recommendations of satisÑed graduates are some of our most eÅective
recruiting tools. Accordingly, we strive to build relationships with the people who inÖuence the career
decisions of prospective students, such as vocational instructors and high school guidance counselors.
Every year, we conduct seminars for high school career counselors and instructors at our training
facilities and campuses as a means of further educating these individuals on the merits of our programs.
‚ Campus-Based Representatives. In addition to our Ñeld-based education representatives, we use
campus-based representatives to recruit students. These representatives respond to targeted marketing
leads and inbound inquiries to directly recruit new students Ì typically adults returning to school Ì
from anywhere across the United States. Currently, we have approximately 85 campus-based
education representatives. Since working adults tend to start our programs throughout the year instead
of in the fall as is most typical of traditional school calendars, these students help balance our
enrollment throughout the year.
‚ Marketing and Advertising. We make use of multiple direct and indirect marketing and advertising
channels aimed at prompting enthusiasts and underemployed or unemployed prospective students to
9

contact us. We select various advertising methods on a national, regional and local basis to drive
enrollments at our campuses. We utilize television advertising on national cable networks such as
Speed Channel, Fox Sports Net, Spike TV (formerly known as TNN) and Outdoor Life Network, as
well as on local stations. We advertise in both national and regional automotive, motorcycle and marine
enthusiast publications, including Harley-Davidson's enthusiast publication which has a circulation of
over 1,100,000. We also employ direct mailings and maintain a proprietary database that enables us to
target both high school students and working adults throughout the year.
Student Admissions and Retention
We currently employ approximately 235 Ñeld- and campus-based education representatives who work
directly with prospective students to facilitate the enrollment process. At each campus, student admissions are
overseen by an admissions department that reviews each application. We screen prospective student
applications to increase the likelihood that all admitted students are capable of completing the requisite
coursework and are ready to obtain employment following graduation. DiÅerent programs have varying
admissions standards. For example, applicants for our UTI Avondale location, which oÅers an associate of
occupational studies (AOS) degree, must be at least 16 years of age and have a high school diploma (or its
equivalent) or certiÑcation of high school equivalency (G.E.D.). Applicants at all other locations must either
be at least 16 years of age and have a high school diploma (or its equivalent) or G.E.D. or be at least 21 years
of age and have the ability to beneÑt from the training as demonstrated by personal interviews and
performance on the Wonderlic Scholastic Level Exam.
To maximize student persistence, we have student services professionals and other resources to assist and
advise students regarding academic, Ñnancial, personal and employment matters. Our consolidated student
completion rate is typically above 70%, which we believe compares favorably with the student completion
rates of other providers of comparable educational/training programs.
Enrollment
We enroll students continuously throughout the year. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2004,
we had an average enrollment of 13,076 full-time undergraduate students, representing an increase of
approximately 23.7% as compared to the twelve months ended September 30, 2003 and making us the largest
provider of post-secondary education in our Ñelds of study in the United States. Currently, our student body is
geographically diverse, with a majority of our students at most campuses having relocated to attend our
programs. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004, we had average undergraduate
enrollments of 8,277, 10,568 and 13,076 full-time undergraduate students, respectively.
Graduate Placement
We believe that securing employment for our graduates is critical to our ability to attract high quality
prospective students. In addition, high placement rates are directly correlated to low student loan default rates,
an important requirement for continuing participation in Title IV federal funding programs. Accordingly, we
dedicate signiÑcant resources to maintaining an eÇcient graduate placement program. We recently completed
a system conversion relating to our graduate placement statistics. As a result of the conversion, we have
elected to change our calculation of placement to include our manufacturer-speciÑc advanced training
(MSAT) programs and to limit the calculation period to 12 months beyond core program graduation and six
months beyond MSAT completion. Using this calculation, our placement rate for Ñscal 2003 was 87%. Under
our previous placement calculation, our placement rate for Ñscal 2003 was 89%.
Our schools develop job opportunities and referrals. During the course of each program, students receive
instruction on job search and interviewing skills and have available reference materials and assistance with the
composition of resumes.
Employers may participate in the Tuition Reimbursement Incentive Program (TRIP), whereby employers of our graduates make some or all of the graduates' monthly student loan payments for as long as they
employ the graduate or until the loan is paid in full, whichever is earlier. We believe that TRIP provides us
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with a more compelling value proposition to prospective students and further enhances our relationship with
our OEM partners.
Faculty and Employees
Faculty members are hired nationally in accordance with established criteria, applicable accreditation
standards and applicable state regulations. Members of our faculty are primarily industry professionals and are
hired based on their prior work and educational experience. We require a speciÑc level of industry experience
in order to enhance the quality of the programs that we oÅer and to address current and industry-speciÑc
issues in the course content. We provide intensive instructional training and continuing education to our
faculty members to maintain the quality of instruction in all Ñelds of study. Generally, our existing instructors
have between four and seven years teaching experience and our average undergraduate student-to-teacher
ratio is approximately 22-to-1.
The support team of each school includes a school director, a director of graduate placement, an
education director, a director of student services, a Ñnancial-aid director, a division controller and a director of
admissions. As of September 30, 2004, we had approximately 1,800 full-time employees, including approximately 420 student support employees and approximately 780 full-time instructors.
Our employees are not represented by labor unions and are not subject to collective bargaining
agreements. We have never experienced a work stoppage, and we believe that we have a good relationship with
our employees. However, as we open or acquire campuses in new geographic areas, we may encounter
employees who desire or maintain union representation.
Competition
The career-oriented school industry is highly fragmented, with no one provider or public institution
controlling a signiÑcant market share. Generally, there is limited direct competition between career-oriented
schools and traditional four-year colleges or universities. Our main competitors are traditional public and
private two-year junior and community colleges, other proprietary career-oriented schools and technical
schools, including Lincoln Technical Institute and Wyoming Technical Institute, which is owned by
Corinthian Colleges, Inc. We compete at a local and regional level based primarily on the content, visibility
and accessibility of academic programs, the quality of instruction and the time necessary to enter the
workforce. We believe that we are superior to our competitors in size, industry relationships, brand, reputation
and recruiting capability.
Environmental Matters
We use hazardous materials at our training facilities and campuses, and generate small quantities of
waste such as used oil, antifreeze, paint and car batteries. As a result, our facilities and operations are subject
to a variety of environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, the use, storage and disposal
of solid and hazardous substances and waste, and the clean-up of contamination at our facilities or oÅ-site
locations to which we send or have sent waste for disposal. We are also required to obtain permits for our air
emissions, and to meet operational and maintenance requirements, including periodic testing, for an
underground storage tank located at one of our properties. In the event we do not maintain compliance with
any of these laws and regulations, or are responsible for a spill or release of hazardous materials, we could
incur signiÑcant costs for clean-up, damages, and Ñnes or penalties.
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Regulatory Environment
Our schools and students participate in a variety of government-sponsored Ñnancial aid programs to assist
students in paying the cost of their education. The largest source of such support is the federal programs of
student Ñnancial assistance under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, commonly
referred to as Title IV Programs, which are administered by the U.S. Department of Education or ED. In our
2004 Ñscal year, we derived approximately 72% of our net revenues from Title IV Programs.
To participate in Title IV Programs, a school must be authorized to oÅer its programs of instruction by
relevant state education agencies, be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by ED, and be
certiÑed as an eligible institution by ED. For this reason, our schools are subject to extensive regulatory
requirements imposed by all of these entities.
State Authorization
Each of our schools must be authorized by the applicable state education agency of the state in which the
school is located in order to operate and to grant degrees, diplomas or certiÑcates to its students. Our schools
are subject to extensive, ongoing regulation by each of these states. State authorization is also required for an
institution to become and remain eligible to participate in Title IV Programs. In addition, our schools are
required to be authorized by the applicable state education agencies of certain other states in which our
schools recruit students. Currently, each of our schools is authorized by the applicable state education agency
or agencies.
The level of regulatory oversight varies substantially from state to state, and is very extensive in some
states. State laws typically establish standards for instruction, qualiÑcations of faculty, location and nature of
facilities and equipment, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, Ñnancial operations and other
operational matters. State laws and regulations may limit our ability to oÅer educational programs and to
award degrees, diplomas or certiÑcates. Some states prescribe standards of Ñnancial responsibility that are
diÅerent from, and in certain cases more stringent than, those prescribed by ED, and some states require
schools to post a surety bond. Currently, we have posted surety bonds on behalf of our schools and education
representatives with multiple states in a total amount of approximately $13.3 million. We believe that each of
our schools is in substantial compliance with state education agency requirements. If any one of our schools
lost its authorization from the education agency of the state in which the school is located, that school would
be unable to oÅer its programs and we could be forced to close that school. If one of our schools lost its state
authorization from a state other than the state in which the school is located, the school would not be able to
recruit students in that state.
Due to state budget constraints in some of the states in which we operate, such as Illinois, Texas and
California, it is possible that those states may reduce the number of employees in, or curtail the operations of,
the state education agencies that authorize our schools. A delay or refusal by any state education agency in
approving any changes in our operations that require state approval, such as the opening of a new campus, the
introduction of new programs, a change of control or the hiring or placement of new education representatives,
could prevent us from making such changes or could delay our ability to make such changes.
Accreditation
Accreditation is a non-governmental process through which a school submits to ongoing qualitative
review by an organization of peer institutions. Accrediting commissions primarily examine the academic
quality of the school's instructional programs, and a grant of accreditation is generally viewed as conÑrmation
that the school's programs meet generally accepted academic standards. Accrediting commissions also review
the administrative and Ñnancial operations of the schools they accredit to ensure that each school has the
resources necessary to perform its educational mission.
Accreditation by an accrediting commission recognized by ED is required for an institution to be certiÑed
to participate in Title IV Programs. In order to be recognized by ED, accrediting commissions must adopt
speciÑc standards for their review of educational institutions. All of our schools are accredited by the
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Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges of Technology, or ACCSCT, an accrediting
commission recognized by ED. We believe that each of our schools is in substantial compliance with
ACCSCT accreditation standards. If any one of our schools lost its accreditation, students attending that
school would no longer be eligible to receive Title IV Program funding, and we could be forced to close that
school. An accrediting commission may place a school on ""reporting status'' to monitor one or more speciÑed
areas of performance in relation to the accreditation standards. A school placed on reporting status is required
to report periodically to the accrediting commission on that school's performance in the area or areas speciÑed
by the commission.
Nature of Federal and State Support for Post-Secondary Education
The federal government provides a substantial part of its support for post-secondary education through
Title IV Programs, in the form of grants and loans to students who can use those funds at any institution that
has been certiÑed as eligible by ED. Most aid under Title IV Programs is awarded on the basis of Ñnancial
need, generally deÑned as the diÅerence between the cost of attending the institution and the amount a
student can reasonably contribute to that cost. All recipients of Title IV Program funds must maintain a
satisfactory grade point average and progress in a timely manner toward completion of their program of study.
In addition, each school must ensure that Title IV Program funds are properly accounted for and disbursed in
the correct amounts to eligible students.
Students at our schools receive grants and loans to fund their education under the following Title IV
Programs: (1) the Federal Family Education Loan, or FFEL, program, (2) the Federal Pell Grant, or Pell,
program, (3) the Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant, or FSEOG, program, and (4) the
Federal Perkins Loan, or Perkins, program.
FFEL. Under the FFEL program, banks and other lending institutions make loans to students or their
parents. If a student or parent defaults on a loan, payment is guaranteed by a federally recognized guaranty
agency, which is then reimbursed by ED. Students with Ñnancial need qualify for interest subsidies while in
school and during grace periods. In our 2004 Ñscal year, we derived more than 62% of our net revenues from
the FFEL program.
Pell. Under the Pell program, ED makes grants to students who demonstrate Ñnancial need. In our
2004 Ñscal year, we derived approximately 9% of our net revenues from the Pell program.
FSEOG. FSEOG grants are designed to supplement Pell grants for students with the greatest Ñnancial
need. We are required to provide funding for 25% of all awards made under this program. In our 2004 Ñscal
year, we derived less than 1% of our net revenues from the FSEOG program.
Perkins. Perkins loans are made from a revolving institutional account in which 75% of new funding is
capitalized by ED and the remainder by the institution. Each institution is responsible for collecting payments
on Perkins loans from its former students and lending those funds to currently enrolled students. Defaults by
students on their Perkins loans reduce the amount of funds available in the applicable school's revolving
account to make loans to additional students, but the school does not have any obligation to guarantee the
loans or repay the defaulted amounts. In our 2004 Ñscal year, we derived less than 1% of our net revenues from
the Perkins program.
Some of our students receive Ñnancial aid from federal sources other than Title IV Programs, such as the
programs administered by the U.S. Department of Veterans AÅairs and under the Workforce Investment Act.
In addition, many states also provide Ñnancial aid to our students in the form of grants, loans or scholarships.
The eligibility requirements for state Ñnancial aid and these other federal aid programs vary among the
funding agencies and by program. Several states that provide Ñnancial aid to our students, including
California, are facing signiÑcant budgetary constraints. We believe that the overall level of state Ñnancial aid
for our students is likely to decrease in the near term, but we cannot predict how signiÑcant any such
reductions will be or how long they will last.
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Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs
To participate in Title IV Programs, an institution must be authorized to oÅer its programs by the
relevant state education agencies, be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by ED and be
certiÑed as eligible by ED. ED will certify an institution to participate in Title IV Programs only after the
institution has demonstrated compliance with the Higher Education Act and ED's extensive regulations
regarding institutional eligibility. An institution must also demonstrate its compliance to ED on an ongoing
basis. These standards are applied primarily on an institutional basis, with an institution deÑned by ED as a
main campus and its additional locations, if any. Under this deÑnition, for ED purposes, we presently have the
following three institutions:
‚ Universal Technical Institute of Arizona
Main campus: Universal Technical Institute, Avondale, Arizona
Additional locations: Universal Technical Institute, Glendale Heights, Illinois
Universal Technical Institute, Rancho Cucamonga, California
NASCAR Technical Institute, Mooresville, North Carolina
‚ Clinton Technical Institute
Main campus: Motorcycle Mechanics Institute, Phoenix, Arizona
Additional location: Motorcycle and Marine Mechanics Institute, Orlando, Florida
‚ Universal Technical Institute of Texas
Main campus: Universal Technical Institute, Houston, Texas
Additional location: Universal Technical Institute, Exton, Pennsylvania
All of our schools except our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus, which has received its state authorization and
accreditation from the ACCSCT, are currently certiÑed by ED to participate in Title IV Programs. We have
applied to ED to have our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus certiÑed for participation in Title IV Programs,
and have sought approval for it to be designated as an additional location of our UTI/Houston campus.
The substantial amount of federal funds disbursed through Title IV Programs, the large number of
students and institutions participating in those programs and instances of fraud and abuse by some schools and
students in the past have caused Congress to require ED to increase its level of regulatory oversight.
Accrediting commissions and state education agencies also have responsibilities for overseeing compliance of
institutions with Title IV Program requirements. As a result, each of our institutions is subject to detailed
oversight and review, and must comply with a complex framework of laws and regulations. Because ED
periodically revises its regulations and changes its interpretation of existing laws and regulations, we cannot
predict with certainty how the Title IV Program requirements will be applied in all circumstances.
SigniÑcant factors relating to Title IV Programs that could adversely aÅect us include the following:
Congressional Action. Political and budgetary concerns signiÑcantly aÅect Title IV Programs. Congress
must reauthorize the Higher Education Act approximately every six years. The last reauthorization took place
in 1998. Consequently, Congress has begun the process of reviewing and reauthorizing the Higher Education
Act again, a process that is expected to be concluded in 2005. We believe that this reauthorization will likely
result in numerous changes to the Higher Education Act. At this time, we cannot determine what changes
Congress will make.
In addition, Congress reviews and determines federal appropriations for Title IV Programs on an annual
basis. Congress can also make changes in the laws aÅecting Title IV Programs in the annual appropriations
bills and in other laws it enacts between the Higher Education Act reauthorizations. Since a signiÑcant
percentage of our net revenues is derived from Title IV Programs, any action by Congress that signiÑcantly
reduces Title IV Program funding or the ability of our schools or students to participate in Title IV Programs
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could reduce our student enrollment and net revenues. Congressional action may also increase our administrative costs and require us to modify our practices in order for our schools to comply fully with Title IV Program
requirements.
The ""90/10 Rule.'' A proprietary institution, such as each of our institutions, loses its eligibility to
participate in Title IV Programs if, on a cash accounting basis, it derives more than 90% of its revenue for any
Ñscal year from Title IV Programs. Any institution that violates this rule becomes ineligible to participate in
Title IV Programs as of the Ñrst day of the Ñscal year following the Ñscal year in which it exceeds 90%, and is
unable to apply to regain its eligibility until the next Ñscal year. If one of our institutions violated the 90/10
Rule and became ineligible to participate in Title IV Programs but continued to disburse Title IV Program
funds, ED would require the institution to repay all Title IV Program funds received by the institution after
the eÅective date of the loss of eligibility.
We have calculated that, for each of our 2002, 2003 and 2004 Ñscal years, none of our institutions derived
more than 80.5% of its revenue from Title IV Programs for any Ñscal year. For our 2004 Ñscal year, our
institutions' 90/10 Rule percentages ranged from 71.8% to 76.3%. We regularly monitor compliance with this
requirement to minimize the risk that any of our institutions would derive more than the maximum percentage
of its revenue from Title IV Programs for any Ñscal year.
Student Loan Defaults. An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or all Title IV
Programs if the rates at which the institution's current and former students default on their federal student
loans exceed speciÑed percentages. ED calculates these rates based on the number of students who have
defaulted, not the dollar amount of such defaults. ED calculates an institution's cohort default rate on an
annual basis as the rate at which borrowers scheduled to begin repayment on their loans in one year default on
those loans by the end of the next year. An institution whose FFEL cohort default rate is 25% or greater for
three consecutive federal Ñscal years ending September 30th loses eligibility to participate in the FFEL and
Pell programs for the remainder of the federal Ñscal year in which ED determines that such institution has lost
its eligibility and for the two subsequent federal Ñscal years. An institution whose FFEL cohort default rate for
any single federal Ñscal year exceeds 40% may have its eligibility to participate in all Title IV Programs
limited, suspended or terminated by ED.
None of our institutions has had an FFEL cohort default rate of 25% or greater for any of the federal
Ñscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, the three most recent years for which ED has published such rates. The
following table sets forth the FFEL cohort default rates for our institutions for those years.
School

FFEL Cohort Default Rate
2000
2001
2002

UTI/Arizona ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Clinton Technical InstituteÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
UTI/Texas ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

6.7%
8.7%
15.6%

4.4%
5.9%
8.1%

7.5%
7.4%
11.2%

An institution whose cohort default rate under the FFEL program is 25% or greater for any one of the
three most recent federal Ñscal years, or whose cohort default rate under the Perkins program exceeds 15% for
any federal award year (the twelve-month period from July 1 through June 30), may be placed on provisional
certiÑcation status by ED for up to four years. In recertifying all of our institutions for continued participation
in Title IV Programs in July 2003, ED did not place any of our institutions on provisional certiÑcation for their
FFEL or Perkins cohort default rates. All of our institutions have Perkins cohort default rates less than 15%
for students who were scheduled to begin repayment in the 2001-2002 federal award year, the most recent
federal award year for which ED has published such rates.
An institution whose Perkins cohort default rate is 50% or greater for three consecutive federal award
years loses eligibility to participate in the Perkins program for the remainder of the federal award year in which
ED determines that the institution has lost its eligibility and for the two subsequent federal award years. None
of our institutions has had a Perkins cohort default rate of 50% or greater for any of the last three federal award
years. ED also will not provide any additional federal funds to an institution for Perkins loans in any federal
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award year in which the institution's Perkins cohort default rate is 25% or greater. None of our institutions has
had its federal Perkins funding eliminated for the last two federal award years for this reason.
Financial Responsibility Standards. All institutions participating in Title IV Programs must satisfy
speciÑc standards of Ñnancial responsibility. ED evaluates institutions for compliance with these standards
each year, based on the institution's annual audited Ñnancial statements, as well as following a change of
control of the institution.
The most signiÑcant Ñnancial responsibility measurement is the institution's composite score, which is
calculated by ED based on three ratios:
‚ the equity ratio, which measures the institution's capital resources, ability to borrow and Ñnancial
viability;
‚ the primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution's ability to support current operations from
expendable resources; and
‚ the net income ratio, which measures the institution's ability to operate at a proÑt.
ED assigns a strength factor to the results of each of these ratios on a scale from negative 1.0 to positive
3.0, with negative 1.0 reÖecting Ñnancial weakness and positive 3.0 reÖecting Ñnancial strength. ED then
assigns a weighting percentage to each ratio and adds the weighted scores for the three ratios together to
produce a composite score for the institution. The composite score must be at least 1.5 for the institution to be
deemed Ñnancially responsible without the need for further oversight. If ED determines that an institution
does not satisfy ED's Ñnancial responsibility standards, depending on its composite score and other factors,
that institution may establish its Ñnancial responsibility on an alternative basis by, among other things:
‚ posting a letter of credit in an amount equal to at least 50% of the total Title IV Program funds
received by the institution during the institution's most recently completed Ñscal year;
‚ posting a letter of credit in an amount equal to at least 10% of such prior year's Title IV Program funds,
accepting provisional certiÑcation, complying with additional ED monitoring requirements and
agreeing to receive Title IV Program funds under an arrangement other than ED's standard advance
funding arrangement; or
‚ complying with additional ED monitoring requirements and agreeing to receive Title IV Program funds
under an arrangement other than ED's standard advance funding arrangement.
ED evaluates the Ñnancial condition of our institutions on a consolidated basis based on the Ñnancial
statements of Universal Technical Institute, Inc., as the parent company. ED's regulations permit ED to
examine the Ñnancial statements of Universal Technical Institute, Inc., the Ñnancial statements of each
institution and the Ñnancial statements of any related party.
Based on its review of the Ñnancial statements of Universal Technical Institute, Inc. for our Ñscal years
2001, 2002 and 2003, ED found that we did not have a composite score of 1.5 or higher. Consequently, we are
required to post a letter of credit on behalf of our institutions in favor of ED and to accept provisional
certiÑcation and additional ED reporting and monitoring procedures, including the submission of monthly
Ñnancial and performance reports to ED. We currently have posted a letter of credit in the amount of
$14.4 million, representing approximately 10% of the total Title IV Program funds received by our institutions
in our 2003 Ñscal year, as calculated by ED. In addition, all of our institutions are provisionally certiÑed and
are required to credit their students' accounts before requesting and receiving Title IV Program funds on
behalf of their students, and two of our institutions are required to Ñle additional reports with ED regarding
their receipt of Title IV Program funds. Based on the results of our initial public oÅering and our Ñnancial
performance for Ñscal year 2004, we believe that we will satisfy ED's Ñnancial responsibility standards based
on our audited Ñnancial statements for our 2004 Ñscal year, which we anticipate Ñling with ED in early 2005.
However, a release from the requirement to post a letter of credit is discretionary and we have no assurance
that this requirement will be released by ED.
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Return of Title IV Funds. A school participating in Title IV Programs must calculate the amount of
unearned Title IV Program funds that have been disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational
programs before completing them, and must return those unearned funds to ED or the applicable lending
institution in a timely manner, which is generally within 30 days from the date the institution determines that
the student has withdrawn.
If an institution is cited in an audit or program review for returning Title IV Program funds late for 5% or
more of the students in the audit or program review sample of students for whom refunds should have been
made, the institution must post a letter of credit in favor of ED in an amount equal to 25% of the total amount
of Title IV Program funds that should have been returned for students who withdrew in the institution's
previous Ñscal year. Our 2002 Ñscal year Title IV compliance audits cited UTI/Texas and MMI for exceeding
the 5% late payment threshold. While ordinarily we would be required to post letters of credit for this reason,
ED informed us that we were not required to post these additional letters of credit because we had already
posted a larger letter of credit as a result of our Ñnancial responsibility composite score being less than 1.5. Our
2003 and 2004 Ñscal year Title IV compliance audits did not cite any of our institutions for exceeding the 5%
late payment threshold.
School Acquisitions. When a company acquires a school that is eligible to participate in Title IV
Programs, that school undergoes a change of ownership resulting in a change of control as deÑned by ED.
Upon such a change of control, a school's eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs is generally suspended
until it has applied for recertiÑcation by ED as an eligible school under its new ownership, which requires that
the school also re-establish its state authorization and accreditation. ED may temporarily and provisionally
certify an institution seeking approval of a change of control under certain circumstances while ED reviews the
institution's application. The time required for ED to act on such an application may vary substantially. ED's
recertiÑcation of an institution following a change of control will be on a provisional basis. Our expansion plans
are based, in part, on our ability to acquire additional schools and have them certiÑed by ED to participate in
Title IV Programs. Our expansion plans take into account the approval requirements of ED and the relevant
state education agencies and accrediting commissions.
Change of Control. In addition to school acquisitions, other types of transactions can also cause a
change of control. ED, most state education agencies and our accrediting commission all have standards
pertaining to the change of control of schools, but these standards are not uniform. ED's regulations describe
some transactions that constitute a change of control, including the transfer of a controlling interest in the
voting stock of an institution or the institution's parent corporation. With respect to a publicly-traded
corporation, such as us, ED regulations provide that a change of control occurs in one of two ways: (a) if there
is an event that would obligate the corporation to Ñle a Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission disclosing a change of control or (b) if the corporation has a stockholder that owns at
least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation and is the largest stockholder of the
corporation, and that stockholder ceases to own at least 25% of such stock or ceases to be the largest
stockholder. These change of control standards are subject to interpretation by ED. Most of the states and our
accrediting commission include the sale of a controlling interest of common stock in the deÑnition of a change
of control. A change of control under the deÑnition of one of these agencies would require the aÅected school
to reaÇrm its state authorization or accreditation. The requirements to obtain such reaÇrmation from the
states and our accrediting commission vary widely.
A change of control could occur as a result of future transactions in which our company or schools are
involved. Some corporate reorganizations and some changes in the board of directors are examples of such
transactions. Moreover, the potential adverse eÅects of a change of control could inÖuence future decisions by
us and our stockholders regarding the sale, purchase, transfer, issuance or redemption of our stock. If a future
transaction results in a change of control of our company or our schools, we believe that we will be able to
obtain all necessary approvals from ED, our accrediting commission and the applicable state education
agencies. However, we cannot assure you that all such approvals can be obtained at all or in a timely manner
that will not delay or reduce the availability of Title IV Program funds for our students and schools.
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Opening Additional Schools and Adding Educational Programs. For-proÑt educational institutions
must be authorized by their state education agencies and fully operational for two years before applying to ED
to participate in Title IV Programs. However, an institution that is certiÑed to participate in Title IV Programs
may establish an additional location and apply to participate in Title IV Programs at that location without
reference to the two-year requirement, if such additional location satisÑes all other applicable ED eligibility
requirements. Our expansion plans are based, in part, on our ability to open new schools as additional locations
of our existing institutions and take into account ED's approval requirements. We have applied to ED to have
our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus certiÑed for participation in Title IV Programs and have sought approval
for it to be designated as an additional location of our UTI/Houston campus.
A student may use Title IV Program funds only to pay the costs associated with enrollment in an eligible
educational program oÅered by an institution participating in Title IV Programs. Generally, an institution that
is eligible to participate in Title IV Programs may add a new educational program without ED approval if that
new program leads to an associate level or higher degree and the institution already oÅers programs at that
level, or if that program prepares students for gainful employment in the same or a related occupation as an
educational program that has previously been designated as an eligible program at that institution and meets
minimum length requirements. If an institution erroneously determines that an educational program is eligible
for purposes of Title IV Programs, the institution would likely be liable for repayment of Title IV Program
funds provided to students in that educational program. Our expansion plans are based, in part, on our ability
to add new educational programs at our existing schools. We do not believe that current ED regulations will
create signiÑcant obstacles to our plans to add new programs.
Some of the state education agencies and our accrediting commission also have requirements that may
aÅect our schools' ability to open a new campus, establish an additional location of an existing institution or
begin oÅering a new educational program. We do not believe that these standards will create signiÑcant
obstacles to our expansion plans.
Administrative Capability. ED assesses the administrative capability of each institution that participates in Title IV Programs under a series of separate standards. Failure to satisfy any of the standards may
lead ED to Ñnd the institution ineligible to participate in Title IV Programs or to place the institution on
provisional certiÑcation as a condition of its participation. One standard that applies to programs with the
stated objective of preparing students for employment requires the institution to show a reasonable
relationship between the length of the program and the entry-level job requirements of the relevant Ñeld of
employment. We believe we have made the required showing for each of our applicable programs.
Other standards provide that an institution may be found to lack administrative capability and be placed
on provisional certiÑcation if its student loan default rate under the FFEL program is 25% or greater for any of
the three most recent federal Ñscal years, or if its Perkins cohort default rate exceeds 15% for any federal
award year. In recertifying all of our institutions for continued participation in Title IV Programs in July 2003,
ED did not Ñnd that any of our institutions lacked administrative capability and did not impose provisional
certiÑcation requirements on any of our institutions for their student loan default rates.
Restrictions on Payment of Commissions, Bonuses and Other Incentive Payments. An institution
participating in Title IV Programs may not provide any commission, bonus or other incentive payment based
directly or indirectly on success in securing enrollments or Ñnancial aid to any person or entity engaged in any
student recruiting or admission activities or in making decisions regarding the awarding of Title IV Program
funds. In November 2002, ED published new regulations, which took eÅect in July 2003, to attempt to clarify
this so-called ""incentive compensation'' law. The new regulations identify twelve compensation arrangements
that ED has determined are not in violation of the incentive compensation law, including the payment and
adjustment of salaries, bonuses and commissions in certain circumstances. ED's new regulations do not
establish clear criteria for compliance in all circumstances, and ED has announced that it will no longer review
and approve individual schools' compensation plans. Nonetheless, we believe that our current compensation
plans are in compliance with the Higher Education Act and ED's new regulations, although we cannot assure
you that ED will not Ñnd deÑciencies in our compensation plans.
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Eligibility and CertiÑcation Procedures. Each institution must apply to ED for continued certiÑcation
to participate in Title IV Programs at least every six years, or when it undergoes a change of control, and an
institution may come under ED review when it expands its activities in certain ways, such as opening an
additional location or raising the highest academic credential it oÅers. ED may place an institution on
provisional certiÑcation status if it Ñnds that the institution does not fully satisfy all of the eligibility and
certiÑcation standards. ED may withdraw an institution's provisional certiÑcation without advance notice if
ED determines that the institution is not fulÑlling all material requirements. In addition, ED may more closely
review an institution that is provisionally certiÑed if it applies for approval to open a new location, add an
educational program, acquire another school or make any other signiÑcant change. Provisional certiÑcation
does not otherwise limit an institution's access to Title IV Program funds.
All of our institutions were recertiÑed by ED in July 2003 for continued participation in Title IV
Programs through June 2006. All of the recertiÑcations were on a provisional basis, based on our composite
score at the parent company level under ED's Ñnancial responsibility formula. In addition, ED has informed us
that it intends to issue revised certiÑcation documents to our institutions to clarify the corporate ownership
structure of our institutions and campuses participating in the Title IV Programs, and we have provided
additional information to ED for this purpose.
Compliance with Regulatory Standards and EÅect of Regulatory Violations. Our schools are subject to
audits and program compliance reviews by various external agencies, including ED, ED's OÇce of Inspector
General, state education agencies, student loan guaranty agencies, the U.S. Department of Veterans AÅairs
and our accrediting commission. Each of our institutions' administration of Title IV Program funds must also
be audited annually by an independent accounting Ñrm, and the resulting audit report submitted to ED for
review. If ED or another regulatory agency determined that one of our institutions improperly disbursed
Title IV Program funds or violated a provision of the Higher Education Act or ED's regulations, that
institution could be required to repay such funds and could be assessed an administrative Ñne. ED could also
transfer the institution to the reimbursement system of receiving Title IV Program funds, under which an
institution must disburse its own funds to students and document the students' eligibility for Title IV Program
funds before receiving such funds from ED. Violations of Title IV Program requirements could also subject us
or our schools to other civil and criminal penalties.
SigniÑcant violations of Title IV Program requirements by us or any of our institutions could be the basis
for a proceeding by ED to limit, suspend or terminate the participation of the aÅected institution in Title IV
Programs. Generally, such a termination extends for 18 months before the institution may apply for
reinstatement of its participation. There is no ED proceeding pending to Ñne any of our institutions or to limit,
suspend or terminate any of our institutions' participation in Title IV Programs, and we have no reason to
believe that any such proceeding is contemplated.
We and our schools are also subject to complaints and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance brought
not only by our regulatory agencies, but also by other government agencies and third parties, such as present or
former students or employees and other members of the public. If we are unable to successfully resolve or
defend against any such complaint or lawsuit, we may be required to pay money damages or be subject to
Ñnes, limitations, loss of federal funding, injunctions or other penalties. Moreover, even if we successfully
resolve or defend against any such complaint or lawsuit, we may have to devote signiÑcant Ñnancial and
management resources in order to reach such a result.
Predominant Use of One Lender and One Guaranty Agency. Our students have traditionally received
their FFEL student loans from a limited number of lending institutions. For example, in our 2004 Ñscal year,
one lending institution, Sallie Mae, provided more than 95% of the FFEL loans that our students received. In
addition, in our 2004 Ñscal year, one student loan guaranty agency, EdFund, guaranteed more than 95% of the
FFEL loans made to our students. Sallie Mae and EdFund are among the largest student loan lending
institutions and guaranty agencies, respectively, in the United States in terms of loan volume. We do not
believe that either one intends to withdraw from the student loan Ñeld or reduce the volume of loans it makes
or guarantees in the near future. If loans by our primary lender or guarantees by our primary guaranty agency
were signiÑcantly reduced or no longer available, we believe that we would be able to identify other lenders
19

and guarantors to make and guarantee those loans for our students because the student loan industry is highly
competitive and we are frequently approached by other lenders and guarantors seeking our business. If we
were not able to timely identify other lenders and guarantors to make and guarantee those loans for our
students, that could delay our students' receipt of their loans, extend our tuition collection cycle and reduce
our student population and net revenues.
Cautionary Factors That May AÅect Future Results
Cautionary Statements Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:
Our disclosure and analysis in this 2004 Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which include information relating to future
events, future Ñnancial performance, strategies, expectations, competitive environment, regulation and availability of resources. From time to time, we also provide forward-looking statements in other materials we
release to the public as well as oral forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include,
without limitation, statements regarding: proposed new programs; scheduled openings of new campuses and
campus expansions; expectations that regulatory developments or other matters will not have a material
adverse eÅect on our consolidated Ñnancial position, results of operations or liquidity; statements concerning
projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts as to our business, Ñnancial and operational
results and future economic performance; and statements of management's goals and objectives and other
similar expressions. Such statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events; they do not
relate strictly to historical or current facts. Words such as ""may,'' ""will,'' ""should,'' ""could,'' ""would,''
""predicts,'' ""potential,'' ""continue,'' ""expects,'' ""anticipates,'' ""future,'' ""intends,'' ""plans,'' ""believes,'' ""estimates,'' and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify forward-looking statements.
We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have
been prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and
potentially inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could diÅer materially from past results and those
anticipated, estimated or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in our Form 10-Q and 8-K reports to the SEC. Also note that we provide the following
cautionary discussion of risks, uncertainties and possibly inaccurate assumptions relevant to our business.
These are factors that, individually or in the aggregate, we think could cause our actual results to diÅer
materially from expected and historical results. We note these factors for investors as permitted by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all
such factors. Consequently, you should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of all potential
risks or uncertainties.
Risks Related to Our Industry
Failure of our schools to comply with the extensive regulatory requirements for school operations could
result in Ñnancial penalties, restrictions on our operations and loss of external Ñnancial aid funding.
In our 2004 Ñscal year, we derived approximately 72% of our net revenues from federal student Ñnancial
aid programs, referred to in this report as Title IV Programs, administered by the U.S. Department of
Education, or ED. To participate in Title IV Programs, a school must receive and maintain authorization by
the appropriate state education agencies, be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by ED and
be certiÑed as an eligible institution by ED. As a result, our undergraduate schools are subject to extensive
regulation by the state education agencies, our accrediting commission and ED. These regulatory requirements cover the vast majority of our operations, including our undergraduate educational programs, facilities,
instructional and administrative staÅ, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, Ñnancial operations
and Ñnancial condition. These regulatory requirements also aÅect our ability to acquire or open additional
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schools, add new, or expand our existing, undergraduate educational programs and change our corporate
structure and ownership. Most ED requirements are applied on an institutional basis, with an institution
deÑned by ED as a main campus and its additional locations, if any. Under ED's deÑnition, we have three
such institutions. The state education agencies, our accrediting commission and ED periodically revise their
requirements and modify their interpretations of existing requirements.
If our schools failed to comply with any of these regulatory requirements, our regulatory agencies could
impose monetary penalties, place limitations on our schools' operations, terminate our schools' ability to grant
degrees, diplomas and certiÑcates, revoke our schools' accreditation or terminate their eligibility to receive
Title IV Program funds, each of which could adversely aÅect our Ñnancial condition and results of operations
and impose signiÑcant operating restrictions upon us. In addition, the loss by any of our institutions of its
accreditation necessary for Title IV Program eligibility, or the cancellation of any such institution's ability to
participate in Title IV Programs, in each case that is not cured within a speciÑed period, constitutes an event
of default under our credit facility agreement. We cannot predict with certainty how all of these regulatory
requirements will be applied or whether each of our schools will be able to comply with all of the requirements
in the future. We have described some of the most signiÑcant regulatory risks that apply to our schools in the
following paragraphs.
Congress may change the law or reduce funding for Title IV Programs, which could reduce our student
population, net revenues and/or proÑt margin.
Congress periodically revises the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, and other laws governing
Title IV Programs and annually determines the funding level for each Title IV Program. Congress began the
process of reviewing and reauthorizing the Higher Education Act in 2003 and is expected to conclude the
process in 2005, which will likely result in numerous changes to the law. Any action by Congress that
signiÑcantly reduces funding for Title IV Programs or the ability of our schools or students to receive funding
through these programs could reduce our student population and net revenues. Congressional action may also
require us to modify our practices in ways that could result in increased administrative costs and decreased
proÑt margin.
If our schools do not maintain their state authorizations, they may not operate or participate in Title IV
Programs.
A school that grants degrees, diplomas or certiÑcates must be authorized by the relevant education
agency of the state in which it is located. Requirements for authorization vary substantially among states.
State authorization is also required for students to be eligible for funding under Title IV Programs. Loss of
state authorization by any of our schools from the education agency of the state in which the school is located
would end that school's eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs and could cause us to close the school.
If our schools do not maintain their accreditation, they may not participate in Title IV Programs.
A school must be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by ED in order to participate in
Title IV Programs. Loss of accreditation by any of our schools would end that school's participation in Title IV
Programs and could cause us to close the school.
We are subject to sanctions if we fail to correctly calculate and timely return Title IV Program funds for
students who withdraw before completing their educational program.
A school participating in Title IV Programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV
Program funds that has been disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational programs before
completing them and must return those unearned funds in a timely manner, generally within 30 days of the
date the school determines that the student has withdrawn. If the unearned funds are not properly calculated
and timely returned, we may have to post a letter of credit in favor of ED or be otherwise sanctioned by ED,
which could increase our cost of regulatory compliance and adversely aÅect our results of operations. With
respect to our 2002 Ñscal year, two of our institutions made late returns of Title IV Program funds in excess of
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ED's prescribed threshold but were not required to post letters of credit because we had already posted a letter
of credit for a greater amount as a result of our failure to satisfy ED's Ñnancial responsibility formula. Based
on our 2003 and 2004 Ñscal year Title IV compliance audits, none of our institutions made late returns of
Title IV Program funds in excess of ED's prescribed threshold.
Our schools may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs if the percentage of their revenue
derived from those programs is too high, which could reduce our student population.
A for-proÑt institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs if, on a cash accounting
basis, it derives more than 90% of its revenue from those programs in any Ñscal year. In our 2004 Ñscal year,
under the regulatory formula prescribed by ED, none of our institutions derived more than 77% of its revenues
from Title IV Programs. If any of our institutions loses eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs, that loss
would adversely aÅect our students' access to various government-sponsored student Ñnancial aid programs,
which could reduce our student population.
Our schools may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs if their student loan default rates
are too high, which could reduce our student population.
An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or all Title IV Programs if its former students
default on the repayment of their federal student loans in excess of speciÑed levels. Based upon the most
recent oÇcial student loan default rates published by ED, none of our institutions has student loan default
rates that exceed the speciÑed levels. If any of our institutions loses eligibility to participate in Title IV
Programs because of high student loan default rates, that loss would adversely aÅect our students' access to
various government-sponsored student Ñnancial aid programs, which could reduce our student population.
If we or our schools do not meet the Ñnancial responsibility standards prescribed by ED, we may be
required to post letters of credit or our eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs could be terminated
or limited, which could reduce our student population.
To participate in Title IV Programs, an institution must satisfy speciÑc measures of Ñnancial responsibility prescribed by ED or post a letter of credit in favor of ED and possibly accept other conditions on its
participation in Title IV Programs. Currently, due to our failure as a parent company to satisfy ED's Ñnancial
responsibility formula for our 2003 Ñscal year, we have posted a letter of credit in the amount of $14.4 million
for all of our schools, representing 10% of Title IV Program funds received by our institutions in our 2003
Ñscal year. We may be required to increase the amount of the existing letter of credit or post additional letters
of credit in the future. Our obligation to post one or more letters of credit could increase our costs of regulatory
compliance. Our inability to obtain a required letter of credit or other limitations on our participation in
Title IV Programs could limit our students' access to various government-sponsored student Ñnancial aid
programs, which could reduce our student population.
We are subject to sanctions if we pay impermissible commissions, bonuses or other incentive payments to
individuals involved in certain recruiting, admissions or Ñnancial aid activities.
A school participating in Title IV Programs may not provide any commission, bonus or other incentive
payment based on success in enrolling students or securing Ñnancial aid to any person involved in any student
recruiting or admission activities or in making decisions regarding the awarding of Title IV Program funds.
The law and regulations governing this requirement do not establish clear criteria for compliance in all
circumstances. If we violate this law, we could be Ñned or otherwise sanctioned by ED.
If regulators do not approve our acquisition of a school that participates in Title IV funding, the
acquired school would not be permitted to participate in Title IV Programs, which could impair our
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ability to operate the acquired school as planned or to realize the anticipated beneÑts from the
acquisition of that school.
If we acquire a school that participates in Title IV funding, we must obtain approval from ED and
applicable state education agencies and accrediting commissions in order for the school to be able to continue
operating and participating in Title IV Programs. An acquisition can result in the temporary suspension of the
acquired school's participation in Title IV Programs unless we submit a timely and materially complete
application for recertiÑcation to ED and ED grants a temporary certiÑcation. If we were unable to timely reestablish the state authorization, accreditation or ED certiÑcation of the acquired school, our ability to operate
the acquired school as planned or to realize the anticipated beneÑts from the acquisition of that school could
be impaired.
If regulators do not approve or delay their approval of transactions involving a change of control of our
company or any of our schools, our ability to participate in Title IV Programs may be impaired.
If we or any of our schools experience a change of control under the standards of applicable state
education agencies, our accrediting commission or ED, we or the aÅected schools must seek the approval of
the relevant regulatory agencies. Transactions or events that constitute a change of control include signiÑcant
acquisitions or dispositions of our common stock or signiÑcant changes in the composition of our board of
directors. Some of these transactions or events may be beyond our control. Our failure to obtain, or a delay in
receiving, approval of any change of control from ED, our accrediting commission or any state in which our
schools are located could impair our ability to participate in Title IV Programs. Our failure to obtain, or a
delay in obtaining, approval of any change of control from any state in which we do not have a school but in
which we recruit students could require us to suspend our recruitment of students in that state until we receive
the required approval. The potential adverse eÅects of a change of control with respect to participation in
Title IV Programs could inÖuence future decisions by us and our stockholders regarding the sale, purchase,
transfer, issuance or redemption of our stock.
Government and regulatory agencies and third parties may conduct compliance reviews, bring claims or
initiate litigation against us.
Because we operate in a highly regulated industry, we are subject to compliance reviews and claims of
non-compliance and lawsuits by government agencies, regulatory agencies and third parties. While we are
committed to strict compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and accrediting standards, if the results of
government, regulatory or third party reviews or proceedings are unfavorable to us, or if we are unable to
defend successfully against lawsuits or claims, we may be required to pay money damages or be subject to
Ñnes, limitations, loss of federal funding, injunctions or other penalties. Even if we adequately address issues
raised by an agency review or successfully defend a lawsuit or claim, we may have to divert signiÑcant Ñnancial
and management resources from our ongoing business operations to address issues raised by those reviews or
defend those lawsuits or claims.
Our business and stock price could be adversely aÅected as a result of regulatory investigations of, or
actions commenced against, other companies in our industry.
Over the last year, the operations of a number of companies in the education and training services
industry have been subject to intense regulatory scrutiny. In some cases, allegations of wrongdoing on the part
of such companies have resulted in formal or informal investigations by the U.S. Department of Justice and/or
ED, which in turn have caused a signiÑcant decline in the stock price of such companies. These investigations
of speciÑc companies in the education and training services industry could have a negative impact on our
industry as a whole and on our stock price. Furthermore, the outcome of such investigations and any
accompanying adverse publicity could negatively aÅect our business.
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A high percentage of the Title IV student loans our students receive are made by one lender and
guaranteed by one guaranty agency.
In our 2004 Ñscal year, one lender, Sallie Mae, provided more than 95% of all the federally guaranteed
Title IV student loans that our students received, and one student loan guaranty agency, EdFund, guaranteed
more than 95% of those loans made to our students. Sallie Mae is one of the largest lenders of federally
guaranteed Title IV student loans in the United States in terms of dollar volume, and EdFund is one of the
largest guaranty agencies in the United States. If loans by Sallie Mae or guarantees by EdFund were
signiÑcantly reduced or no longer available and we were not able to timely identify other lenders and
guarantors to make or guarantee Title IV Program loans for our students, there could be a delay in our
students' receipt of their loan funds or in our tuition collection, which would reduce our student population.
Budget constraints in some states may aÅect our ability to obtain necessary authorizations or approvals
from those states to conduct or change our operations.
Due to state budget constraints in some of the states in which we operate, such as Illinois, Texas and
California, it is possible that those states may reduce the number of employees in, or curtail the operations of,
the state education agencies that authorize our schools. A delay or refusal by any state education agency in
approving any changes in our operations that require state approval, such as the opening of a new campus, the
introduction of new programs, a change of control or the hiring or placement of new education representatives,
could prevent us from making such changes or could delay our ability to make such changes.
Budget constraints in states that provide state Ñnancial aid to our students could reduce the amount of
such Ñnancial aid that is available to our students, which could reduce our student population.
A signiÑcant number of states are facing budget constraints that are causing them to reduce state
appropriations in a number of areas. Those states include California, which is one of the states that provide
Ñnancial aid to our students. We expect that California and other states may decide to reduce the amount of
state Ñnancial aid that they provide to students, but we cannot predict how signiÑcant any of these reductions
will be or how long they will last. If the level of state funding for our students decreases and our students are
not able to secure alternative sources of funding, our student population could be reduced.
Risks Related to Our Business
If we fail to eÅectively manage our growth, we may incur higher costs and expenses than we anticipate
in connection with our growth.
We have experienced a period of signiÑcant growth since 1998. Our continued growth may strain our
management, operations, employees or other resources. We may not be able to maintain or accelerate our
current growth rate, eÅectively manage our expanding operations or achieve planned growth on a timely or
proÑtable basis. If we are unable to manage our growth eÅectively while maintaining appropriate internal
controls, we may experience operating ineÇciencies that likely will increase our costs more than we had
planned.
Failure on our part to maintain and expand existing industry relationships and develop new industry
relationships with our industry customers could impair our ability to attract and retain students.
We have an extensive set of industry relationships that we believe aÅords us a signiÑcant competitive
strength and supports our market leadership. These types of relationships enable us to further drive
undergraduate enrollment by attracting students through brand name recognition and the associated prospect
of high-quality employment opportunities. Additionally, these relationships allow us to diversify funding
sources, expand the scope and increase the number of programs we oÅer and reduce our costs and capital
expenditures due to the fact that, pursuant to the terms of the underlying contracts, we provide a variety of
specialized training programs and typically do so using tools, equipment and vehicles provided by the OEMs.
These relationships also provide additional incremental revenue opportunities from retraining the employees of
our industry customers. Our success, therefore, depends in part on our ability to maintain and expand our
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existing industry relationships and to enter into new industry relationships. Certain of our existing industry
relationships, including those with American Suzuki Motor Corp., Harley-Davidson Motor Co., Kawasaki
Motors Corp., U.S.A., Volvo Penta of the Americas, Inc. and Yamaha Motor Corp., USA, as well as the
motorcycle training agreement with American Honda Co., Inc., are not memorialized in writing and are based
on oral understandings. As a result, the rights of the parties under these arrangements are less clearly deÑned
than they would be were they in writing. Additionally, certain of our existing industry relationship agreements
expire within the next six months. We are currently negotiating to renew these agreements and intend to renew
them to the extent we can do so on satisfactory terms. The reduction or elimination of, or failure to renew any
of our existing industry relationships, or our failure to enter into new industry relationships, could impair our
ability to attract and retain students. As a result, our market share and net revenues could decrease.
Failure on our part to eÅectively identify, establish and operate additional schools or campuses could
reduce our ability to implement our growth strategy.
As part of our business strategy, we anticipate opening and operating new schools or campuses.
Establishing new schools or campuses poses unique challenges and requires us to make investments in
management and capital expenditures, incur marketing expenses and devote other resources that are diÅerent,
and in some cases greater, than those required with respect to the operation of acquired schools. Accordingly,
when we open new schools, initial investments could reduce our proÑtability. To open a new school or campus,
we would be required to obtain appropriate state and accrediting commission approvals, which may be
conditioned or delayed in a manner that could signiÑcantly aÅect our growth plans. In addition, to be eligible
for federal Title IV student Ñnancial aid programs, a new school or campus would have to be certiÑed by ED.
We cannot be sure that we will be able to identify suitable expansion opportunities to maintain or accelerate
our current growth rate or that we will be able to successfully integrate or proÑtably operate any new schools or
campuses. A failure by us to eÅectively identify, establish and manage the operations of newly established
schools or campuses could slow our growth and make any newly established schools or campuses more costly
to operate than we had planned.
Our success depends in part on our ability to update and expand the content of existing programs and
develop new programs in a cost-eÅective manner and on a timely basis.
Increasingly, prospective employers of our graduates demand that their entry-level employees possess
appropriate technological skills. These skills are becoming more sophisticated in line with technological
advancements in the automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine industries. Accordingly,
educational programs at our schools should keep pace with those technological advancements. The expansion
of our existing programs and the development of new programs may not be accepted by our students,
prospective employers or the technical education market. Even if we are able to develop acceptable new
programs, we may not be able to introduce these new programs as quickly as the industries we serve require or
as quickly as our competitors do. If we are unable to adequately respond to changes in market requirements
due to Ñnancial constraints, unusually rapid technological changes or other factors, our ability to attract and
retain students could be impaired and our placement rates could suÅer.
We may not be able to retain our key personnel or hire and retain the personnel we need to sustain and
grow our business.
Our success to date has depended, and will continue to depend, largely on the skills, eÅorts and
motivation of our executive oÇcers who generally have signiÑcant experience with our company and within
the technical education industry. Our success also depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain
highly qualiÑed faculty, school directors, administrators and corporate management. Due to the nature of our
business, we face signiÑcant competition in the attraction and retention of personnel who possess the skill sets
that we seek. In addition, key personnel may leave us and subsequently compete against us. Furthermore, we
do not currently carry ""key man'' life insurance. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, or our
failure to attract and retain other qualiÑed and experienced personnel on acceptable terms, could impair our
ability to successfully manage our business.
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If we are unable to hire, retain and continue to develop and train our education representatives, the
eÅectiveness of our student recruiting eÅorts would be adversely aÅected.
In order to support revenue growth, we need to hire new education representatives, retain and continue to
develop and train our education representatives, who are our employees dedicated to student recruitment. Our
ability to develop a strong education representative team may be aÅected by a number of factors, including our
ability to integrate and motivate our education representatives; our ability to eÅectively train our education
representatives; the length of time it takes new education representatives to become productive; restrictions on
the method of compensating education representatives imposed by regulatory bodies; the competition we face
from other companies in hiring and retaining education representatives; and our ability to eÅectively manage a
multi-location educational organization. If we are unable to hire, develop or retain our education representatives, the eÅectiveness of our student recruiting eÅorts would be adversely aÅected.
Competition could decrease our market share and put downward pressure on our tuition rates.
The post-secondary education market is highly competitive. Some traditional public and private colleges
and universities, as well as other private career-oriented schools, oÅer programs that may be perceived by
students to be similar to ours. Most public institutions are able to charge lower tuition than our schools are,
due in part to government subsidies and other Ñnancial sources not available to for-proÑt schools. Some of our
competitors, such as Corinthian Colleges, Inc., also have substantially greater Ñnancial and other resources
than we have which may, among other things, allow them to secure industry relationships with some or all of
our existing strategic partners or develop other high proÑle industry relationships or devote more resources to
expanding their programs and their school network, all of which could aÅect the success of our marketing
programs. In addition, some of our competitors already have a more extended or dense network of schools and
campuses than we do, thus enabling them to recruit students more eÅectively from a wider geographical area.
We may be required to reduce tuition or increase spending in response to competition in order to retain or
attract students or pursue new market opportunities. As a result, our market share, net revenues and operating
margin may be decreased. We cannot be sure that we will be able to compete successfully against current or
future competitors or that competitive pressures faced by us will not adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial
condition or results of operations.
Our Ñnancial performance depends in part on our ability to continue to develop awareness and
acceptance of our programs among high school graduates and working adults looking to return to school.
The awareness of our programs among high school graduates and working adults looking to return to
school is critical to the continued acceptance and growth of our programs. Our inability to continue to develop
awareness of our programs could reduce our enrollments and impair our ability to increase net revenues or
maintain proÑtability. The following are some of the factors that could prevent us from successfully marketing
our programs:
‚ student dissatisfaction with our programs and services;
‚ diminished access to high school student population;
‚ our failure to maintain or expand our brand or other factors related to our marketing or advertising
practices; and
‚ our inability to maintain relationships with automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine
manufacturers and suppliers.
An increase in interest rates could adversely aÅect our ability to attract and retain students.
Interest rates have reached historical lows in recent years, creating a favorable borrowing environment for
our students. Much of the Ñnancing our students receive is tied to Öoating interest rates. Therefore, any future
increase in interest rates will result in a corresponding increase in the cost to our existing and prospective
students of Ñnancing their studies, which could result in a reduction in our student population and net
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revenues. Higher interest rates could also contribute to higher default rates with respect to our students'
repayment of their education loans. Higher default rates may in turn adversely impact our eligibility for
Title IV Program participation, which could result in a reduction in our student population.
Seasonal and other Öuctuations in our results of operations could adversely aÅect the trading price of
our common stock.
In reviewing our results of operations, you should not focus on quarter-to-quarter comparisons. Our
results in any quarter may not indicate the results we may achieve in any subsequent quarter or for the full
year. Our net revenues normally Öuctuate as a result of seasonal variations in our business, principally due to
changes in total student population. Student population varies as a result of new student enrollments,
graduations and student attrition. Historically, our schools have had lower student populations in our third
Ñscal quarter than in the remainder of our Ñscal year because fewer students are enrolled during the summer
months. Our expenses, however, do not generally vary at the same rate as changes in our student population
and net revenues and, as a result, such expenses do not Öuctuate signiÑcantly on a quarterly basis. We expect
quarterly Öuctuations in results of operations to continue as a result of seasonal enrollment patterns. Such
patterns may change, however, as a result of acquisitions, new school openings, new program introductions and
increased enrollments of adult students. In addition, our net revenues for our Ñrst Ñscal quarter are adversely
aÅected by the fact that we do not recognize revenue during the calendar year-end holiday break, which falls
primarily in that quarter. These Öuctuations may result in volatility or have an adverse eÅect on the market
price of our common stock.
Our assessment of the eÅectiveness of our internal control over Ñnancial reporting as required by
Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley may identify material weaknesses and may result in an attestation with
an adverse opinion from our auditors, each of which may adversely aÅect the trading price of our
common stock.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to include in our future Form 10-K Ñlings,
beginning with our Form 10-K for our Ñscal year ending September 30, 2005, a report by our management on
our internal control over Ñnancial reporting. In addition, a report by our independent auditors attesting as to
management's internal control report is required at that time. We have undertaken a program, using internal
and external resources, to document, test and assess the eÅectiveness of our internal control over Ñnancial
reporting. However, there can be no assurance that we will complete our documentation, testing and
assessment by the Ñling date for our 2005 Form 10-K. We are focusing our eÅorts on those control processes
that are most signiÑcant to our business and Ñnancial reporting. There can be no assurance, however, that
there will be suÇcient time and resources available before the Ñling date for our 2005 Form 10-K for our
auditors and us to complete the assessment, testing, and remediation of all of our key business processes. If our
internal control assessment identiÑes material weaknesses, we may receive an attestation with an adverse
opinion from our independent auditors as to the adequacy of our internal control over Ñnancial reporting. Each
of these consequences of our Section 404 assessment may have an adverse eÅect on student and market
perceptions of UTI and cause a decline in the market price of our common stock.
We may be unable to successfully complete or integrate future acquisitions.
We may consider selective acquisitions in the future. We may not be able to complete any acquisitions on
favorable terms or, even if we do, we may not be able to successfully integrate the acquired businesses into our
business. Integration challenges include, among others, regulatory approvals, signiÑcant capital expenditures,
assumption of known and unknown liabilities and our ability to control costs. The successful integration of
future acquisitions may also require substantial attention from our senior management and the senior
management of the acquired schools, which could decrease the time that they devote to the day-to-day
management of our business. If we do not successfully address risks and challenges associated with
acquisitions, including integration, future acquisitions could harm, rather than enhance, our operating
performance.
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In addition, if we consummate an acquisition, our capitalization and results of operations may change
signiÑcantly. A future acquisition could result in the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, an increase
in interest expense, amortization expenses, goodwill and other intangible assets, charges relating to integration
costs or an increase in the number of shares outstanding. These results could have a material adverse eÅect on
our results of operations or Ñnancial condition or result in dilution to current stockholders.
We have recorded a signiÑcant amount of goodwill, which may become impaired and subject to a writedown.
Our acquisition of the parent company of MMI in January 1998 resulted in the recording of goodwill.
Goodwill, which relates to the excess of cost over the fair value of the net assets of the business acquired, was
approximately $20.6 million at September 30, 2004, representing approximately 15.1% of our total assets at
that date.
Goodwill is recorded at fair value on the date of the acquisition and, under SFAS No. 142, ""Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,'' is reviewed at least annually for impairment. Impairment may result from, among
other things, deterioration in the performance of the acquired business, adverse market conditions, adverse
changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of the acquired business,
and a variety of other circumstances. The amount of any impairment must be recognized as an expense in the
period in which we determine that such impairment has occurred. Any future determination requiring the
write-oÅ of a signiÑcant portion of goodwill would have an adverse eÅect on our results of operations during
the Ñnancial reporting period in which the write-oÅ occurs.
Terrorist attacks and the possibility of wider armed conÖicts may adversely aÅect the U.S. economy and
may disrupt our provision of educational services.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war, such as those that took place on September 11, 2001
and the war between the U.S.-led coalition forces and Iraq, could disrupt our operations. Attacks or armed
conÖicts that directly impact our physical facilities or ability to recruit and retain students could signiÑcantly
aÅect our ability to provide educational services to our students and thereby impair our ability to achieve our
expected results. Furthermore, violent acts and threats of future attacks could adversely aÅect the U.S. and
world economies. Finally, future terrorist acts could cause the United States to enter into a wider armed
conÖict that could further impact our operations and result in prospective students, as well as our current
students and personnel, entering the armed services. These factors could cause signiÑcant declines in our
student population.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Campuses and Other Properties
The following chart provides information relating to our leased campuses and other leased properties:
School/Program

Campuses:

Home OÇce:

Location

UTI
UTI
UTI
UTI
UTI
MMI
MMI/UTI(1)
NTI
Headquarters

Avondale, Arizona
Houston, Texas
Glendale Heights, Illinois
Rancho Cucamonga, California
Exton, Pennsylvania
Phoenix, Arizona
Orlando, Florida
Mooresville, North Carolina
Phoenix, Arizona
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Approximate
Square Footage

247,700
178,000
125,000
173,100
160,000
118,000
168,000
146,000
60,000

School/Program

Advanced Training
Centers:

Location

Audi Academy
Audi Academy
Audi Academy
BMW STEP
BMW STEP
BMW STEP
BMW STEP
Jaguar PACE
International Tech
Education Program
Mercedes-Benz ELITE
Mercedes-Benz ELITE
Mercedes-Benz ELITE
Mercedes-Benz ELITE
Mercedes-Benz ELITE
Volkswagen VATRP
Volkswagen VATRP
Volkswagen VATRP
Volvo SAFE
Volvo SAFE

Approximate
Square Footage

Avondale, Arizona
Glendale Heights, Illinois
Allentown, Pennsylvania
Avondale, Arizona
Houston, Texas
Upper Saddle River, New Jersey
Orlando, Florida
Orlando, Florida

9,600
6,500
6,200
9,400
7,500
7,500
13,300
13,300

Carol Stream, Illinois
Rancho Cucamonga, California
Orlando, Florida
Houston, Texas
Glendale Heights, Illinois
Allentown, Pennsylvania
Glendale Heights, Illinois
Allentown, Pennsylvania
Rancho Cucamonga, California
Glendale Heights, Illinois
Avondale, Arizona

7,100
8,100
10,100
27,600
11,900
10,600
6,900
6,900
8,800
11,000
8,300

(1) The square footage includes approximately 60,000 square feet we took occupancy of in October 2004 to
accommodate the addition of an automotive technology program.
In addition, we have announced plans for new automotive technician training campuses in the Boston,
Massachusetts suburb of Norwood, Massachusetts, which we anticipate will open in the fourth quarter of our
2005 Ñscal year, and Sacramento, California, which we anticipate will open in the Ñrst half of our 2006 Ñscal
year.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary conduct of our business, we are periodically subject to lawsuits, investigations and claims,
including, but not limited to, claims involving students or graduates and routine employment matters.
Although we cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigations and claims
asserted against us, we do not believe that any currently pending legal proceeding to which we are a party will
have a material adverse eÅect on our business, results of operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial condition.
In April 2004, we received a letter on behalf of nine former employees of National Technology Transfer,
Inc. (NTT), an entity that we purchased in 1998 and subsequently sold, making a demand for an aggregate
payment of approximately $284,900 and 19,756 shares of our common stock. The claim is based on the
assertion that the former owner of NTT promised them such payments upon completion of a public oÅering of
our common stock. We believe the demand for payment is without merit. On May 14, 2004, plaintiÅs Ñled suit
in Boulder County, Colorado District Court seeking payment in accordance with their demand. We Ñled a
motion to dismiss due to lack of personal jurisdiction and improper venue. On November 10, 2004, the
Colorado District Court dismissed the suit on the basis that the forum selection clause in the agreement, under
which plaintiÅs claimed they were owed payment, speciÑed that any action arising under the agreement must
be brought in state or federal court in Phoenix, Arizona.
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ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC.
The executive oÇcers of the Company are set forth in this table. Each holds the oÇces indicated until his
or her successor is chosen and qualiÑed at the regular meeting of the Board of Directors to be held
immediately following the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Name

Age

Robert D. Hartman ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
John C. WhiteÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

56
56

Kimberly J. McWatersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Jennifer L. HaslipÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

40
39

David K. MillerÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Roger L. Speer ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

46
46

Position

Chairman of the Board
Chief Strategic Planning OÇcer and Vice
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive OÇcer and President
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer,
Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
Senior Vice President of Admissions
Senior Vice President of Operations/Education

Robert D. Hartman has served as UTI's Chairman of the Board since October 1, 2003. From 1990 to
September 30, 2003, Mr. Hartman served as UTI's Chief Executive OÇcer, and from April 2002 to
September 30, 2003, Mr. Hartman served as the Co-Chairman of the Board. Mr. Hartman has been a
member of the Board since 1985. From 1979 to 1990, Mr. Hartman held several positions with UTI, including
Student Services Director, Controller, School Director and President. He was appointed by the Governor of
Arizona to the Arizona State Board for Private Post-secondary Education in 1990 and served until 1995. In
addition, he has served on the Advisory Council for the Arizona Educational Loan Program, representing the
private career school sector. He was founder and former Chairman of the Western Council of Private Career
Schools. Mr. Hartman received a BA in General Business from Michigan State University and an MBA in
Finance from DePaul University in Chicago.
John C. White has served as UTI's Chief Strategic Planning OÇcer and Vice Chairman since October 1,
2003. From April 2002 to September 30, 2003, Mr. White served as UTI's Chief Strategic Planning OÇcer
and Co-Chairman of the Board. From 1998 to March 2002, Mr. White served as UTI's Chief Strategic
Planning OÇcer and Chairman of the Board. Mr. White served as the President of Clinton Harley
Corporation (which operates under the name Motorcycle Mechanics Institute and Marine Mechanics
Institute) from 1977 until it was acquired by UTI in 1998. Prior to 1977, Mr. White was a marketing
representative with International Business Machines Corporation. Mr. White was appointed by the Arizona
Senate to serve as a member of the Joint Legislative Committee on Private Regionally Accredited Degree
Granting Colleges and Universities and Private Nationally Accredited Degree Granting and Vocational
Institutions in 1990. He was appointed by the Governor of Arizona to the Arizona State Board for Private
Post-secondary Education, where he was a member and Complaint Committee Chairman from 1993-2001.
Mr. White received a BS in Engineering from the University of Illinois. Mr. White is the uncle of David K.
Miller, UTI's Senior Vice President of Admissions.
Kimberly J. McWaters has served as UTI's Chief Executive OÇcer since October 1, 2003.
Ms. McWaters has served as UTI's President since 2000 and served on UTI's Board from 2002 to 2003. From
1984 to 2000, Ms. McWaters held several positions with UTI, including Vice President of Marketing and Vice
President of Sales and Marketing. Ms. McWaters also serves as a director of United Auto Group, Inc.
Ms. McWaters received a BS in Business Administration from the University of Phoenix.
Jennifer L. Haslip has served as UTI's Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer and Treasurer since
2002. From 2002 to 2004, Ms. Haslip served as UTI's Secretary. From 1998 to 2002, Ms. Haslip served as
UTI's Director of Accounting, Director of Financial Planning and Vice President of Finance. From 1993 to
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1998, she was employed in public accounting at Toback CPAs P.C. Ms. Haslip received a BS in Accounting
from Western International University. She is a certiÑed public accountant in Arizona.
David K. Miller has served as UTI's Senior Vice President of Admissions since 2002. From 1998 to 2002,
Mr. Miller served as UTI's Vice President of Campus Admissions. From 1979 to 1998, Mr. Miller served in
various positions at MMI, including Admissions Representative, Admissions Director and National Director.
Mr. Miller joined Motorcycle Mechanics Institute in 1979 as an education representative. He has served on
the board of the Arizona Private School Association and was a team leader for the Accrediting Commission.
Mr. Miller received a BS in Marketing from Arizona State University. Mr. Miller is the nephew of John
White, UTI's Chief Strategic Planning OÇcer and Vice Chairman of the Board.
Roger L. Speer has served as UTI's Senior Vice President of Operations/Education since 2002. From
1988 to 2002, Mr. Speer held several positions with UTI, including Director of Graduate Employment at the
UTI Phoenix Campus, Corporate Director of Graduate Employment, School Director of the UTI Glendale
Heights Campus and Vice President of Operations. Mr. Speer received a BS in Human Resource
Management from Arizona State University.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol ""UTI''
since December 17, 2003 upon our initial public oÅering. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our
common stock.
The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices per share for our common stock, as
reported by the NYSE, for the periods indicated.
Price Range of
Common Stock
High
Low

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2004:
First Quarter (from December 17, 2003) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$30.40
43.36
48.50
40.09

$24.00
28.55
38.25
24.26

The closing price of our common stock as reported by the NYSE on December 15, 2004, was $38.05 per
share. As of December 15, 2004 there were approximately 55 holders of record of our common stock.
We do not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Instead, we currently anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings, if any, to fund the operation and
expansion of our business and to use as working capital and for other general corporate purposes. Our board of
directors will determine whether to pay dividends in the future based on conditions then existing, including our
earnings, Ñnancial condition and capital requirements, the availability of third-party Ñnancing and the Ñnancial
responsibility standards prescribed by ED, as well as any economic and other conditions that our board of
directors may deem relevant.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading ""Equity Compensation Plan Information'' is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated Ñnancial and operating data as of and for the
periods indicated. You should read the selected Ñnancial data set forth below together with ""Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'' and our consolidated Ñnancial
statements included elsewhere in this Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated statement of
operations data and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of each of the Ñve years ended
September 30, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been derived from our audited consolidated Ñnancial
statements.
2000

Year Ended September 30,
2001
2002
2003
2004
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 92,079 $ 109,493 $144,372 $196,495 $255,149
Operating expenses:
Educational services and facilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
48,523
59,554
70,813
92,443
116,730
Selling, general and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
33,893
38,332
51,541
67,896
88,297
Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
82,416
97,886
122,354
160,339
205,027
Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
9,663
11,607
22,018
36,156
50,122
Interest expense, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
11,877
10,674
6,254
3,658
1,031
Other expense (income) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Ì
Ì
847
(234)
1,134
Income (loss) before taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
(2,214)
933
14,917
32,732
47,957
Income tax expense (beneÑt) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
(431)
820
5,228
12,353
19,137
Income (loss) from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
(1,783)
113
9,689
20,379
28,820
Discontinued operations:
Loss from operations, net of taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (34,437)
(8,536)
Ì
Ì
Ì
Loss on sale, net of taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Ì
(1,316)
Ì
Ì
Ì
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (36,220)
(9,739)
9,689
20,379
28,820
Preferred stock dividendsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
(1,166)
(1,166)
(2,872)
(6,413)
(776)
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholdersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(37,386) $ (10,905) $ 6,817 $ 13,966 $ 28,044
Income (loss) from continuing operations per
share:
BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Weighted average shares (in thousands):
BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Number of campuses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Average undergraduate enrollments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Working capital (deÑcit)(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total debt(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Redeemable convertible preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total shareholders' equity (deÑcit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ (0.22) $
$ (0.22) $
13,432
13,432

(0.08) $
(0.08) $

$
$

1.03
0.79

$
$

1.14
1.04

13,402
13,402

13,402
20,244

13,543
25,051

24,659
27,585

4,532
6
6,710

$ 4,948
7
8,277

$ 6,382
7
10,568

$ 8,812
8
13,076

$ 13,554
$ 29,278
$(14,577)
$ 76,886
$ 57,886
$ 60,902
$ 64,395
$(96,159)

$ 8,925
$ 31,819
$(29,240)
$ 84,099
$ 53,476
$ 57,336
$ 47,161
$(83,152)

$ 42,602
$ 77,128
$ 6,612
$136,316
$
6
$
43
$
Ì
$ 55,025

$ 3,887
6
5,866

$

$ 3,326
$ 21,051
$(12,987)
$ 68,845
$104,122
$109,294
$ 18,296
$(92,071)

$ 3,353
$ 16,477
$ (29,187)
$ 63,086
$ 97,336
$ 104,578
$ 19,414
$(102,976)
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0.51
0.44

(1) Depreciation and amortization includes amortization of deferred Ñnancing fees previously capitalized in
connection with obtaining Ñnancing and goodwill acquired in connection with the acquisition of a
business. Amortization of deferred Ñnancing fees was $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $1.1 million, $0.5 million
and $0.2 million for the Ñscal years ended September 30, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
Amortization of goodwill was $0.6 million in each of the Ñscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 2001.
We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets'' eÅective October 1, 2001. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer
amortized and instead is tested for impairment on an annual basis.
(2) Working capital (deÑcit) is deÑned as current assets less current liabilities.
(3) We adopted SFAS 150 ""Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liabilities and Equity,'' eÅective July 1, 2003. Accordingly, we reclassiÑed as a liability the mandatory
redeemable series A, series B and series C preferred stock totaling $25.5 million at September 30, 2003.
On December 22, 2003, in connection with our completed initial public oÅering, we either redeemed
series A, series B and series C preferred stock or exchanged our preferred stock for shares of common
stock.
ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion together with the Selected Financial Data and the consolidated
Ñnancial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Report on Form 10-K. This discussion
contains forward-looking statements that are based on management's current expectations, estimates and
projections about our business and operations. Our actual results may diÅer materially from those currently
anticipated and expressed in such forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including
those we discuss under ""Cautionary Factors That May AÅect Future Results'' and elsewhere in this Report on
Form 10-K.
General Overview
We are a leading provider of post-secondary education for students seeking careers as professional
automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians. We oÅer undergraduate degree,
diploma or certiÑcate programs at eight campuses across the United States, and manufacturer-sponsored
advanced programs at 22 dedicated training centers. We have provided technical education for nearly 40 years.
Our revenues consist principally of student tuition and fees derived from the programs we provide and are
presented as net revenues after reductions related to guarantees and scholarships we sponsor and refunds for
students who withdraw from our programs prior to speciÑed dates. We recognize tuition revenue and fees
ratably over the terms of the various programs we oÅer. We supplement our core revenues with additional
revenues from sales of textbooks and program supplies, student housing provided by us and other revenues, all
of which are recognized as sales occur or services are performed. In aggregate, these additional revenues
represented less than 10% of our total net revenues in each Ñscal year in the three-year period ended
September 30, 2004. Tuition revenue and fees generally vary based on the average number of students enrolled
and average tuition charge per program.
Average student enrollments vary depending on, among other factors, the number of (i) continuing
students at the beginning of a Ñscal period, (ii) new student enrollments during the Ñscal period, (iii) students
who have previously withdrawn but decide to re-enroll during the Ñscal period, and (iv) graduations and
withdrawals during the Ñscal period. We believe that our average student enrollments are inÖuenced by the
number of graduating high school students, the attractiveness of our program oÅerings to high school
graduates and potential adult students, the eÅectiveness of our marketing eÅorts, the depth of our industry
relationships, the strength of employment markets and long term career prospects, the quality of our
instructors and student services professionals, the persistence of our students, the length of our education
programs, the availability of federal funding for our programs, the number of graduates of our programs who
elect to attend the advanced training programs we oÅer and general economic conditions. Our introduction of
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additional program oÅerings at existing schools and establishment of new schools (either through acquisition
or start-up) are expected to signiÑcantly inÖuence our average student enrollment. Our average undergraduate
student enrollments have grown at a compounded annual growth rate of 25.7% over the past three full Ñscal
years. This growth can largely be attributed to the demand for our graduates and the expansion of our
capacity. We currently oÅer start dates at our campuses that range from every three to six weeks throughout
the year in our various undergraduate programs. The number of start dates of advanced programs varies by the
duration of those programs and the needs of the manufacturers who sponsor them.
Our tuition charges vary by type or length of our programs and the program level, such as undergraduate
or advanced training. Tuition has increased by approximately 3% to 5% per annum in each Ñscal year in the
three-year period ended September 30, 2004. Tuition increases are generally consistent across our schools and
programs; however, changes in operating costs may impact price increases at individual locations. We believe
that we can continue to increase tuition as the demand for our graduates remains strong and tuition at other
post-secondary institutions continues to rise, although any of those increases may be less than past increases.
Most students at our campuses rely on funds received under various government-sponsored student
Ñnancial aid programs, predominantly Title IV Programs, to pay a substantial portion of their tuition and other
education-related expenses. In our 2004 Ñscal year, approximately 72% of our net revenues were derived from
federal student Ñnancial aid programs.
We extend credit for tuition and fees to the majority of our students that are in attendance at our
campuses. Our credit risk is mitigated through the students' participation in federally funded Ñnancial aid
programs unless students withdraw prior to the receipt by us of Title IV funds for those students. Any
remaining tuition receivable is comprised of smaller individual amounts due from students across the
United States.
We categorize our operating expenses as (i) educational services and facilities and (ii) selling, general
and administrative.
Major components of educational services and facilities expenses include faculty compensation and
beneÑts, compensation and beneÑts of other campus administration employees, facility rent, maintenance,
utilities, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment used in the provision of educational
services, royalties payable to licensors under our licensing arrangements and other costs directly associated
with teaching our programs and providing educational services to our students.
Selling, general and administrative expenses include compensation and beneÑts of employees who are not
directly associated with the provision of educational services (such as executive management, Ñnance and
central accounting, legal, human resources and business development), marketing and student enrollment
expenses (including compensation and beneÑts of personnel employed in sales and marketing and student
admissions), costs of professional services, bad debt expense, costs associated with the implementation and
operation of our student management and reporting system, rent for our home oÇce, depreciation and
amortization of property and equipment that is not used in the provision of educational services and other costs
that are incidental to our operations. All marketing and student enrollment expenses are recognized in the
period incurred. Costs related to the opening of new facilities, excluding related capital expenditures, are
expensed in the period incurred.
Costs associated with the implementation of our student management and reporting system have
increased over the last several years as we installed a new integrated information network that tracks inquiries
from potential students and supports our student enrollment and processing of data as it relates to our student
activities. We anticipate that we will need to further upgrade our student management and reporting system
and expect additional costs will be incurred in connection with such an upgrade. We believe that the
investment in our student management and reporting system has improved services to students and our ability
to track student inquiries and may facilitate the integration of new schools into our operations, if and when
new schools are opened or acquired.
In December 2003, we sold 3,250,000 shares of our common stock in an initial public oÅering for
approximately $59.0 million in net cash proceeds, after deducting underwriting commissions and oÅering
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expenses of approximately $7.6 million. In conjunction with our initial public oÅering, we eÅected a 4,350-toone stock split. Certain stockholders sold 5,375,000 shares of our common stock in the initial public oÅering.
In addition, our outstanding series D preferred stock automatically converted to common stock upon the
consummation of our initial public oÅering. Accordingly, the approximately 2,357 outstanding shares of
series D preferred stock representing a liquidation value of $45.5 million were converted into an equivalent
number of shares of our common stock which, upon giving eÅect to the stock split, amounted to
10,253,797 shares of common stock. Also in December 2003, we consummated an exchange oÅer pursuant to
which we oÅered to exchange the then outstanding shares of our series A, series B and series C preferred stock
for shares of our common stock at an exchange price per share equal to our initial public oÅering price of
$20.50. An aggregate of 6,499 shares of series A, series B and series C preferred stock, representing a
liquidation value of approximately $6.5 million, were presented for exchange and we issued an aggregate of
317,006 shares of our common stock in connection with that exchange. We used $25.5 million of the net
proceeds from the initial public oÅering to redeem all of the outstanding shares of series A, series B and
series C preferred stock that were not exchanged for shares of common stock and to pay all the accrued and
unpaid dividends on all the series of our preferred stock, whether or not exchanged.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations is based upon our Ñnancial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or
GAAP. During the preparation of these Ñnancial statements, we are required to make estimates and
assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and
assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition, bad debts, property and equipment, long-lived
assets, including goodwill, income taxes and contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of our analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may diÅer from these estimates
under diÅerent assumptions or conditions, and the impact of such diÅerences may be material to our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.
We believe that the following critical accounting policies aÅect our more signiÑcant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of our Ñnancial statements:
Revenue recognition. Net revenues consist primarily of student tuition and fees derived from the
programs we provide after reductions are made for guarantees and scholarships we sponsor. Tuition and fee
revenue is recognized on a pro-rata (straight-line) basis over the term of the course or program oÅered. If a
student withdraws from a program prior to a speciÑed date, any paid but unearned tuition is refunded.
Approximately 95% of our net revenues for the Ñscal year 2002, 96% of our net revenues for the Ñscal year
2003 and 96% of our net revenues for the Ñscal year 2004, consisted of tuition. Our net revenues vary from
period to period in conjunction with our average student population. The majority of our undergraduate
programs are typically designed to be completed in 12 to 18 months and our advanced training programs range
from 12 to 27 weeks in duration. We supplement our core revenues with sales of textbooks and program
supplies, student housing provided by us and other revenues. Sales of textbooks and program supplies, revenue
related to student housing and other revenue are each recognized as sales occur or services are performed.
Deferred tuition represents the excess of tuition payments received as compared to tuition earned and is
reÖected as a current liability in our consolidated Ñnancial statements because it is expected to be earned
within the following twelve-month period.
Allowance for uncollectible accounts. We maintain an allowance for uncollectible accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure or refusal of our students to make required payments. We
oÅer a variety of payment plans to help students pay that portion of their education expenses not covered by
Ñnancial aid programs which are unsecured and not guaranteed. Management analyzes accounts receivable,
historical percentages of uncollectible accounts, customer credit worthiness, when applicable, and changes in
payment history when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for uncollectible accounts. We use an internal
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group of collectors, augmented by third party collectors as deemed appropriate, in our collection eÅorts.
Although we believe that our reserves are adequate, if the Ñnancial condition of our students deteriorates,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, or if we underestimate the allowances required,
additional allowances may be necessary, which will result in increased selling, general and administrative
expenses in the period such determination is made.
Healthcare and workers' compensation costs. Claims and insurance costs which primarily relate to
health insurance and workers' compensation are accrued using current information and, in the case of
healthcare costs, future estimates provided by consultants to reasonably measure the current cost incurred for
services provided but not yet invoiced. Although we believe our estimated liability recorded for healthcare and
workers' compensation costs are reasonable, actual results could diÅer and require adjustment of the recorded
balance.
Bonus costs. We accrue the estimated cost of our bonus programs using current Ñnancial and statistical
information as compared to targeted Ñnancial achievements and actual student graduation outcomes.
Although we believe our estimated liability recorded for bonuses is reasonable, actual results could diÅer and
require adjustment of the recorded balance.
Tool sets. We accrue the estimated cost of promotional tool sets oÅered to students at the time of
enrollment and provided at a future date based upon satisfaction of certain criteria, including completion of
certain course work. We accrue these costs based upon current student information and an estimate of the
number of students that will complete the requisite coursework. Although we believe our estimated liability
for tool sets is reasonable, actual results could diÅer and require adjustment of the recorded balance.
Long-lived assets. We record our long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, at cost. We review
the carrying value of our long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable in accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.'' We evaluate these assets to determine if their current recorded value is
impaired by examining estimated future cash Öows. These cash Öows are evaluated by using weighted
probability techniques as well as comparisons of past performance against projections. Assets may also be
evaluated by identifying independent market values. If we determine that an asset's carrying value is impaired,
we will record a write-down of the carrying value of the identiÑed asset and charge the impairment as an
operating expense in the period in which the determination is made. Although we believe that the carrying
value of our long-lived assets are appropriately stated, changes in strategy or market conditions or signiÑcant
technological developments could signiÑcantly impact these judgments and require adjustments to recorded
asset balances.
Goodwill. We assess the impairment of goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, ""Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.'' Accordingly, we test our goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth
quarter, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred, by
comparing its fair value to its carrying value. Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration
in the performance of the acquired business, adverse market conditions, adverse changes in applicable laws or
regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of the acquired business, and a variety of other
circumstances. If we determine that an impairment has occurred, we are required to record a write-down of
the carrying value and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period the determination is made.
Goodwill represents a signiÑcant portion of our total assets. At September 30, 2004, goodwill represented
approximately 15.1% of our total assets, or $20.6 million, and was a result of our acquisition of the parent
company of our MMI operation in January 1998. Although we believe goodwill is appropriately stated in our
consolidated Ñnancial statements, changes in strategy or market conditions could signiÑcantly impact these
judgments and require an adjustment to the recorded balance.
Stock-based compensation. We account for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,'' and related Interpretations, and comply with the disclosure provisions of
SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.'' Several companies recently elected to change
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their accounting policies and record the fair value of options as an expense. We currently are not required to
record stock-based compensation charges if the employee stock option exercise price or restricted stock
purchase price equals or exceeds the deemed fair value of our common stock at the grant date. If we had
estimated the fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model and then
amortized this estimated fair value over the vesting period of the options, our net income (loss) would have
been adversely aÅected, as shown in the table below.
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004
(In thousands, except per
share amounts)

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders Ì as
reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net
income, net of taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deduct: Total stock based employee compensation expense
determined using the fair value based method, net of taxes ÏÏÏÏ

$6,817

$13,966

$28,044

Ì
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371

(72)

(163)

(1,808)

Net income (loss) Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$6,745

$13,842

$26,607

Earnings per share Ì basic Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.51

$

1.03

$

1.14

Earnings per share Ì diluted Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.44

$

0.79

$

1.04

Earnings per share Ì basic Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.50

$

1.02

$

1.08

Earnings per share Ì diluted Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.44

$

0.78

$

0.99

Accounting for income taxes. In preparing our consolidated Ñnancial statements, we assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income. We establish a valuation
allowance if we determine that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax assets
will not be realized. Changes in the valuation allowance are included in our statement of operations as a
provision for or beneÑt from income taxes. We exercise signiÑcant judgment in determining our provisions for
income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and our future taxable income for purposes of assessing our
ability to utilize any future tax beneÑt from our deferred tax assets. Although we believe that our tax estimates
are reasonable, the ultimate tax determination involves signiÑcant judgments that could become subject to
audit by tax authorities in the ordinary course of business.
As of September 30, 2004, we had a valuation allowance of $16.1 million to reduce our deferred tax assets
to an amount that management believes is more likely than not realizable. The valuation allowance primarily
relates to a deferred tax asset arising from a capital loss carryforward from the sale of a discontinued business
and expires in 2005. Should we incur capital gains in the future, we would be able to realize all or part of the
capital loss carryforward against which we have applied the valuation allowance. In that event, our current
income tax expense would be reduced or our income tax beneÑts would be increased, resulting in an increase
in net income or a reduction in net loss.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation
No. 46R (FIN 46R), ""Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB 51.'' FIN 46R
replaces the same titled FIN 46 that was issued in January 2003. FIN 46R provides guidance on when certain
entities should be consolidated or the interest in those entities should be disclosed by enterprises that do not
control them through majority voting interest. Under FIN 46R, entities are required to be consolidated by
enterprises that lack majority voting interest when equity investors of those entities have insigniÑcant capital at
risk or they lack voting rights, the obligation to absorb expected losses, or the right to receive expected returns.
Entities identiÑed with these characteristics are called variable interest entities, or ""VIEs,'' and the interests
that enterprises have in these entities are called variable interests. These interests can derive from certain
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guarantees, leases, loans or other arrangements that result in risks and rewards that are disproportionate to the
voting interests in the entities.
The provisions of FIN 46R must be applied for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for variable
interests in entities commonly referred to as ""special purpose entities.'' For all other VIEs, implementation is
required by March 31, 2004. Our adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on our consolidated
Ñnancial statements or disclosures.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, ""Share-Based Payment.'' This statement replaces
SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation'' and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees'' and SFAS No. 148, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì Transition and Disclosure.'' SFAS No. 123R requires the measurement and recording of the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments to be based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS No. 123R is eÅective for all awards granted or modiÑed after
June 15, 2005 and provides transition guidance for recording expense related to employee service for the fair
value of awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, and measured in accordance with the
previously issued SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148. SFAS No. 123R is eÅective at the beginning
of the Ñrst interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005. We estimate the eÅect of
adopting SFAS No. 123R, based upon outstanding equity awards as of September 30, 2004 will be
approximately $0.7 million for the fourth quarter of our 2005 Ñscal year. This estimate does not include the
impact of additional equity awards which may be granted or forfeitures which may occur subsequent to
September 30, 2004 and prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected statement of operations data as a percentage of net revenues for
each of the periods indicated.
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses:
Educational services and facilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Selling, general and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
49.0%
35.7%

47.0%
34.6%

45.8%
34.6%

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

84.7%

81.6%

80.4%

Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

15.3%

18.4%

19.6%

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest expense related parties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other expense (income) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(0.3)% (0.2)% (0.1)%
4.3%
1.8%
0.5%
0.4%
0.3%
0.0%
0.6% (0.2)% 0.4%

Total other expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

5.0%

1.7%

0.8%

Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income tax expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

10.3%
3.6%

16.7%
6.3%

18.8%
7.5%

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

6.7%

10.4%

11.3%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2003
Net revenues. Our net revenues for the year ended September 30, 2004 were $255.1 million,
representing an increase of $58.7 million, or 29.9%, as compared to net revenues of $196.5 million for the year
ended September 30, 2003. This increase was primarily due to a 23.7% increase in the average undergraduate
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full-time student enrollment and an increase in the average tuition charge per student resulting from tuition
increases of between 3% and 5%, depending on the program. For the year ended September 30, 2004, the
average undergraduate full-time student enrollment was 13,076, compared with 10,568 for the year ended
September 30, 2003. We have accommodated the increase in average student enrollment by improving the
utilization of our existing facilities, opening our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus in July 2004 and expansion
eÅorts at four of our existing facilities.
Educational services and facilities expenses. Our educational services and facilities expenses for the
year ended September 30, 2004 were $116.7 million, representing an increase of $24.3 million, or 26.3%, as
compared to educational services and facilities expenses of $92.4 million for the year ended September 30,
2003. This increase was primarily due to incremental education expenses related to higher average student
enrollments, including additional costs of $2.1 million incurred in connection with the start-up and operation
of our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus that we opened in July 2004, an additional charge of approximately
$1.2 million for depreciation related to a change in the estimated useful life of leasehold improvements and a
$0.6 million charge for the early exit of a lease for a campus that we relocated in September 2004 to provide
additional capacity. The increases in educational services and facilities expenses is partially oÅset by a
$0.8 million reduction in estimated tool set expenses. Educational services and facilities expenses as a
percentage of net revenues decreased to 45.8% for the year ended September 30, 2004 as compared to 47.0%
for the year ended September 30, 2003. The decrease in educational services and facilities expenses as a
percentage of net revenues is attributable to increased revenues and operating eÇciencies resulting from
increased average student enrollments at our existing facilities and a favorable adjustment of our estimated
tool set expense, partially oÅset by the costs attributable to the opening and operation of the new Exton,
Pennsylvania campus and accelerated depreciation of leasehold improvements related to a campus relocation.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the
year ended September 30, 2004 were $88.3 million, an increase of $20.4 million, or 30.0%, as compared to
selling, general and administrative expenses of $67.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. This
increase was primarily due to incremental compensation and fringe expenses related to additional sales
representatives to support new applicants and administrative personnel to support the growth in operations,
advertising expenses associated with student leads, administrative expenses for operations as a public
company, legal costs and employee training initiatives. This increase also includes approximately $3.6 million
in costs associated with the start-up of our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus. Selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue remained Öat at 34.6% for the years ended September 30,
2004 and September 30, 2003.
Interest expense. Our interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $1.4 million,
representing a decrease of $2.8 million, or 67.1%, compared to interest expense of $4.1 million for the year
ended September 30, 2003. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the average debt balance
outstanding as a result of our early repayment of approximately $31.5 million in term debt using proceeds
received from our initial public oÅering in December 2003.
Other expenses. Our other expenses for the year ended September 30, 2004 represent the write-oÅ of
unamortized deferred Ñnancing costs of approximately $1.1 million related to the early repayment of the term
loans under our senior credit facilities with proceeds received from our initial public oÅering completed in
December 2003 and the termination of our credit facility at September 30, 2004.
Income taxes. Our provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $19.1 million,
or 39.9% of pretax income, compared to $12.4 million, or 37.7% of pretax income, for the year ended
September 30, 2003. The higher eÅective tax rate for the year ended September 30, 2004 is primarily
attributable to the non-deductible costs related to the secondary oÅering of our common stock and an increase
in tax reserves.
Income from continuing operations. As a result of the foregoing, we reported income from continuing
operations for the year ended September 30, 2004 of $28.8 million, as compared to income from continuing
operations of $20.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2003.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2002
Net revenues. Our net revenues for the year ended September 30, 2003 were $196.5 million,
representing an increase of $52.1 million, or 36.1%, as compared to net revenues of $144.4 million for the year
ended September 30, 2002. This increase was primarily due to a 27.7% increase in the average undergraduate
full-time student enrollment during the year ended September 30, 2003 and an increase in the average tuition
charge per student resulting from tuition increases of between 3% and 5%, depending on the program, and a
shift in the mix of average student enrollments toward higher priced programs, particularly following the
introduction of our higher-priced NASCAR programs at our new Mooresville, North Carolina NTI campus
opened in July 2002. For the year ended September 30, 2003, the average undergraduate full-time student
enrollment was 10,568, compared with 8,277 for the year ended September 30, 2002. We have been able to
accommodate the increase in student enrollments by improving the utilization of our existing facilities,
opening our new NTI campus in July 2002 and expanding many of our existing facilities.
Educational services and facilities expenses. Our educational services and facilities expenses for the
year ended September 30, 2003 were $92.4 million, representing an increase of $21.6 million, or 30.5%, as
compared to educational services and facilities expenses of $70.8 million for the year ended September 30,
2002. This increase was primarily due to incremental education expenses related to higher average student
enrollments, including additional costs of $7.0 million incurred in connection with the start-up and operation
of our new NTI campus that we opened in July 2002. Educational services and facilities expenses as a
percentage of net revenues decreased to 47.0% of net revenues for the year ended September 30, 2003 from
49.0% for the year ended September 30, 2002, primarily due to cost and operating eÇciencies resulting from
increased enrollments at our existing campuses, partially oÅset by the costs attributable to the opening and
operation of the new NTI campus.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the
year ended September 30, 2003 were $67.9 million, representing an increase of $16.4 million, or 31.7%, as
compared to selling, general and administrative expenses of $51.5 million for the year ended September 30,
2002. This increase was due in large measure to the incremental increase in marketing and student enrollment
expenses in the 2003 period to support future growth in student enrollments, which includes additional costs of
$3.9 million relating to the new NTI campus that we opened in July 2002. Selling, general and administrative
expenses as a percentage of net revenues decreased to 34.6% of net revenues in the year ended September 30,
2003 compared to 35.7% of net revenues in the year ended September 30, 2002. This decrease is primarily due
to operating eÇciencies resulting from increased enrollments at our existing facilities, partly oÅset by the costs
attributable to the opening of our new campus.
Interest expense. Our interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $4.1 million,
representing a decrease of $2.6 million, or 38.9%, compared to interest expense of $6.8 million for the year
ended September 30, 2002. This decrease was due primarily to a reduction in the average debt balance
outstanding and a decrease in the average interest rate paid on our indebtedness to 6.1% for the year ended
September 30, 2003 from 6.5% for the year ended September 30, 2002. The reduction in the average debt
balance outstanding was principally due to the repayment of $23.4 million of 13.5% subordinated notes and
repayment of $17.9 million of long term debt under our existing senior credit facilities with proceeds received
from the issuance of our series D convertible preferred stock in April 2002, as well as scheduled repayments
under the senior credit facilities and repayment of $15.0 million of long-term debt under our existing senior
credit facilities with available cash on hand during July 2003. We also repaid approximately $7.0 million of a
subordinated convertible promissory note at a 10% discount in August 2003. The decrease in the average rate
of interest we paid on our indebtedness was primarily attributable to the repayment of the 13.5% subordinated
notes that carried a higher Ñxed interest rate, decreases in the LIBOR rates and a reduction in the applicable
interest margin under our senior credit facilities as a result of our improved Ñnancial condition and the
amendment of our senior credit facilities.
Other expenses. Our other expenses for the year ended September 30, 2002 represent the write-oÅ of
unamortized deferred Ñnancing costs of approximately $1.0 million as a result of the amendment of our senior
credit facilities in April 2002.
41

Income taxes. Our provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $12.4 million,
or 37.7% of pretax income, compared to $5.2 million, or 35.0% of pretax income, for the year ended
September 30, 2002. The increase in the eÅective rate is primarily attributable to higher state taxes for the
year ended September 30, 2003, as all available state net operating loss carryforwards were utilized in the year
ended September 30, 2002. In addition, a higher federal statutory rate applied to the year ended September 30, 2003, as well as an increase in our state tax rates that primarily impacted deferred tax items for the
year ended September 30, 2003.
Income from continuing operations. As a result of the foregoing, we reported income from continuing
operations for the year ended September 30, 2003 of $20.4 million, as compared to income from continuing
operations of $9.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2002.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We Ñnance our operating activities and our internal growth through cash generated from operations. Our
net cash from operations was $47.7 million in Ñscal 2004, $36.4 million in Ñscal 2003 and $20.5 million in
Ñscal 2002.
A majority of our net revenues are derived from Title IV Programs. Federal regulations dictate the timing
of disbursements of funds under Title IV Programs. Students must apply for a new loan for each academic
year (thirty-week periods). Loan funds are generally provided by lenders in two disbursements for each
academic year. The Ñrst disbursement is usually received 30 days after the start of a student's academic year
and the second disbursement is typically received at the beginning of the sixteenth week from the start of the
student's academic year. Certain types of grants and other funding are not subject to a 30-day delay. Our
undergraduate programs are typically designed to be completed in 12 to 18 months. These factors, together
with the timing of when our students begin their programs, aÅect our operating cash Öow.
Net cash from operations increased $11.2 million, or 30.9%, from $36.4 million to $47.7 million for the
Ñscal year ended September 30, 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to increased operating
performance of approximately $8.4 million, which includes the eÅect of increased depreciation expense and
other non-cash charges, the timing of tuition funding and other working capital changes. The timing of tuition
funding resulted in an increase in accounts receivable of $2.6 million and an increase in deferred revenue of
$8.8 million resulting in a combined positive cash Öow of approximately $6.2 million. This represents an
increase in cash Öow of approximately $10.8 million from the comparable year ended September 30, 2003 and
is attributable to an increase in average student enrollments partially oÅset by the increase of approximately
$1.7 million related to our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus as we await Title IV approval for this location. In
addition to the timing of tuition funding and increased operating performance, cash Öow from operations was
also impacted as a result of providing $10.4 million in cash to collateralize our issued letter of credit to ED,
oÅset partially by increased accounts payable and accrued expenses attributable to the increased level of
operations necessary to support average student growth.
Net cash from operations increased approximately $16.0 million, or 77.9%, from $20.5 million to
$36.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. This increase was primarily due to increased operating
performance, accounts payable, accrued expenses related to the purchase of supplies and equipment as a result
of the increase in average student enrollments, accrued salaries and related beneÑts and accrued health care
beneÑts from a self-insured beneÑt plan.
Capital Expenditures
Our cash used in investing activities is primarily related to the purchase of property and equipment and
capital improvements. Our capital expenditures primarily result from the addition of new and the expansion of
existing facilities, ongoing replacements of equipment related to student training, our computer network and
student management and reporting systems. Net cash used in investing activities amounted to $16.9 million in
Ñscal year 2004 compared to $11.7 million in Ñscal 2003 and $5.8 million in Ñscal 2002. The increase in cash
Öows used in investing activities during the 2004 Ñscal year was primarily attributable to a new facility,
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relocation and expansion eÅorts, investment in tools, classroom technology and other equipment that support
our programs.
During Ñscal 2004, we incurred approximately $2.1 million in capital expenditures to equip classrooms,
labs and administrative oÇce space at our new Exton, Pennsylvania campus, approximately $2.2 million in
capital improvements as we completed expansion eÅorts at our Glendale Heights, Illinois campus and
approximately $0.5 million in capital expenditures related to leasehold improvements and training equipment
for the addition of an automotive training program at our existing Orlando, Florida campus.
The increase in cash Öow used in investing activities during the 2003 Ñscal year was primarily attributable
to the acquisition of additional training aids and equipment related to student training to support the growth of
our student population, including approximately $2.0 million related to our campus in Mooresville, North
Carolina which was opened in July 2002.
Capital expenditures are expected to increase as we upgrade and expand current equipment and facilities
or open new facilities to meet increased student enrollments. We expect to be able to fund these capital
expenditures with cash generated from operations.
The following is a summary of our current material capital expenditure commitments:
‚ In September 2004, we entered into a real estate purchase agreement and an agreement to retroÑt the
existing building for a campus to be located in the Boston suburb of Norwood, Massachusetts. A new
undergraduate automotive technician training program is planned to be oÅered at this campus. The
purchase price is approximately $12.4 million and approximately $10.0 million to $12.0 million is
expected to be spent to retroÑt the existing building prior to the planned opening in the fourth quarter
of our 2005 Ñscal year. The campus is planned to provide approximately 170,000 square feet of
classroom and lab space on a total of 24.5 acres. The campus is planned to accommodate approximately 1,900 students at maturity.
‚ In the next Ñscal year, we will continue to equip our new Exton, Pennsylvania and Orlando, Florida
automotive programs. In addition, we intend to expand certain of our existing programs. Capital
expenditures related to these activities are estimated to be $4.0 million.
Our strategy includes considering strategic acquisitions in the future. To the extent that potential
acquisitions are large enough to require Ñnancing beyond cash from operations and available borrowings under
our credit facility, we may incur additional debt, resulting in increased interest expense.
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Debt Service
Our total debt was $60.9 million as of September 30, 2002, $57.3 million as of September 30, 2003 and
$43.0 thousand as of September 30, 2004.
The following schedule sets forth our long-term debt obligations as of the Ñscal years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004:
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004
(In thousands)

Revolving credit facility(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $
Ì
Term A loan facility payable to bank(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
19,150
Term B loan facility payable to bank(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
29,850
6.0% Mandatory redeemable series A preferred stock(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Ì
6.0% Mandatory redeemable series B preferred stock(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Ì
(3)
6.0% Mandatory redeemable series C preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Ì
6.6% Subordinated promissory note payable to shareholders and
related partiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
4,000
8.0% Subordinated convertible promissory note payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
7,011
Capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
891

$
Ì
16,950
14,550
15,202
5,531
4,729

$Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
374

Ì
Ì
43

Total debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

60,902

57,336

43

Less current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

3,016

3,860

37

Total long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$57,886

$53,476

$ 6

(1) On September 30, 2004, we terminated our $30.0 million revolving credit facility and on October 26,
2004 replaced it with a new $30.0 million revolving credit facility and a $20.0 million standby letter of
credit facility.
(2) On December 23, 2003, we used proceeds received from our initial public oÅering to repay all of the then
outstanding term debt totaling $31.5 million.
(3) We adopted SFAS 150 ""Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liabilities and Equity,'' eÅective July 1, 2003. Accordingly, we reclassiÑed as a liability the mandatory
redeemable series A, series B and series C preferred stock totaling $25.5 million at September 30, 2003.
On December 22, 2003, in connection with our completed initial public oÅering, we either redeemed this
preferred stock or exchanged such stock for shares of common stock.
EÅective September 30, 2004, we terminated our revolving credit facility which had previously provided
us the availability of $30.0 million to be used for working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes and to support letters of credit issued under the facility. There were no outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility and we had an outstanding letter of credit of $9.9 million issued
to ED at the time of termination. In connection with the termination of the credit facility, we provided
$10.4 million in cash collateral for the $9.9 million letter of credit, which expired on November 9, 2004.
On October 26, 2004, we entered into a new credit agreement with a bank for a revolving line of credit in
the amount of $30.0 million and a standby letter of credit facility for up to $20.0 million. We have the option
to issue letters of credit either under the revolving line of credit, which reduces our borrowing ability or under
the standby letter of credit facility. The standby letter of credit facility is collateralized by a cash collateral
account equal to the advance rate, as deÑned and dependent upon the underlying collateral investment,
multiplied by the issued and outstanding letters of credit. EÅective November 1, 2004, we issued a letter of
credit in the amount of $14.4 million in favor of ED to replace the previously issued $9.9 million letter of
credit maturing on November 9, 2004. The new letter of credit is collateralized in the amount of $15.8 million
held in U.S. Government guaranteed bonds. The increase in the letter of credit is attributable to the increase
in Title IV funds that we received during our 2003 Ñscal year as a result of the growth in our average student
enrollment.
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The new credit agreement requires interest to be paid quarterly in arrears on outstanding amounts
borrowed under the revolving line of credit. The interest rate is based upon the lender's prime interest rate less
0.50% per annum or LIBOR plus 0.625% per annum, at our option. The revolving line of credit also requires
an unused commitment fee payable quarterly in arrears equal to 0.125% per annum. Issued letters of credit
bear fees at 0.625% per annum under the revolving line of credit and 0.375% per annum under the standby
letter of credit facility. Fees for issued letters of credit are payable quarterly in advance.
Our new credit agreement contains various Ñnancial and non-Ñnancial covenants. The facility, among
other things, restricts our ability to: incur additional indebtedness, grant liens or other security interest, make
certain investments, become liable for contingent obligations or dispose of assets or stock of our subsidiaries.
Our new credit agreement also requires us to comply with speciÑed Ñnancial ratios and tests, which are
adjusted over time, as follows:
‚ We are required to have minimum quarterly net income of $3.5 million
‚ We are required to maintain a minimum tangible net worth equal to our tangible net worth at
September 30, 2004, which was $34.4 million.
‚ We are required to maintain a total liabilities to tangible net worth ratio, as deÑned in the agreement,
of 3.5 to 1.0 at December 31, 2004, which decreases to 2.0 to 1.0 at September 30, 2005 and 1.5 to 1.0
at September 30, 2006 and thereafter.
‚ We are required to maintain a current ratio of 0.4 to 1.0 at December 31, 2004, which increases to 0.50
to 1.0 at September 30, 2005 and 0.60 to 1.0 at September 30, 2006 and thereafter.
Furthermore, our new credit agreement contains customary events of default as well as an event of
default in the event that any of our institutions loses any accreditation necessary for Title IV Program
eligibility, or the ability of any such institution to participate in Title IV Programs is cancelled.
During the year ended September 30, 2004, we generated cash from Ñnancing activities of $3.0 million,
an increase of $32.4 million as compared to cash used in Ñnancing activities of $29.4 million for the year ended
September 30, 2003. The increase in cash provided from Ñnancing activities is attributable to net proceeds
from our initial public oÅering of approximately $59.0 million which were used to repay the outstanding
balance of our term loans of $31.5 million, redeem all outstanding shares of series A, series B and series C
preferred stock that were not exchanged for shares of our common stock totaling approximately $12.9 million
and pay all accrued and unpaid dividends on each series of our preferred stock, whether or not exchanged,
totaling approximately $12.6 million.
During the year ended September 30, 2003, we used cash for Ñnancing activities of $29.4 million, an
increase of $24.9 million, as compared to cash used for Ñnancing activities of $4.5 million in the year ended
September 30, 2002. The increase in cash used for Ñnancing activities is attributable to using cash on hand to
reduce the overall level of debt outstanding. In July 2003, we prepaid without penalty, $15.0 million of
borrowings under our term loan B facility, which had been a part of a senior credit facility. In August 2003, we
retired at a 10% discount, a subordinated convertible promissory note having a principal amount of
approximately $7.0 million. Also in August 2003, we repaid in full, including all accrued interest, a promissory
note in the principal sum of $4.0 million that we had issued in September 1997 in favor of Whites' Family
Company, LLC, an entity controlled by John C. White, an executive oÇcer and member of our board of
directors. This note bore interest at approximately 6.6% and was due on or before September 2023.
Immediately following this repayment, Whites' Family Company, LLC remitted to us approximately
$4.0 million in satisfaction of the principal amount of, and accrued interest on, a subscription note receivable
bearing interest at approximately 6.1%.
In October 2003, we received a waiver from our lender related to a non-Ñnancial covenant for Ñnancial
reporting which we have met subsequently.
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Dividends
In September 2003, we paid a dividend in the aggregate of $5.0 million to our common stockholders and
the holders of our series D preferred stock. We do not expect to pay any dividends on our common stock for
the foreseeable future.
Future Liquidity Sources
Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe that our cash Öow from
operations and other available sources of liquidity, including borrowings available under the new revolving
credit facility, will provide adequate funds for ongoing operations, expansion to new locations and planned
capital expenditures for the next 12 to 18 months.
Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth, as of September 30, 2004, the aggregate amounts of our signiÑcant
contractual obligations and commitments with deÑnitive payment terms that will require signiÑcant cash
outlays in the future.
Total

Capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating leases(1)(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Purchase obligations:(3)
Real Estate Purchase(4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other long-term obligations(5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$
43
229,307

Total contractual cash obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Payments due by Period
Less than
1-3
3-5
1 Year
Years
Years
(In thousands)

More than
5 Years

$

$

37
17,237

$
6
34,076

11,780
11,000
7,644

11,780
5,941
Ì

Ì
4,929
2,449

Ì
130
999

Ì
Ì
4,196

259,774

34,995

41,460

34,594

148,725

Standby letters of credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Issued and Outstanding Surety Bonds(7)

9,900
13,335

9,900
13,335

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Total contractual commitmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$283,009

$58,230

$41,460

$34,594

$148,725

(6)

$

Ì
33,465

Ì
144,529

(1) Minimum rental commitments. These amounts do not include property taxes, insurance or normal
recurring repairs and maintenance.
(2) In October 2004, we entered into a long-term, real property lease agreement for a 22.5 acre parcel of land
in Sacramento, California. A new undergraduate automotive technician training campus is planned to be
constructed on the land. The initial term of the lease is Ñfty years with two renewal periods of ten years
each. Lease payments begin upon the earlier of our occupancy of the planned campus or September 1,
2005 with minimum lease payments of approximately $0.4 million per annum adjusted every three years
during the initial term based upon the consumer price index. Minimum lease payments in each of the
renewal periods will be based upon the then current fair market value of the real property. We expect to
open the campus in the Ñrst half of our 2006 Ñscal year. The new campus is planned to be approximately
110,000 square feet of classroom and lab space and is expected to initially accommodate approximately
1,100 students with the potential to construct additional facilities for program expansion or add new
curricula.
(3) Includes all agreements to purchase goods or services of either a Ñxed or minimum quantity that are
enforceable and legally binding. Where the obligation to purchase goods or services is noncancelable, the
entire value of the contract was included in the table. Additionally, purchase orders outstanding as of
September 30, 2004, employment contracts and minimum payments under licensing and royalty
agreements are included.
46

(4) In September 2004, we entered into an agreement to purchase 24.5 acres of land and a building in the
Boston suburb of Norwood, Massachusetts. The purchase price is approximately $12.4 million and
approximately $0.6 million was deposited into escrow at September 30, 2004. We intend to open a new
undergraduate automotive technician training campus in the fourth quarter of our 2005 Ñscal year. The
new campus will provide approximately 170,000 square feet of classroom and lab space and will
accommodate approximately 1,900 students at maturity. We estimate completion of this transaction
during the second quarter of our 2005 Ñscal year.
(5) Includes deferred facility rent liabilities, tax reserves, deferred compensation and other obligations.
(6) Consists of a letter of credit in the amount of $9.9 million in favor of ED collateralized by cash. In
November 2004, the letter of credit was increased to $14.4 million and is collateralized by $15.8 million
held in U.S. Government guaranteed bonds.
(7) Represents surety bonds posted on behalf of our schools and education representatives with multiple state
education agencies.
Related Party Transactions
In connection with our initial public oÅering in December 2003, we exchanged for shares of our common
stock or redeemed for cash, at the holder's election, our series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and
series C preferred stock. We used $25.5 million of the net proceeds from that public oÅering to redeem all
outstanding shares of our series A, series B and series C preferred stock that were not exchanged for shares of
common stock and to pay all the accrued and unpaid dividends on all the series of our preferred stock, whether
or not exchanged. The following table shows the amounts that our executive oÇcers and directors received in
connection with such redemption and payment of dividends.
Preferred Stock
Redemption Amount
(In thousands)

Robert HartmanÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
John WhiteÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Kimberly McWaters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
David MillerÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Roger Speer ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$3,663
$1,558
$ 50
$
4
$ 15

We lease some of our properties from entities controlled by John C. White, our Chief Strategic Planning
OÇcer and Vice Chairman of our board of directors. A portion of the property comprising our Orlando
location is occupied pursuant to a lease with the John C. and Cynthia L. White 1989 Family Trust, with the
lease term expiring on August 19, 2022. The annual base lease payments for the Ñrst year under this lease total
approximately $326,000, with annual adjustments based on the higher of (i) an amount equal to 4% of the
total annual rent for the immediately preceding year or (ii) the percentage of increase in the Consumer Price
Index. Another portion of the property comprising our Orlando location is occupied pursuant to a lease with
Delegates LLC, an entity controlled by the White Family Trust, with the lease term expiring on July 1, 2016.
The beneÑciaries of this trust are Mr. White's children, and the trustee of the trust is not related to Mr. White.
Annual base lease payments under this lease are approximately $680,000, with annual adjustments based on
the higher of (i) an amount equal to 4% of the total annual rent for the immediately preceding year or (ii) the
percentage of increase in the Consumer Price Index. Additionally, we lease two of our Phoenix properties
under one lease from City Park LLC, a successor in interest of 2844 West Deer Valley L.L.C. and in which
the John C. and Cynthia L. White 1989 Family Trust holds a 25% interest. The lease expires on February 28,
2015, and the annual base lease payments under this lease, as amended, are approximately $463,000, with
annual adjustments based on the higher of (i) an amount equal to 4% of the total annual rent for the
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immediately preceding year or (ii) the percentage of increase in the Consumer Price Index. The table below
sets forth the total payments that we made in Ñscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 under these leases:

Fiscal 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

City Park LLC

John C. and Cynthia L.
1989 Family Trust

Delegates LLC

$462,567
$495,040
$551,775

$364,508
$399,901
$447,205

$644,715
$796,015
$924,307

We believe that the rental rates under these leases approximate the fair market rental value of the
properties at the time the lease agreements were negotiated.
For a description of additional related party transactions, see ""Item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions.''
Seasonality
Our net revenues and operating results normally Öuctuate as a result of seasonal variations in our
business, principally due to changes in total student population and costs associated with opening or expanding
our campuses. Student population varies as a result of new student enrollments, graduations and student
attrition. Historically, our schools have had lower student populations in our third Ñscal quarter than in the
remainder of our Ñscal year because fewer students are enrolled during the summer months. Our expenses,
however, do not vary signiÑcantly with changes in student population and net revenues and, as a result, such
expenses do not Öuctuate signiÑcantly on a quarterly basis. The second and third quarters of our Ñscal year
ended September 30, 2003 were favorably impacted by an increase in student population at our NTI campus,
which resulted in increased revenue and operational eÇciencies during those two quarters. We expect
quarterly Öuctuations in operating results to continue as a result of seasonal enrollment patterns. Such patterns
may change, however, as a result of acquisitions, new school openings, new program introductions and
increased enrollments of adult students. In addition, our net revenues for the Ñrst Ñscal quarter are adversely
aÅected by the fact that we do not recognize revenue during the calendar year end holiday break, which falls
primarily in that quarter.

2002
Amount
Percent

Three Month Period Ending:
December 31 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
March 31 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
June 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
September 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended September 30,
Net Revenues
2003
Amount
Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

2004
Amount
Percent

$ 34,405
35,483
35,540
38,944

23.8% $ 45,374
24.6%
47,358
24.6%
48,910
27.0%
54,853

23.1% $ 59,043
24.1%
63,684
24.9%
62,947
27.9%
69,475

23.1%
25.0%
24.7%
27.2%

$144,372

100.0% $196,495

100.0% $255,149

100.0%
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Year Ended September 30,
Operating Income
2002
2003
Amount
Percent
Amount
Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

Three Month Period Ending:
December 31 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
March 31 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
June 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
September 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

ITEM 7A.

2004
Amount
Percent

$ 6,249
6,096
4,766
4,907

28.4% $ 8,240
27.7%
9,482
21.6%
9,171
22.3%
9,263

22.8% $14,015
26.2% 13,494
25.4% 10,865
25.6% 11,748

28.0%
26.9%
21.7%
23.4%

$22,018

100.0% $36,156

100.0% $50,122

100.0%

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Historically, our principal exposure to market risk relates to changes in interest rates. However, we repaid
substantially all of our long-term debt in December 2003 with a portion of the net proceeds of our initial public
oÅering. Consequently, we believe that we currently have minimal Ñnancial exposure to market risk.
EÅect of InÖation
To date, inÖation has not had a signiÑcant eÅect on our operations.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following Ñnancial statements of the company and its subsidiaries are included below on pages F-2 to
F-31 of this report:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2003 and 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity (DeÑcit) for the three years ended September 30,
2002, 2003 and 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004 ÏÏÏ
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ITEM 9.

F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-8
F-31

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive
OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer we have evaluated the eÅectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 as of the end of the period covered
by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer have
concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are eÅective. There were no changes in our internal
control over Ñnancial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2004 that have materially aÅected, or
are reasonably likely to materially aÅect, our internal controls over Ñnancial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
headings ""Election of Directors'' and ""Code of Conduct; Corporate Governance Guidelines'' is incorporated
herein by reference. Information regarding executive oÇcers of the Company is set forth under the caption
""Executive OÇcers of Universal Technical Institute, Inc.'' in Part I hereof.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading ""Executive Compensation'' is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
headings ""Equity Compensation Plan Information'' and ""Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners
and Management'' is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading ""Certain Relationships and Related Transactions'' is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information set forth in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading ""Fees Paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP'' is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) Documents Ñled as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
(1) The Ñnancial statements required to be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are
included in Item 8 of this Report.
(2) The following Ñnancial statement schedule for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and
2004 is Ñled with this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not required, are not applicable, or the
required information is shown on the Ñnancial statements or the notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.4

4.1

4.2

10.1
10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6
10.7
10.8

10.9

Description

Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation of Registrant. (Filed herewith.)
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto
(No. 333-109430).)
Specimen CertiÑcate evidencing shares of common stock. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment
thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 16, 2003, between Registrant and certain stockholders signatory thereto. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Credit Agreement, dated October 26, 2004, by and between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association. (Filed herewith.)
Universal Technical Institute Executive BeneÑt Plan, eÅective March 1, 1997. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3,
2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
1997 Restricted Stock Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto
(No. 333-109430).)
Management 1999 Option Program. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto
(No. 333-109430).)
Management 2002 Option Program. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No.
333-109430).)
2003 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated January 13, 2004 (No. 333-111900).)
2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated January 13, 2004 (No. 333-111898).)
Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Interference Agreement, dated April 1, 2002,
between Registrant and Robert D. Hartman, as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment
thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Employment and Non-Interference Agreement, dated April 1, 2002, between Registrant and John C.
White, as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
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Exhibit
Number

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Description

Employment and Non-Interference Agreement, dated April 1, 2002, between Registrant and
Kimberly J. McWaters, as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto
(No. 333-109430).)
Employment Agreement, dated November 30, 2003, between Registrant and Jennifer L. Haslip.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1
dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Form of Severance Agreement between Registrant and certain executive oÇcers. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3,
2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Lease Agreement, dated April 1, 1994, as amended, between City Park LLC, as successor in interest
to 2844 West Deer Valley L.L.C., as landlord, and The Clinton Harley Corporation, as tenant.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1
dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Lease Agreement, dated July 2, 2001, as amended, between John C. and Cynthia L. White, as
trustees of the John C. and Cynthia L. White 1989 Family Trust, as landlord, and The Clinton
Harley Corporation, as tenant. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto
(No. 333-109430).)
Lease Agreement, dated July 2, 2001, between Delegates LLC, as landlord, and The Clinton Harley
Corporation, as tenant. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 dated October 3, 2003, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-109430).)
Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement by and between Registrant and its directors and oÇcers.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1
dated April 5, 2004, or an amendment thereto (No. 333-114185).)
Subsidiaries of Registrant. (Filed herewith.)
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. (Filed herewith.)
Power of Attorney. (Included on signature page.)
CertiÑcation of Chief Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(Filed herewith.)
CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(Filed herewith.)
CertiÑcation of Chief Executive OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Û 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)
CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Û 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)

(b) Current Reports on Form 8-K were Ñled on the following dates for the items indicated:
August 11, 2004, Items 7 and 12 regarding results of operations and Ñnancial condition for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004.
September 24, 2004, Item 1.01 regarding our entry into a deÑnitive agreement for the purchase of
property in Norwood, Massachusetts.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC.

Date: December 23, 2004

By:

/s/ ROBERT D. HARTMAN
ROBERT D. HARTMAN
Chairman of the Board

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Robert D. Hartman and Jennifer L. Haslip, or either of them, as his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place
and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
any documents related to this report and Ñled pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and to Ñle the
same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith as fully to all
intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and conÑrming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ ROBERT D. HARTMAN
Robert D. Hartman

Chairman of the Board

December 23, 2004

/s/ JOHN C. WHITE
John C. White

Chief Strategic Planning OÇcer and
Vice Chairman of the Board

December 23, 2004

/s/ KIMBERLY J. MCWATERS
Kimberly J. McWaters

President and Chief Executive
OÇcer (Principal Executive OÇcer)

December 23, 2004

/s/ JENNIFER L. HASLIP
Jennifer L. Haslip

Senior Vice President, Chief
Financial OÇcer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial OÇcer)

December 23, 2004

/s/ LAWRENCE A. EISEL
Lawrence A. Eisel

Controller (Principal Accounting
OÇcer)

December 23, 2004

/s/ A. RICHARD CAPUTO, JR.
A. Richard Caputo, Jr.

Director

December 23, 2004
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Signature

Title

Date

/s/ CONRAD A. CONRAD
Conrad A. Conrad

Director

December 23, 2004

/s/ MICHAEL R. EISENSON
Michael R. Eisenson

Director

December 23, 2004

/s/ KEVIN P. KNIGHT
Kevin P. Knight

Director

December 23, 2004

/s/ ROGER S. PENSKE
Roger S. Penske

Director

December 23, 2004
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Kimberly J. McWaters, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Universal Technical Institute, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash Öows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to materially aÅect, the
registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Date: December 23, 2004

/s/

Kimberly J. McWaters

Kimberly J. McWaters
Chief Executive OÇcer, President
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jennifer L. Haslip, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Universal Technical Institute, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash Öows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to materially aÅect, the
registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Date: December 23, 2004

/s/

Jennifer L. Haslip

Jennifer L. Haslip
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer,
Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Universal Technical Institute, Inc. (the ""Company'') on
Form 10-K for the year ending September 30, 2004, as Ñled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the ""Report''), I, Kimberly J. McWaters, Chief Executive OÇcer and President of the
Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
condition and results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.

Dated: December 23, 2004

/s/

Kimberly J. McWaters

Kimberly J. McWaters
Chief Executive OÇcer, President
Universal Technical Institute, Inc.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Universal Technical
Institute, Inc. and will be retained by Universal Technical Institute, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staÅ upon request.
This certiÑcation accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by such Act, be deemed Ñled by the Company
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ""Exchange Act''). Such
certiÑcation will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any Ñling under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company speciÑcally incorporates it by
reference.
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Universal Technical Institute, Inc. (the ""Company'') on
Form 10-K for the year ending September 30, 2004, as Ñled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the ""Report''), I, Jennifer L. Haslip, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer,
Treasurer and Assistant Secretary of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
condition and results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.

Dated: December 23, 2004

/s/

Jennifer L. Haslip

Jennifer L. Haslip
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
OÇcer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
Universal Technical Institute, Inc.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Universal Technical
Institute, Inc. and will be retained by Universal Technical Institute, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staÅ upon request.
This certiÑcation accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by such Act, be deemed Ñled by the Company
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ""Exchange Act''). Such
certiÑcation will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any Ñling under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company speciÑcally incorporates it by
reference.
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UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Page
Number

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2003 and 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity (DeÑcit) for the three years ended
September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

F-1

F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-8
F-31

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Universal Technical Institute, Inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated Ñnancial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the Ñnancial position of Universal Technical Institute, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
September 30, 2003 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash Öows for each of the three
years in the period ended September 30, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the Ñnancial statement schedule listed in the
accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated Ñnancial statements. These Ñnancial statements and Ñnancial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these Ñnancial statements and Ñnancial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements, eÅective July 1, 2003 the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150 ""Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.''

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Phoenix, Arizona
November 22, 2004

F-2

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
September 30,
2003
2004

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restricted cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Receivables, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax assetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid expenses and other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Property and equipment, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Investment in land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred Ñnance fees, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax assetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

8,925
Ì
19,856
875
2,163
31,819
27,446
71
20,579
1,300
155
2,729
$ 84,099

$ 42,602
10,395
20,124
785
3,222
77,128
36,925
71
20,579
Ì
Ì
1,613
$136,316

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Current portion of long-term debt and capital leasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued tool sets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total current liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Long-term debt and capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mandatory redeemable preferred stock (redemption value of $25,941 at September 30,
2003) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Distributions payable to shareholdersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, 2,357 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2003 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2004
(redemption value of $50,618 at September 30, 2003) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Shareholders' equity (deÑcit):
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 13,936,295 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2003 and 27,781,068 shares issued outstanding at
September 30, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Paid-in capitalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accumulated deÑcit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Subscriptions receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total shareholders' equity (deÑcit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and shareholders' equity (deÑcit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 25,005
3,860
25,692
3,523
2,979
61,059
28,014

$ 32,816
37
34,523
2,852
288
70,516
6

25,462
71
Ì
5,484
120,090

Ì
71
3,054
7,644
81,291

Ì

Ì

47,161

Ì

1
1
Ì
110,105
(83,125)
(55,081)
(28)
Ì
(83,152)
55,025
$ 84,099 $136,316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Net Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses:
Educational services and facilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Selling, general and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$144,372

$196,495

$255,149

70,813
51,541

92,443
67,896

116,730
88,297

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

122,354

160,339

205,027

Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

22,018

36,156

50,122

Other expense (income):
Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest expense related parties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other expense (income) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(508)
6,213
549
847

(475)
3,601
532
(234)

(328)
1,263
96
1,134

Total other expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

7,101

3,424

2,165

Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income tax expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

14,917
5,228

32,732
12,353

47,957
19,137

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Preferred stock dividends ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

9,689
(2,872)

20,379
(6,413)

28,820
(776)

Net income available to common shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

6,817

$ 13,966

$ 28,044

Earning per share:
Net income per share Ì basicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.51

$

1.03

$

1.14

Net income per share Ì diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.44

$

0.79

$

1.04

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13,402

13,543

24,659

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

20,244

25,051

27,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
F-4

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Common Stock
Shares Amount

Balance at September 30, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends on preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13,466
Ì
Ì

$ 1
Ì
Ì

Balance at September 30, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds paid on subscription receivable
Tax beneÑt from employee stock option
planÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Stock option compensation recorded ÏÏÏ
Dividends on preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash dividends:
Preferred Series D @ $901.495 per
share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock @ $0.207 per share ÏÏ
Retirement of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13,466
Ì
470
Ì

1
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
(63)

Ì
Ì
Ì

Balance at September 30, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Issuance of common stock, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Conversion of preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds received on subscription
receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Issuance of common stock under
employee plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Tax beneÑt from employee stock plans
Stock compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends on preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13,873
Ì
3,250
10,571

Balance at September 30, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Paid-In
Capital

$

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
108
Ì

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
DeÑcit

$(15) $(102,476)
Ì
9,689
Ì
(2,872)

Subscriptions
Receivable

Total
Shareholders'
Equity (DeÑcit)

$(486)
Ì
Ì

$(102,976)
9,689
(2,872)

(15)
Ì
Ì
Ì

(95,659)
20,379
Ì
Ì

(486)
Ì
(108)
566

(96,159)
20,379
Ì
566

Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
(2,830)

Ì
Ì
Ì

1,287
63
(4,288)

Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
15

(2,125)
(2,875)
(15)

Ì
Ì
Ì

(2,125)
(2,875)
Ì

1
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
58,977
48,540

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

(83,125)
28,820
Ì
Ì

(28)
Ì
Ì
Ì

(83,152)
28,820
58,977
48,540

Ì

Ì

Ì

Ì

Ì

28

82
Ì
5
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

1,285
495
808
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
(776)

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

27,781

$ 1

$110,105

$ Ì

$ (55,081)

1,287
63
(1,458)

$

Ì

28
1,285
495
808
(776)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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55,025

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Cash Öows from operating activities:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Bad debt expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Tax beneÑt from option exercise ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Stock compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Write-oÅ of deferred Ñnancing feesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Loss on sale of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Preferred stock interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain on early retirement of debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid expenses and other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts payable and accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued tool sets and other current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

9,689

$ 20,379

$ 28,820

4,948
2,681
Ì
Ì
2,045
970
232
Ì
Ì

6,382
2,470
1,287
63
484
467
122
292
(701)

8,812
2,295
495
808
3,299
1,099
325
265
Ì

Ì
(4,910)
(278)
1,120
619
5,350
(2,143)
148

Ì
(9,799)
(108)
(2,012)
8,184
5,265
2,564
1,077

(10,395)
(2,563)
(1,059)
1,496
6,578
8,831
(3,362)
1,917

20,471

36,416

47,661

Cash Öows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from the sale of land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from sale of securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(11,772)
5,869
Ì
123

(11,977)
20
303
Ì

(16,975)
36
Ì
Ì

Net cash used in investing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(5,780)

(11,654)

(16,939)

Cash Öows from Ñnancing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs of $7,648 ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs of $3,457 ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from long-term debt borrowings, net of issuance costs of $2,462 ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repayment of long-term debt borrowings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repayment of subordinated debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Distribution to stockholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Redemption of mandatory redeemable preferred stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from subscriptions receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Ì
42,043
16,819
Ì
(39,952)
(23,400)
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
(18,017)
(10,310)
(303)
Ì
(5,000)
4,239

58,977
Ì
Ì
1,285
(31,831)
Ì
Ì
(12,946)
(12,558)
28

Net cash (used in) provided by Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(4,490)

(29,391)

2,955

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

10,201
3,353

(4,629)
13,554

33,677
8,925

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 13,554

$

8,925

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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$ 42,602

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Ì (Continued)
(In thousands)
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Interest Paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

6,831

$

4,744

$

1,219

Debt issued in lieu of interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

395

$

Ì

$

Ì

Preferred dividends accrued but unpaid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

2,872

$

4,288

$

Ì

Taxes paid (received)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ (3,088)

$

8,177

$ 18,037

Training equipment obtained in exchange for services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

945

$

1,475

$

1,496

Construction in progress Ñnanced by construction liabilityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

2,064

$

Ì

$

Ì

Construction liability recognized as operating lease ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

Ì

$ (2,064)

$

Ì

Exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

Ì

$

108

$

Ì

Exchange of preferred stock for common stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

Ì

$

Ì

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
1.

Nature of the Business
Business Description

We are a provider of post-secondary education for students seeking careers as professional automotive,
diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians. We oÅer undergraduate degree, diploma and
certiÑcate programs at eight campuses and manufacturer-sponsored advanced programs at 22 dedicated
training centers. We work closely with leading original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in the automotive,
diesel, motorcycle and marine industries to understand their needs for qualiÑed service professionals.
The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements include all the accounts of Universal Technical
Institute, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and each of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively ""we'' and
""our''). All signiÑcant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
On November 11, 2003 we approved a 4,350-to-1 stock split of our common shares to be eÅective
immediately prior to the consummation of an initial public oÅering which occurred on December 17, 2003. All
share and per share amounts in the Ñnancial statements have been adjusted to reÖect the stock split.
2.

Government Regulation and Financial Aid

Our schools and students participate in a variety of government-sponsored Ñnancial aid programs that
assist students in paying the cost of their education. The largest source of such support is the federal programs
of student Ñnancial assistance under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, commonly
referred to as the Title IV Programs, which are administered by the U.S. Department of Education (ED).
During the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004, approximately 65%, 68%, and 72%, respectively,
of our net revenues were indirectly derived from funds distributed under Title IV Programs.
To participate in Title IV Programs, a school must be authorized to oÅer its programs of instruction by
relevant state education agencies, be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by ED and be
certiÑed as an eligible institution by ED. For this reason, our schools are subject to extensive regulatory
requirements imposed by all of these entities. After our schools receive the required certiÑcations by the
appropriate entities, our schools must demonstrate their compliance with the ED regulations of the Title IV
Programs on an ongoing basis. Included in these regulations is the requirement that we must satisfy speciÑc
standards of Ñnancial responsibility. ED evaluates institutions for compliance with these standards each year,
based upon the institutions' annual audited Ñnancial statements, as well as following a change in ownership of
the institution. Under regulations which took eÅect July 1, 1998, ED calculates the institution's composite
score for Ñnancial responsibility based on its (i) equity ratio, which measures the institution's capital
resources, ability to borrow and Ñnancial viability; (ii) primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution's
ability to support current operations from expendable resources; and (iii) net income ratio, which measures
the institution's ability to operate at a proÑt.
An institution that does not meet ED's minimum composite score requirements may establish its
Ñnancial responsibility as follows:
‚ by posting a letter of credit in favor of ED in an amount up to 50% of the Title IV Program funds
received by the institution during the institution's most recently completed Ñscal year;
‚ by posting a letter of credit in an amount equal to at least 10% of the Title IV Program funds received
during the institution's most recent Ñscal year, accepting provisional certiÑcation, complying with
additional ED monitoring requirements and agreeing to receive Title IV Program funds under an
arrangement other than ED's standard advance funding arrangement; or
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
‚ by complying with additional ED monitoring requirements and agreeing to receive Title IV Program
funds under an arrangement other than ED's standard advance funding arrangement.
Based on its review of our Ñnancial statements for our Ñscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, ED determined
that we did not have a composite score of 1.5 or higher. Consequently, since November 2000, we have been
required to post a letter of credit on behalf of our institutions in favor of ED and to accept provisional
certiÑcation and additional ED reporting and monitoring procedures. At September 30, 2004, we have an
outstanding letter of credit in the amount of $9.9 million, representing approximately 10% of the total Title IV
Program funds received by our institutions in the year ended September 30, 2002, as calculated by ED. This
letter of credit was increased to $14.4 million in November 2004 which is attributable to increased funds
received under Title IV Programs during our 2003 Ñscal year. Additionally, we are required to credit students'
accounts before requesting and receiving Title IV Program funds and two of our institutions are required to Ñle
additional reports with ED regarding their receipt of Title IV Program funds. Based upon our Ñnancial position
at September 30, 2004, our composite score is 1.5 and we believe we will meet the minimum requirement for
ED. However, a release from the requirement to post a letter of credit is discretionary and we have no
assurance that this requirement will be released by ED.
3.

Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts of Universal Technical
Institute, Inc. and each of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively ""we'' and ""our''). All signiÑcant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Revenue Recognition
Net revenues consist primarily of student tuition and fees derived from the programs we provide after
reductions are made for guarantees and scholarships we sponsor. Tuition and fee revenue is recognized on a
pro-rata (straight-line) basis over the term of the course or program oÅered. If a student withdraws from a
program prior to a speciÑed date, any paid but unearned tuition is refunded. Approximately 95% of our net
revenues for the Ñscal year ended 2002, 96% of our net revenues for the Ñscal year ended 2003 and 97% of our
net revenues for the 2004 Ñscal year consisted of tuition. Our undergraduate programs are typically designed to
be completed in 12 to 18 months and our advanced training programs range from 12 to 27 weeks in duration.
We supplement our core revenues with sales of textbooks and program supplies, student housing provided by
us and other revenues. Sales of textbooks and program supplies, revenue related to student housing and other
revenue are each recognized as sales occur or services are performed. In aggregate, these additional revenues
represented less than 10% of total net revenues in each year in the three-year period ended September 30,
2004. Deferred revenue represents the excess of tuition and fee payments received as compared to tuition and
a fee earned and is reÖected as a current liability in our consolidated Ñnancial statements because it is
expected to be earned within the twelve-month period immediately following the date on which such liability
is reÖected in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to
be cash equivalents.
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Restricted Cash
Restricted cash represents the amount provided as collateral to the issuer of our letter of credit in favor of
ED. At September 30, 2004, we had an outstanding letter of credit to ED in the amount of $9.9 million, for
which $10.4 million in cash was held by the issuer as collateral. See additional discussion in Note 8.
Deferred Financing Fees
Costs incurred in connection with obtaining Ñnancing are capitalized and amortized using the eÅective
interest method over the term of the related debt. Amortization of deferred Ñnancing fees was $1.1 million for
the year ended September 30, 2002, $0.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2003 and $0.2 million for
the year ended September 30, 2004. In the year ended September 30, 2002, we wrote oÅ approximately
$1.0 million in deferred Ñnance costs related to the restructuring of our senior credit facility. In the year ended
September 30, 2003, we wrote oÅ approximately $0.5 million in deferred Ñnance costs related to the early
repayment of term debt. In the year ended September 30, 2004, we wrote oÅ an additional $0.7 million in
deferred Ñnancing costs related to the early payoÅ of term debt and $0.4 million related to the early
termination of our credit facility. These amounts have been included in other income and expense for all
periods presented.
Property and Equipment
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Amortization of equipment under
capital leases and leasehold improvements are calculated using the straight-line method over the remaining
useful life of the asset or term of lease, whichever is shorter. Equipment under capital leases totaled
$1.8 million with accumulated amortization of $1.5 million at September 30, 2003 and totaled approximately
$1.8 million with accumulated amortization of approximately $1.7 million at September 30, 2004. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life. The estimated useful life of our
training, oÇce and computer equipment ranges from 3 years to 7 years. The estimated useful life of our
vehicles is 5 years.
Depreciation and amortization related to our property and equipment was $3.8 million for the year ended
September 30, 2002, $5.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2003 and $8.6 million for the year ended
September 30, 2004. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Software Development Costs
We capitalize certain internal software development costs which are amortized using the straight-line
method over the estimated lives of the software (not to exceed 7 years). Capitalized costs include external
direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use software and payroll
and payroll related costs for employees who are directly associated with the internal software development
project. Capitalization of such costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially
complete and ready for its intended purpose. Depreciation related to internally developed software was
$0.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2003 and $0.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquired businesses over the fair market value of the
acquired net assets. We account for our goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.'' In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
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goodwill is no longer amortized and instead is tested for impairment on an annual basis. We completed our
impairment test of goodwill during the fourth quarter of 2003 and 2004 and determined there was no
impairment at that time.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets and identiÑable intangibles for possible impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.'' In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we assess the potential impairment of property and equipment
and identiÑable intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment by examining estimated future cash
Öows. These cash Öows are evaluated by using weighted probability techniques as well as comparisons of past
performance against projections. Assets may also be evaluated by identifying independent market values. If we
determine that an asset's carrying value is impaired, we will record a write-down of the carrying value of the
asset and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period in which the determination is made.
For the year ended September 30, 2004, we recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 144, a charge of
$1.2 million related to the write-oÅ of leasehold improvements for a campus we relocated in September 2004.
Advertising Costs
Costs related to advertising are expensed as incurred and totaled approximately $5.7 million for the year
ended September 30, 2002, $7.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2003 and $12.0 million for the year
ended September 30, 2004.
Start-up Costs
Costs related to the start-up of new campuses are expensed as incurred.
Stock-Based Compensation
We account for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,'' and
related Interpretations, and comply with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for StockBased Compensation'' as amended by SFAS No. 148, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì
Transition and Disclosure Ì An Amendment of SFAS No. 123,'' which deÑnes a fair value based method and
addresses common stock and options awarded to employees as well as those awarded to non-employees in
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exchange for products and services. The following table illustrates the eÅect on net income and earnings per
share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123:
Years Ending September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Net income available to common shareholder Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏ
Add stock-based compensation expense included in reported net
income, net of taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expenses
determined using the fair value based method, net of taxes ÏÏÏÏ

$6,817

$13,966

$28,044

Ì

39

371

(72)

(163)

Net income (loss) Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$6,745

$13,842

$26,607

Earnings per share Ì basic Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.51

$

1.03

$

1.14

Earnings per share Ì diluted Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.44

$

0.79

$

1.04

Earnings per shares Ì basic Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.50

$

1.02

$

1.08

Earnings per shares Ì diluted Ì pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.44

$

0.78

$

0.99

(1,808)

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The following table illustrates the assumptions used for grants made during each of the years
ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004.
Years Ending September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Expected livesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Risk-free interest rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividend yieldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Expected volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

5 years
5 years
5 years
5.02%
3.25%
3.25%
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
34.48%

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes as prescribed by SFAS No. 109, ""Accounting for Income Taxes.''
SFAS No. 109 requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the estimated future tax
consequences of events attributable to diÅerences between the Ñnancial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in eÅect for the year in which the
diÅerences are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred tax assets are reduced through the establishment
of a valuation allowance at the time, based upon available evidence, if it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Comprehensive Income
SFAS No. 130, ""Reporting Comprehensive Income,'' requires that all items that meet the deÑnition of
components of comprehensive income be reported in a Ñnancial statement for the period in which they are
recognized. Components of comprehensive income include revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States are included in comprehensive income but
excluded from net income. There are no diÅerences between our net income, as reported, and comprehensive
income, as deÑned for the periods presented.
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Concentration of Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and receivables.
We place our cash and cash equivalents with high quality Ñnancial institutions. Accounts at these
institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $0.1 million.
We extend credit for tuition and fees to the majority of our students that are in attendance at our
campuses. Our credit risk with respect to these accounts receivable is partially mitigated through the students'
participation in federally funded Ñnancial aid programs unless students withdraw prior to the receipt by us of
Title IV funds for those students. In addition, our remaining tuition receivable is primarily comprised of
smaller individual amounts due from students throughout the United States.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of Ñnancial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions. Such estimates and
assumptions aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including
those related to revenue recognition, bad debts, healthcare and workers' compensation costs, bonus costs, tool
set costs, Ñxed assets, long-lived assets including goodwill, income taxes and contingent assets and liabilities.
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances. The results of our analysis form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
diÅer from these estimates under diÅerent assumptions or conditions, and the impact of such diÅerences may
be material to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and payable, accrued
liabilities and deferred tuition approximates their fair value at September 30, 2003 and 2004 due to the shortterm nature of these instruments.
The carrying value of our long-term variable rate debt at September 30, 2003 reÖects its fair value as such
long-term debt is subject to fees and interest rates, which adjust regularly to reÖect current market rates.
The carrying value of the portion of our long-term debt with stated interest rates reÖects its fair value
based on current rates oÅered to us on debt with similar maturities and characteristics.
Earnings per Common Share
SFAS No 128, ""Earnings Per Share,'' requires the dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per
share on the face of the income statement and the disclosure of the reconciliation between the numerators and
denominators of basic and diluted earnings per share calculations. The weighted average number of common
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shares used in determining basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003
and 2004 are as follows:
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Basic earnings per share:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less preferred stock dividends:
Mandatory redeemable preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Redeemable convertible preferred stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 9,689

$20,379

$28,820

Income available to common shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1,166
1,706
2,872
$ 6,817

876
5,537
6,413
$13,966

Ì
776
776
$28,044

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13,402

13,543

24,659

Basic earnings per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

Diluted earnings per share:
Income available to common shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Add redeemable convertible preferred stock dividendsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Add convertible promissory note interest expense, net of taxes
Income available to common shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 6,817
1,706
325
$ 8,848

$13,966
5,537
320
$19,823

$28,044
776
Ì
$28,820

13,402

13,543

24,659

387
1,314
5,141
20,244

667
587
10,254
25,051

614
Ì
2,312
27,585

Weighted average number of shares (in thousands):
Basic shares outstandingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dilutive eÅect of:
Options related to the purchase of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Convertible promissory note payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Convertible preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted shares outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

0.51

$

0.44

$

$

1.03

0.79

$

1.14

$

1.04

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation
No. 46R (FIN 46R), ""Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB 51.'' FIN 46R
replaces the same titled FIN 46 that was issued in January 2003. FIN 46R provides guidance on when certain
entities should be consolidated or the interest in those entities should be disclosed by enterprises that do not
control them through majority voting interest. Under FIN 46R, entities are required to be consolidated by
enterprises that lack majority voting interest when equity investors of those entities have insigniÑcant capital at
risk or they lack voting rights, the obligation to absorb expected losses, or the right to receive expected returns.
Entities identiÑed with these characteristics are called variable interest entities, or ""VIEs,'' and the interests
that enterprises have in these entities are called variable interests. These interests can derive from certain
guarantees, leases, loans or other arrangements that result in risks and rewards that are disproportionate to the
voting interests in the entities.
The provisions of FIN 46R must be applied for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for variable
interests in entities commonly referred to as ""special purpose entities.'' For all other VIEs, implementation is
required by March 31, 2004. Our adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on our consolidated
Ñnancial statements or disclosures.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, ""Share-Based Payment.'' This statement replaces
SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation'' and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees'' and SFAS No. 148, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì Transition and Disclosure.'' SFAS No. 123R requires the measurement and recording of the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments to be based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS No. 123R is eÅective for all awards granted or modiÑed after
June 15, 2005 and provides transition guidance for recording expense related to employee service for the fair
value of awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, and measured in accordance with the
previously issued SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148. SFAS No. 123R is eÅective at the beginning
of the Ñrst interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005. We estimate the eÅect of
adopting SFAS No. 123R, based upon outstanding equity awards as of September 30, 2004 will be
approximately $0.7 million for the fourth quarter of our 2005 Ñscal year. This estimate does not include the
impact of additional equity awards which may be granted or forfeitures which may occur subsequent to
September 30, 2004 and prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.
4.

Receivables
Receivables, net consist of the following:
September 30,
2003
2004

Tuition receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less allowance for uncollectible accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$21,051
1,126
22,177
(2,321)
$19,856

5.

$19,148
2,997
22,145
(2,021)
$20,124

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net consist of the following:
September 30,
2003
2004

Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Training equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
OÇce and computer equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Internally developed software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
VehiclesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 14,084
20,189
10,848
2,369
571
916
48,977
(21,531)
$ 27,446

$ 13,411
26,732
16,715
3,006
625
777
61,266
(24,341)
$ 36,925

In September 2004, we entered into an agreement to purchase 24.5 acres of land and a 170,000 square
foot building in the Boston suburb of Norwood, Massachusetts. The purchase price is approximately
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$12.4 million of which approximately $0.6 million was deposited into escrow at September 30, 2004. We
anticipate the completion of the land and building purchase during the second quarter of Ñscal year 2005.
6.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:
September 30,
2003
2004

Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued compensation and beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

7.

$ 5,059
13,507
6,439

$ 6,897
19,332
6,587

$25,005

$32,816

Investment in Land

We previously acquired land in Phoenix, Arizona for possible future expansion. We did not make formal
plans for the development of the land and have placed the land for sale. The land parcels are valued at the
lower of cost or market value less selling costs. In connection with our 1999 recapitalization in which we issued
additional common stock and our Series C preferred stock, we agreed to distribute any proceeds received from
the sale of the land to the participating common shareholders. The carrying value of the land was $0.1 million
at September 30, 2003 and September 30, 2004. We also have recorded a corresponding long-term liability in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets to reÖect the required distribution payable to shareholders.
During the year ended September 30, 2003, we sold certain parcels of the land held for sale. Total
proceeds from the sale were $0.3 million and were distributed to our common shareholders.
8.

Revolving Credit Facility

EÅective September 30, 2004, we terminated our Second Amendment and Restatement of Credit
Agreement (the Old Credit Agreement) which had provided a revolving credit facility of $30.0 million which
could be used for working capital needs and the issuance of letters of credit. There were no outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility and we had an outstanding letter of credit of $9.9 million issued
to the ED at the time of termination. In connection with the termination of the Old Credit Agreement, we
provided $10.4 million in cash collateral for the $9.9 million issued and outstanding letter of credit which
expired on November 9, 2004. As a result of our termination of the Old Credit Agreement, we recognized
approximately $0.4 million in other expense related to the write-oÅ of previously recorded and unamortized
deferred Ñnancing and administrative fees. As discussed in Note 9, we also recognized a charge of
approximately $0.7 million for the write-oÅ of unamortized deferred Ñnancing fees associated with the early
repayment of term debt.
The Old Credit Agreement was collateralized by a security interest in substantially all the assets of UTI
Holdings, Inc., the borrower under the Old Credit Agreement. UTI Holdings, Inc. owns 100% of the capital
stock of all of our operating subsidiaries. In July 2003, we amended our credit agreement. The amendment
increased our available borrowing under our revolving credit facility from $20.0 million to $30.0 million,
increased the limit for letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility from the greater of
(a) $10.0 million and (b) an amount, not exceeding $15.0 million, equal to 10% of Title IV funding received
by us to the greater of (x) $15.0 million and (y) an amount, not exceeding $22.5 million, equal to 10% of
Title IV funding received by us. The amendment also increased the level of permitted capital expenditures,
reduced the interest rate from the alternate base rate plus 1.50% to 2.25% or LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.5% to the
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alternate base rate plus 1.25% to 2.25% or LIBOR plus 2.50% to 3.50%, in each case depending on our
leverage ratio during the applicable interest period and approved certain restricted cash payments. In
connection with the amendment, we were required to repay $15.0 million on our Term B loan facility
discussed in Note 9.
In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the revolving credit facility, we were required
to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the revolving credit facility with respect to the unused
commitments at a rate equal to 0.5% per year, and a risk participation fee equal to 1.5% per year to the issuers
of letters of credit under our revolving credit facility with respect to the amount of such letters of credit.
Interest was payable quarterly. The alternate base rate was 5.25% at September 30, 2003 and 6.00% at
September 30, 2004. LIBOR was 1.188% at September 30, 2003 and 2.196% at September 30, 2004. Issued
and outstanding letters of credit were $15.6 million at September 30, 2003 and $9.9 million at September 30,
2004.
The Old Credit Agreement contained certain restrictive covenants, including but not limited to
maintenance of certain Ñnancial ratios and restrictions on capital expenditures, indebtedness, contingent
obligations, investments and certain payments. At September 30, 2003, we were not in compliance with a nonÑnancial covenant related to Ñnancial reporting for which we received a waiver of violation from our lender.
On October 26, 2004, we entered into a new credit agreement with a bank for a revolving line of credit in
the amount of $30.0 million and a standby letter of credit facility in the amount of $20.0 million. We have the
option to issue letters of credit under either the revolving line of credit thereby reducing our borrowing
availability or under the standby letter of credit facility. The revolving line of credit is guaranteed by UTI
Holdings, Inc. and each of it's wholly owned subsidiaries. The standby letter of credit facility is collateralized
by a cash collateral account equal to the advance rate, as deÑned, multiplied by the issued and outstanding
letters of credit. EÅective November 1, 2004, we issued a letter of credit in the amount of $14.4 million and
provided cash collateral in the amount of $15.8 million.
The new credit agreement requires interest to be paid quarterly in arrears on the revolving line of credit
based upon the lender's interest rate less 0.50% per annum or LIBOR plus 0.625% per annum, at our option.
The revolving line of credit also requires an unused commitment fee payable quarterly in arrears equal to
0.125% per annum. Issued letters of credit bear fees of 0.625% per annum under the revolving line of credit
and 0.375% per annum under the standby letter of credit facility. Interest on issued letters of credit is payable
quarterly in advance.
The new credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants, including but not limited to maintenance
of certain Ñnancial ratios and restrictions on indebtedness, contingent obligations and investments. In addition,
the credit agreement requires that we maintain our accreditation and eligibility for receiving Title IV funds.
9.

Long-Term Debt and Capital Leases

In conjunction with our initial public oÅering, we entered into an amendment to the Old Credit
Agreement that provided that the net proceeds received from our initial public oÅering be applied on a prorata basis against all remaining scheduled payment installments on the term notes then outstanding under the
Old Credit Agreement. On December 23, 2003, we used proceeds received from our initial public oÅering to
repay all of the then outstanding term debt totaling $31.5 million. In addition, as a result of the early payment
of term debt, we recognized a charge of approximately $0.7 million related to the write oÅ of unamortized
deferred Ñnancing fees. As discussed in Note 8, the Old Credit Agreement was terminated eÅective
September 30, 2004, at which time we recognized an additional charge of approximately $0.4 million related
to the write-oÅ of remaining unamortized deferred Ñnancing and administrative fees.
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Prior to the repayment of term debt with the proceeds from our initial public oÅering, we had two term
notes outstanding. Interest on these term notes was required to be paid quarterly. As discussed in Note 8, in
July 2003, we amended our credit agreement. Among other things, the amendment reduced the interest rate
on our Term A loan from the alternate base rate plus 1.50% to 2.25% or LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.5% to the
alternate base rate plus 1.25% to 2.25% or LIBOR plus 2.50% to 3.50% and reduced the interest rate on our
Term B loan from the alternate base rate plus 2.0% to 2.75% or LIBOR plus 3.25% to 4.0% to the alternate
base rate plus 1.75% to 2.75% or LIBOR plus 3.0% to 4.0%, in each case depending on our leverage ratio
during the applicable interest period. In connection with the amendment, we were required to repay
$15.0 million on our Term B loan facility. Our Term A loan had a scheduled maturity of March 31, 2007 and
our Term B loan had a scheduled maturity of March 31, 2009. There were no penalties for early repayment of
our Term A and Term B loan facilities.
Borrowings under our Term A and Term B loan facilities were collateralized by a security interest in
substantially all the assets of UTI Holdings, Inc., the borrower under the Old Credit Agreement. UTI
Holdings, Inc. owns 100% of the capital stock of all our operating subsidiaries.
Our alternate base rate was 5.25% at September 30, 2003 and 6.00% at September 30, 2004. The LIBOR
rate was 1.188% at September 30, 2003 and 2.196% at September 30, 2004. As discussed in Note 8, the Old
Credit Agreement contained certain restrictive covenants. At September 30, 2003, we were not in compliance
with a non-Ñnancial covenant related to Ñnancial reporting, for which we received a waiver from our lender.
We have various capital leases related to training equipment utilized in our campus classrooms and oÇce
equipment. These capital leases bear interest at rates from 6.0% to 14.2% and are collateralized by the
underlying equipment.
Long-term debt and capital leases consist of the following:
September 30,
2003
2004

Term A loan facility payable to bank ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Term B loan facility payable to bank ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$16,950
14,550

$ Ì
Ì

Less current portion of long term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

31,500
(3,500)

Ì
Ì

Long term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capital leasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less current portion of capital leases, net of interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

28,000
374
(360)

Ì
43
(37)

Long term capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

14

Total long-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$28,014
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Future minimum lease payments under our capital lease agreements are as follows:
Year ending September 30,
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less amount representing interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

45
(2)

Present value of minimum lease payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less current portion, net of interestÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

43
(37)

Capital lease obligation, less current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
10.

$ 38
7
Ì

$

6

Income Taxes
The components of income tax expense are as follows:
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Current expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Charge in lieu of taxes attributable to stock option exercise ÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$1,964
3,264
Ì

$10,582
484
1,287

$15,343
3,299
495

Total provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$5,228

$12,353

$19,137

The income tax provision diÅers from the tax that would result from application of the statutory federal
tax rate. The reasons for the diÅerences are as follows:
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Income tax expense at statutory rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nondeductible secondary oÅering expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nondeductible preferred stock dividend ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Provision (release) of tax reserve ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nondeductible meals and entertainment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State income taxes, net of federal tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total income tax expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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$5,073
$11,455
Ì
Ì
Ì
102
Ì
(721)
68
81
329
1,449
(242)
(13)

$16,785
226
93
259
121
1,600
53

$5,228

$19,137

$12,353
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The components of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) are recorded in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets as follows:
September 30,
2003
2004

Gross deferred tax assets:
Compensation not yet deductible for taxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Receivable reserves ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Loss reserves and accruals not yet deductible ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net operating loss and net capital loss carryovers ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

Total gross deferred tax assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

2,641
$ 3,193
928
792
2,464
2,745
Ì
173
16,592
16,363
(16,416)
(16,083)
6,209

7,183

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwill and intangibles ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(2,292)
(2,570)
(317)

(3,259)
(5,525)
(668)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(5,179)

(9,452)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 1,030

$(2,269)

The deferred tax assets (liabilities) are reÖected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as
follows:
September 30,
2003
2004

Current deferred tax assets, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities), netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 875
155

$ 785
(3,054)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$1,030

$(2,269)

At September 30, 2004, we had a valuation allowance of $16.1 million to reduce our deferred tax assets to
an amount that management believes is more likely than not to be realized. The valuation allowance primarily
relates to a deferred tax asset arising from a capital loss carryforward from the sale of a discontinued business.
The utilization of capital loss carryforwards may be subject to certain limitations under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Our capital loss carryforward expires in 2005.
11.

Noncompete and Consulting Agreements

Our management consulting agreement with certain private equity investors terminated with the
consummation of our initial public oÅering in December 2003. We have recorded and paid management
consulting fees of $0.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2002, $0.8 million for the year ended
September 30, 2003 and $0.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.
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12.

Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
We lease our facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases, some of which
contain renewal options, escalation clauses and requirements to pay other fees associated with the leases. We
recognize rent expense on a straight line basis. Two of our campus facilities are leased from a related party.
Future minimum rental commitments at September 30, 2004 for all non-cancelable operating leases for each
of the years ending September 30 are as follows:
Year ending September 30,
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 17,237
17,147
16,929
16,811
16,654
144,529
$229,307

Rent expense for operating leases was approximately $8.6 million, $11.0 million and $14.3 million for the
years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Rent paid to related parties was approximately
$2.3 million, $1.7 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively.
In October 2004, we entered into a long-term, real property lease agreement for a 22.5 acre parcel of land
in Sacramento, California. A new undergraduate automotive technician training campus is planned to be
constructed on the land. The initial term of the lease is Ñfty years with two renewal periods of ten years each.
Lease payments begin upon the earlier of our occupancy of the planned facility or September 1, 2005 with
minimum lease payments of approximately $0.4 million per annum adjusted every three years during the
initial term based upon the consumer price index. Minimum lease payments in each of the renewal periods
will be based upon the then current fair market value of the real property. We expect to open the campus in
the Ñrst half of our 2006 Ñscal year.
Licensing Agreement
In 1997, we entered into a licensing agreement that gives us the right to use certain materials and
trademarks in the development of our courses and delivery of services on our campuses. The agreement was
amended in May 2004. Under the terms of the amended license agreement, we are committed to pay royalties
based upon a Öat per student fee for students who elect and attend the licensed program. Minimum payments
are required as follows: $0.2 million for calendar years 2002 and 2003; $0.3 million for calendar years 2004 and
2005; $0.4 million for calendar year 2006; and $0.5 million for calendar year 2007. A license fee is also payable
based upon a percentage of net sales related to the sale of any product which bears the licensed trademark. In
addition, we are required to pay a minimum marketing and advertising fee for which in return we receive the
right to utilize certain advertising space in the licensor's published periodicals. The minimum marketing and
advertising fee is as follows: $0.3 million for calendar years 2002 and 2003; $0.4 million for the calendar year
2004; $0.6 million for calendar year 2005 and 2006; and $0.7 million for calendar year 2007. The agreement
expires December 31, 2007.
In 1999, we entered into a licensing agreement that gives us the right to use certain materials and
trademarks in the development of our courses. Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to pay a Öat
F-21

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
per student fee for each three week phase a student completes of the total 3 phases oÅered in connection with
this license agreement. There are no minimum license fees required to be paid. The agreement terminates
upon the written notice of either party providing not less than six months notiÑcation of intent to terminate. In
addition, the agreement may be terminated by the licensor after notiÑcation to us of a contractual breach if
such breach remains uncured for more than 30 days.
In 2001, we entered into a licensing agreement that gives us the right to use certain trademarks in
connection with the development and operation of our campuses and courses. We are committed to pay
royalties based upon net revenue, as deÑned in the agreement, commencing in calendar year 2001 and ending
upon the expiration of the agreement in calendar year 2006. The agreement requires minimum royalty
payments of $0.4 million in calendar year 2002 and $0.5 million each year thereafter.
Vendor Relationship
In 1998, we entered into an agreement with Snap-on Tools. Our agreement with Snap-on Tools was
renewed in December 2004 and expires in January 2009. The agreement provides that we may purchase
promotional tool kits for our students from Snap-on Tools at a discount from their list price. In addition, we
earn credits that are redeemable for equipment we use in our business. Credits are earned on our purchases as
well as purchases made by students enrolled at our campuses. We have agreed to grant Snap-on Tools
exclusive access to our campuses and display advertising as well as to use Snap-on tools to train our students.
The credits earned under this agreement may be redeemed for Snap-on tools or equipment at the full retail list
price, which is more than we would be required to pay using cash.
Students are each promised the receipt of a tool kit upon completing certain coursework. The cost of the
tool kits (net of the credit) is accrued during the time period in which the students begin attending school
until they have reached the phase in which the promotional tool kits are provided.
As we have opened new campuses, Snap-on has historically advanced us credits for the purchase of their
tools or equipment that support our new campus growth. At September 30, 2003, our net Snap-on liability
resulting from using credits in excess of credits earned was $0.7 million, and at September 30, 2004 that
liability was $1.1 million.
Upon termination of the agreement, we continue to earn credits relative to promotional tool kits we
purchase or additional tools our active students purchase. We continue to earn these credits until a tool kit is
provided to the last student eligible under the agreement.
Student Loan Guarantee
In April 2004, we entered into an agreement with a third party lender to provide an alternative loan option
to our students who do not qualify for other available student loan options we provide. Under the terms of the
agreement, we are required to provide a guarantee equal to 40% of the loans issued under this program. Under
the terms of the agreement we have a funding limit of $10.0 million through June 30, 2005. We are required to
pay the guarantee amount to the lender twice monthly based upon loan proceeds received. The funding of our
guarantee for loans issued under this program may be used for the full and prompt payment of 100% of
outstanding principle, accrued interest and other charges and fees for loans that default, as deÑned in the
agreement.
In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 45,
""Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Indebtedness of
Others'' (FIN 45). This interpretation elaborates on the accounting for and disclosures to be made by a
guarantor in its interim and annual Ñnancial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees it has
issued. In accordance with FIN 45, we have recognized a liability for the full 40% guarantee based upon the
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present value of expected cash Öows under this guarantee agreement because similar loan programs which we
have not guaranteed experience a historical default rate greater than 40%. Accordingly, for the year ended
September 30, 2004 we have recognized a guarantee liability of $129 which is recognized as a reduction of
tuition revenue over the matriculation of the student through their program. At September 30, 2004, the
unfunded portion of the guarantee liability was $15 and is classiÑed as a current liability in the accompanying
balance sheet.
Executive Employment Agreements
We have entered into employment contracts with key executives that provide for the continuation of
salary if terminated for reasons other than cause, as deÑned in the agreements. At September 30, 2004, the
future employment contract commitments for such employees were approximately $1.0 million for the Ñscal
year ending September 30, 2005 and approximately $0.7 million for the Ñscal year ending 2006.
Change in Control Agreements
We have entered into severance agreements with key executives that provide for the continuation of
salary if the employees are terminated for any reason within twelve months subsequent to a change in
corporate structure that results in a change in control. Under the terms of the severance agreements, these
employees are entitled to twelve months salary at their highest rate during the previous twelve months. In
addition, the employees are eligible to receive their unearned portion of the target bonus in eÅect in the year
termination occurs and would be eligible to receive medical beneÑts under the plans maintained by us at no
cost. The agreements expire in 2007 with an automatic one year renewal if notice of intent to terminate is not
provided by us 90 days prior to expiration. At September 30, 2004, the future employment contract
commitments for such employees were approximately $1.0 million.
Surety Bonds
Each of our campuses must be authorized by the applicable state education agency of the state in which
the campus is located in order to operate and to grant degrees, diplomas or certiÑcates to its students. Our
campuses are subject to extensive, ongoing regulation by each of these states. In addition, our campuses are
required to be authorized by the applicable state education agencies of certain other states in which our
campuses recruit students. We are required to post surety bonds on behalf of our campuses and education
representatives with multiple states to maintain authorization to conduct our business. At September 30, 2004,
we have posted surety bonds in the total amount of approximately $13.3 million.
Legal
In the ordinary conduct of our business, we are periodically subject to lawsuits, investigations and claims,
including, but not limited to, claims involving students or graduates and routine employment matters.
Although we cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigations and claims
asserted against us, we do not believe that any currently pending legal proceeding to which we are a party will
have a material adverse eÅect on our business, results of operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial condition.
In April 2004, we received a letter on behalf of nine former employees of National Technology Transfer,
Inc. (NTT), an entity that we purchased in 1998 and subsequently sold, making a demand for an aggregate
payment of approximately $0.3 million and 19,756 shares of our common stock. The claim is based on the
assertion that the former owner of NTT promised them such payments upon completion of a public oÅering of
our common stock. We believe the demand for payment is without merit. On May 14, 2004, plaintiÅs Ñled suit
in Boulder County, Colorado District Court seeking payment in accordance with their demand. We Ñled a
motion to dismiss due to lack of personal jurisdiction and improper venue. On November 10, 2004, the
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Colorado District Court dismissed the suit on the basis that the forum selection clause in the agreement, under
which plaintiÅs claimed they were owed payment, speciÑed that any action arising under the agreement must
be brought in state or federal court in Phoenix, Arizona.
13.

Employee BeneÑt Plans

401(k) Plan
We sponsor a deÑned contribution 401(k) plan, under which our employees elect to withhold speciÑed
amounts from their wages to contribute to the plan and we have a Ñduciary responsibility with respect to the
plan. The plan provides for matching a portion of employees' contributions at management's discretion. All
contributions and matches by us are invested at the direction of the employee in one or more mutual funds or
cash. We made contributions totaling approximately $0.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2002,
$0.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2003 and $0.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.
Deferred Compensation Plan
We have entered into deferred compensation agreements with six of our employees, providing for the
payment of deferred compensation to each employee in the event that the employee is no longer employed by
us. Under each agreement, the employee shall receive an amount equal to the compensation the employee
would have earned if the employee had repeated the employment performance of the prior twelve months. We
will pay the deferred compensation in a lump sum or over the period in which the employee would typically
have earned the compensation had the employee been actively employed, at our option. Our commitment
under the deferred compensation agreements was approximately $1.5 million as of September 30, 2003 and
approximately $1.2 million as of September 30, 2004.
Executive BeneÑt Plan
We sponsored the Universal Technical Institute Executive BeneÑt Plan. The Plan provided for the annual
deferral of all or part of certain executive bonuses into the plan as well as amounts withheld from executives'
wages, where applicable. We could elect to match contributions on an annual basis. All amounts were fully
vested when deferred and matched. EÅective September 30, 2004, the Plan was terminated and approximately
$0.8 million in Plan liabilities were extinguished at that time. In October, 2004, the remaining Plan liability of
approximately $0.5 million was extinguished through the distribution of remaining Plan assets of $0.3 million
and $0.2 million in cash provided by us. The obligations under the Plan and assets held by the Plan for each of
the Ñscal years ending September 30, are reÖected in the accompanying balance sheet as follows:
Plan Assets:
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Receivables, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Plan Liabilities:
Other liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
14.

2003

2004

$249
$ Ì

$ Ì
$262

$888
$ Ì

$ Ì
$460

Common Stock

Holders of our common stock shall be entitled to receive dividends when and as declared by the board of
directors. In September 2003, we paid a dividend in the aggregate of $5.0 million to our common stockholders
and the holders of our series D preferred stock. The common stock is not redeemable. The holder of each
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share of common stock has the right to one vote per share owned. At September 30, 2003, we had outstanding
subscriptions receivable of $28.
On December 17, 2003, we sold approximately 3.3 million shares of our common stock in an initial public
oÅering for approximately $59.0 million in net cash proceeds, after deducting underwriting commission and
oÅering expenses of approximately $7.7 million. On December 22, 2003, we consummated an exchange oÅer
pursuant to which we oÅered to exchange the outstanding shares of our series A, series B and series C
preferred stock for shares of our common stock at an exchange price equal to our initial public oÅering price.
An aggregate total of approximately 6,500 shares of series A, series B and series C preferred stock were
presented for exchange, representing a face value of approximately $6.5 million, and we issued an aggregate of
approximately 0.3 million shares of our common stock. In addition, our series D preferred stock automatically
converted to common stock upon the consummation of our initial public oÅering. Accordingly, the
approximately 2,357 shares of series D preferred stock representing a face value of $45.5 million were
converted into approximately 10.3 million shares of common stock.
The $59.0 million in net proceeds received from the sale of our common stock was used to repay all our
outstanding term debt totaling $31.5 million, redeem the remaining series A, series B and series C preferred
stock totaling $12.9 million and pay the accrued dividends related to the series A, series B, series C and
series D preferred stock totaling $12.6 million.
Upon the consummation of our initial public oÅering, our Amended and Restated CertiÑcate of
Incorporation became eÅective. The Amended and Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation increased the
number of authorized common shares from approximately 37.0 million shares to 100.0 million shares and
increased the number of authorized preferred shares from 25,000 shares to 10.0 million shares. In addition, our
board of directors and shareholders approved the Universal Technical Institute, Inc. 2003 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) and the Universal Technical Institute, Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (SIP), eÅective
upon the consummation of our initial public oÅering, whereby we have reserved 0.3 million shares of common
stock for the ESPP and approximately 4.4 million shares of common stock for the SIP.
15.

Preferred Stock
At September 30, 2003, preferred stock consisted of the following:

Redeemable preferred
stock:
Series AÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Series B ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Series C ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Redeemable convertible
preferred stock:
Series DÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

September 30, 2003
Accrued and
Unpaid
Held by
Dividends
UTI Trust

Redemption
Amount

Subscriptions
Receivable

$11,178
4,067
4,200

$Ì
Ì
Ì

$ 4,024
1,464
1,008

19,445

Ì

6,496

(479)

45,500

Ì

5,118

Ì

$64,945

$Ì

$11,614

$

Ì
Ì
(479)

$(479)

Transaction
Fees

$

Carrying
Amount

Ì
Ì
Ì

$15,202
5,531
4,729

Ì

25,462

(3,457)

47,161

$(3,457) $72,623

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, ""Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.'' SFAS No. 150 changes the accounting and disclosure
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requirements for certain Ñnancial instruments that, under previous guidance, could be classiÑed as equity. The
guidance in SFAS No. 150 is generally eÅective for all Ñnancial instruments entered into or modiÑed after
May 31, 2003 and is otherwise eÅective at the beginning of the Ñrst interim period beginning after June 15,
2003. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 150, eÅective July 1, 2003, we classiÑed as a liability our redeemable
convertible preferred stock series A, B and C with a combined carrying value of approximately $25.5 million.
Additionally, eÅective July 1, 2003, the dividends on these securities are included as a component of interest
expense instead of preferred stock dividends in the consolidated statement of operations. SFAS No. 150
prohibits restatement of Ñnancial statements for periods prior to adoption, accordingly these changes have
been made prospectively.
The following table presents a comparison of net income as if SFAS 150 had been adopted at the
beginning of the earliest period presented:
Year Ended September 30,
2002
2003
2004

Reported net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less preferred stock dividend for Series A, Series B and
Series C preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$9,689

$20,379

$28,820

1,166

876

Ì

Adjusted net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less preferred stock dividend for Series D preferred stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

8,523
1,706

19,503
5,537

28,820
776

Net income available for common shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$6,817

$13,966

$28,044

Series A and Series B Preferred Stock
In January 1998, we issued 11,178 shares of series A preferred stock (Series A) and 4,067 shares of
series B preferred stock (Series B), each with a par value of $.0001. The Series A and Series B provided for
cumulative annual dividends of 6%, whether or not declared, payable on June 30 of each year. The Series A
and Series B were subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2010 and October 15, 2017, respectively.
The liquidation value was equal to one thousand dollars per share. The redemption value was equal to the
liquidation value plus accrued and unpaid dividends.
In August 2003, we collected, in its entirety, the subscription receivable from a shareholder and related
party with a face value of approximately $3.7 million.
Series C Preferred Stock
In September 1999, in conjunction with a recapitalization transaction, we issued 4,200 shares of series C
preferred stock (Series C) with a par value of $.0001. The stock was recorded at its fair value on the date of
issuance. The Series C provided for cumulative annual dividends of 6%, whether or not declared, payable on
September 30 of each year. The Series C was subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2010, The
liquidation value was equal to one thousand dollars per share. The redemption value was equal to the
liquidation value plus accrued and unpaid dividends.
We owned the UTI Tax-Deferred Trust (UTI Trust), which was set up to facilitate the provision of
deferred compensation to our executives (Note 13). The UTI Trust held 386 shares of Series C at
September 30, 2002 and 2003. The UTI Tax-Deferred Trust was terminated eÅective September 30, 2004.
The carrying value of these shares, including accrued and unpaid dividends, was $0.5 million at September
2003 and is reÖected as a reduction of the total carrying value of Series C in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet.
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Series D Preferred Stock
In April 2002, in conjunction with a recapitalization transaction, we issued 2,357 shares of $.0001 par
value convertible series D preferred stock (Series D) for aggregate gross proceeds of $45.5 million. The
Series D was recorded at $42.0 million, net of its issuance costs of $3.5 million. The Series D provided for
annual dividends of 7.5% which were cumulative, whether or not declared, payable on September 30 of each
year. Series D was convertible on a one for one basis and redeemable, at the holder's option, upon a change in
control, as more particularly described in the certiÑcate of designation. In addition, Series D converted
automatically into shares of common stock upon a qualiÑed initial public oÅering as that term was deÑned in
the certiÑcate of designation.
In September 2003, we amended our CertiÑcate of Incorporation to accelerate the payment to our
Series D preferred stockholders of their proportional share of common stock dividends that they would receive
upon the conversion of the Series D preferred stock into common stock. Accordingly, we distributed additional
dividends totaling $2.1 million to our Series D preferred shareholders in September 2003.
Preferred Stock Exchange and Redemption
In November 2003, we oÅered to all holders of Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock the ability
to exchange their preferred stock for shares of our common stock pursuant to an exchange agreement. The
number of shares of common stock that were issued in exchange for each share of the preferred stock was
equal to the liquidation value of the preferred stock ($1,000 per share) divided by the initial public oÅering
price of our common stock. On December 22, 2003, we completed our initial public oÅering with an oÅering
price for our common stock of $20.50 per share. Upon consummation of our initial public oÅering, we
exchanged approximately 6,500 shares of Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock and 2,357 shares of
Series D preferred stock for an aggregate 10.6 million shares of common stock. In addition, we redeemed the
remaining Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock totaling $12.9 million and paid the accrued
dividends related to the Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D preferred stock totaling $12.6 million. In
connection with the preferred stock redemption, oÇcers of the Company received approximately $5.3 million.
16.

Employee Stock Plans

Management Stock Option Plans
We have three stock option plans, which we refer to as the Management 1999 Option Program (1999
Plan), the Management 2002 Option Program (2002 Plan) and the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (2003 Plan).
On September 30, 1999, we granted non-qualiÑed options to purchase 469,800 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $0.23 per share, the fair market value of our common stock as of that date. All grants were
immediately vested. In June 2003, all outstanding options issued under the 1999 Plan were exercised by tender
of 6% subscription notes receivable which were repaid in August 2003.
The 2002 Plan was approved and adopted on April 1, 2002 and authorized the issuance of options to
purchase 746,022 shares of our common stock. Options to acquire 609,251 shares were granted on April 1,
2002 at an exercise price of $4.40 per share, the fair market value of our common stock as of that date. On
February 25, 2003, our board of directors authorized an additional 36,978 shares to be issued under options to
purchase our common stock and granted options on an additional 150,075 shares at an exercise price of
$7.31 per share, which was less than the fair market value of $10.18 at that date. In accordance with APB 25,
we have recorded approximately $0.1 million of expense in the year ended September 30, 2003 and
$0.1 million of expense in the year ended September 30, 2004 related to the 2002 Plan option grants. Options
issued under the 2002 Plan vest ratably each year over a four-year period.
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The expiration date of options granted under the 2002 Plan is the earlier of the ten-year anniversary of the
grant date; the one-year anniversary of the termination of the participant's employment by reason of death or
disability; thirty days after the date of the participant's termination of employment if caused by reasons other
than death, disability, cause, material breach or unsatisfactory performance or on the termination date if
termination occurs for reasons of cause, material breach or unsatisfactory performance. We do not intend to
grant any additional options under the 2002 Plan.
The 2003 Plan was approved and adopted eÅective December 22, 2003 upon consummation of the initial
public oÅering. The 2003 Plan authorized the issuance of options to purchase 4.4 million shares of our
common stock. During the year ended September 30, 2004, we recognized our employees and awarded options
to purchase approximately 1.5 million shares of our common stock. All options issued during our 2004 Ñscal
year were issued at the fair market value of our common stock as of the grant date and typically vest ratably
over a four-year period. During the 2004 Ñscal year, we modiÑed two option grant agreements and provided for
an acceleration of vesting. In accordance with APB 25, in connection with these modiÑcations, we recorded
additional compensation expense totaling approximately $0.5 million. In addition, in accordance with our
Board of Directors compensation policy, we granted 1,000 shares each to our Ñve non-employee members of
our board of directors and recognized board of director compensation expense of approximately $0.2 million in
accordance with APB 25.
The expiration date of options granted under the 2003 Plan is the earlier of the ten-year anniversary of the
grant date; the one-year anniversary of the termination of the participant's employment by reason of death or
disability; ninety days after the date of the participant's termination of employment if caused by reasons other
than death, disability, cause, material breach or unsatisfactory performance or on the termination date if
termination occurs for reasons of cause, material breach or unsatisfactory performance.
The following table summarizes stock option activity for 2003 and 2004:
Year Ended
September 30, 2003
Weighted Average
Stock Options
Exercise Price

Year Ended
September 30, 2004
Weighted Average
Stock Options
Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Expired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1,079,052
150,075
(469,800)
Ì

$2.48
$7.31
$0.23
$ Ì

759,327
1,550,581
(46,920)
(140,254)

$ 4.97
$20.97
$10.38
$14.06

Outstanding, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercisable, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

759,327
152,313

$4.97
$4.40

2,122,734
321,025

$15.93
$ 4.94

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at
September 30, 2004:
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Ranges

Options
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

$ 4.40 -$ 7.31 ÏÏÏ
$20.50 -$27.02 ÏÏÏ
$38.79 -$43.57 ÏÏÏ

659,552
1,428,982
34,200

$ 4.71
20.53
40.24

7.35
8.96
9.52

313,525
7,500
Ì

$ 4.57
20.50
Ì

2,122,734

$15.93

8.47

321,025

$ 4.94
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan
We have an employee stock purchase plan that allows eligible employees of the company to purchase our
common stock up to an aggregate of 300,000 shares at semi-annual intervals through periodic payroll
deduction. The number of shares of common stock issued under this plan was 35,572 shares in Ñscal year
2004. The purchase price is based upon the lesser of the closing stock price on the Ñrst day of the oÅering
period or the last day of the oÅering period at a 15% discount.
17.

Segment Information

We follow SFAS No. 131, ""Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.''
SFAS No. 131 establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report certain information
about operating segments in their Ñnancial reports. Operating segments are deÑned as components of an
enterprise about which separate Ñnancial information is available that is evaluated on a regular basis by the
chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in assessing performance of the segment and in
deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment. SFAS No. 131 also establishes standards for
related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers.
Our principal business is providing post-secondary education. We also provide manufacturer-speciÑc
training, and these operations are managed separately from our campus operations. These operations do not
currently meet the quantitative criteria for segments and therefore are not deemed reportable under
SFAS No. 131 and are reÖected in the Other category. Corporate expenses are allocated to Post-Secondary
Education and the Other category.
Summary information by reportable segment is as follows as of and for the years ended September 30:
2002
Post-Secondary
Education

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$132,607
$ 23,329
$ 4,622
$ 20,579
$ 73,227

Other

Total

$11,765
$144,372
$(1,311) $ 22,018
$ 326
$ 4,948
$
Ì
$ 20,579
$ 3,659
$ 76,886
2003

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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Post-Secondary
Education

Other

Total

$182,610
$ 36,030
$ 5,964
$ 20,579
$ 80,195

$13,885
$ 126
$ 418
$
Ì
$ 3,904

$196,495
$ 36,156
$ 6,382
$ 20,579
$ 84,099
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2004
Post-Secondary
Education

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
18.

$240,291
$ 50,412
$ 8,415
$ 20,579
$133,148

Other

Total

$14,858
$255,149
$ (290) $ 50,122
$ 397
$ 8,812
$
Ì
$ 20,579
$ 3,168
$136,316

Quarterly Financial Summary (Unaudited)
Fiscal 2002

Net Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income available to common
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2003

Net Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income available to common
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2004

Net Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income available to common
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal
Year

$34,405
$ 6,249

$35,483
$ 6,096

$35,540
$ 4,766

$38,944
$ 4,907

$144,372
$ 22,018

$ 2,355

$ 2,374

$

557

$ 1,531

$

6,817

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.04
0.04

$
$

$
$

0.51
0.44

0.18
0.16

0.18
0.16

0.11
0.10

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal
Year

$45,374
$ 8,240

$47,358
$ 9,482

$48,910
$ 9,171

$54,853
$ 9,263

$196,495
$ 36,156

$ 3,501

$ 4,257

$ 3,948

$ 2,260

$ 13,966

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.26
0.18

0.32
0.21

0.29
0.20

0.16
0.16

1.03
0.79

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal
Year

$59,043
$14,015

$63,684
$13,494

$62,947
$10,865

$69,475
$11,748

$255,149
$ 50,122

$ 6,677

$ 8,056

$ 6,636

$ 6,675

$ 28,044

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.43
0.30

0.29
0.28

0.24
0.23

0.24
0.23

1.14
1.04

Net income available to common shareholders for the year ended September 30, 2003 includes the eÅect
of the Series D preferred stock proportional share of a $5.0 million common stock dividend. The series D
preferred stock proportional share amounted to approximately $2.1 million.
The summation of quarterly net income per share, and quarterly net income per share assuming dilution,
does not equate to the calculation for the full Ñscal year as quarterly calculations are performed on a discrete
basis. In addition, securities may have an anti-dilutive eÅect during individual quarters but not for the full
year.
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Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Allowance accounts for the years ended:
September 30, 2002
Uncollectible accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax asset valuationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
September 30, 2003
Uncollectible accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax asset valuationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
September 30, 2004
Uncollectible accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax asset valuationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Inventory reserve ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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Additions
Charged to
Expense
Write-OÅs
(In thousands)

Balance at
End of Period

$ 1,548
$16,416

2,465
Ì

2,437
Ì

$ 1,576
$16,416

$ 1,576
$16,416

2,470
Ì

1,725
Ì

$ 2,321
$16,416

$ 2,321
$16,416
$
Ì

3,688
Ì
23

3,988
333
Ì

$ 2,021
$16,083
$
23
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Audi of America
BMW of North America, LLC
Ford Motor Co.
Jaguar Cars, Inc.
International Truck
Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC
Porsche Cars of North America, Inc.
Toyota Motor Sales, USA, Inc.
Volkswagen of America, Inc.
Volvo Car Corporation

JOHN C. WHITE // Vice Chairman of the Board and
Chief Strategic Planning Officer
A. RICHARD CAPUTO, JR. // Director
Member and Senior Principal—The Jordan Company, L.P.
CONRAD A. CONRAD // Director
Executive Vice President and CFO—The Dial Corporation
MICHAEL R. EISENSON // Director
Managing Director and CEO—Charlesbank Capital Partners, LLC
KEVIN P. KNIGHT // Director
Chairman of the Board and CEO—Knight Transportation, Inc.
ROGER S. PENSKE // Director
Chairman of the Board and CEO—Penske Corporation

CORPORATE OFFICERS

SECURITIES COUNSEL
Bryan Cave LLP
2 North Central Avenue
Suite 2200
Phoenix, AZ 85004

TRANSFER AGENT
The Bank of New York
Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 11258
Church St. Station
New York, NY 10286
(212) 495-1784

ROBERT D. HARTMAN // Chairman of the Board

INVESTOR RELATIONS

JOHN C. WHITE // Vice Chairman of the Board and
Chief Strategic Planning Officer

Financial Relations Board
8687 Melrose Avenue, 7th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90069
(310) 854-8300

KIMBERLY J. MCWATERS // CEO and President

Harley-Davidson Motor Company
American Honda Motor Co., Inc.
American Suzuki Motor Corp.
Kawasaki Motors Corp., USA
Yamaha Motor Corp., USA
Honda Marine
Mercury Marine
Suzuki Marine
Volvo-Penta of the Americas, Inc.
Yamaha Marine
NASCAR
Snap-on Industrial

JENNIFER L. HASLIP // CFO and Treasurer
CHAD A. FREED // Legal Counsel
JULIAN E. GORMAN // Industry Solutions

COMMON STOCK
Traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol UTI

PIPER P. JAMESON // Marketing
DAVID K. MILLER // Admissions
TROY W. RICE // Business Development
SHIRLEY A. RICHARD // Human Resources
ROGER L. SPEER // Operations

FORM 10-K / CERTIFICATION
UTI’s 2004 Annual Report on Form
10-K is available without charge from:
Financial Relations Board
8687 Melrose Avenue, 7th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90069
UTI has submitted the requisite certification regarding its corporate governance listing standards to the New
York Stock Exchange.

2004 ANNUAL REPORT
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AVONDALE, ARIZONA

ORLANDO, FLORIDA

RANCHO CUCAMONGA, CALIFORNIA

PHOENIX, ARIZONA

MOORESVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA

ORLANDO, FLORIDA
GLENDALE HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS
EXTON, PENNSYLVANIA
HOUSTON, TEXAS
NORWOOD, MASSACHUSETTS (OPENING 2005)

ORLANDO, FLORIDA

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA (OPENING 2006)

20410 N. 19TH AVENUE, SUITE 200
PHOENIX, AZ 85027
WWW.UTICORP.COM
(623) 445-9500

PURPOSE, PEOPLE, PROFIT – A TRADITION OF SUCCESS
Universal Technical Institute, Inc. 2004 Annual Report

